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The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until the registration statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell nor does it seek an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not
permitted.
 
 
PROSPECTUS (Subject to Completion) Dated March 16, 2018
  

                     Shares
 

Class 2 Common Stock

This is our initial public offering. We are offering                  shares of our Class 2 common stock.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our Class 2 common stock. We expect the initial public offering price to be between
$                 and $                 per share. We intend to apply to list our Class 2 common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the
symbol “TLRY.”

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. See the section titled “Prospectus
Summary—Emerging Growth Company Status.”

You should consider the risks we have described in “Risk Factors” beginning on page 13.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these
securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

After the completion of this offering, Privateer Holdings, Inc. will continue to own a majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of our
capital stock. As a result, we will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of the listing rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. See the
sections titled “Management—Controlled Company Exception” and “Principal Stockholders.”
  
 
   Per Share    Total  
Initial public offering price   $                            $                          
Underwriting discount(1)   $    $  
Proceeds, before expenses, to us   $    $  
 
(1) We refer you to the section titled “Underwriting” beginning on page 116 of this prospectus for additional information regarding underwriting

compensation.

We have granted the underwriters an over-allotment option to purchase up to                  additional shares of Class 2 common stock from us at
the public offering price, less the underwriting discount, within 30 days from the date of this prospectus to cover over-allotments.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of Class 2 common stock against payment on or about                     , 2018.
  

Sole Book-runner

Cowen
                             , 2018.
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We are responsible for the information contained in this prospectus and in any free writing prospectus we prepare and authorize.
Neither we nor any of the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide you with different information, and we take no
responsibility for any other information others may give you. Neither we nor the underwriters are making an offer to sell these
securities in any jurisdiction where such offer and sale is not permitted. You should not assume that the information contained in
this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the cover of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.

Persons who come into possession of this prospectus and any applicable free writing prospectus in jurisdictions outside the
United States are required to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions as to this offering and the distribution of this
prospectus and any such free writing prospectus applicable to that jurisdiction.

This prospectus contains references to United States dollars and Canadian dollars. All dollar amounts referenced, unless
otherwise indicated, are expressed in United States dollars. References to “$” are to United States dollars and references to “C$” are
to Canadian dollars.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained in other parts of this prospectus. Because it is only a summary, it does not contain all of
the information that you should consider before investing in our Class 2 common stock and it is qualified in its entirety by, and should be
read in conjunction with, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. You should read the entire prospectus
carefully, especially “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, before deciding to invest in our Class 2
common stock. Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this prospectus to (i) “Tilray,” the “company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer
to Tilray, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries and (ii) references to “Privateer Holdings” refer to Privateer Holdings, Inc. and its wholly
owned subsidiaries, other than Tilray.

Our Vision

We are pioneering the future of medical cannabis research, cultivation, processing and distribution globally, and we intend to become
a leader in the adult-use cannabis market in Canada once legalized.

We aspire to lead, legitimize and define the future of our industry by building the world’s most trusted cannabis company.

Our Company
We produce medical cannabis in Canada and Europe, and we have supplied high-quality cannabis products to tens of thousands of

patients in 10 countries spanning five continents through our subsidiaries in Australia, Canada and Germany and through agreements with
established pharmaceutical distributors.

We have been an early leader in the development of the global medical cannabis market. We were one of the first companies to be
licensed by Health Canada to cultivate and sell medical cannabis and to receive a Licensed Dealer designation under Canada’s Narcotic
Control Regulations, or NCR. We were the first company to legally export medical cannabis from North America to Africa, Australia,
Europe and South America, and we were among the first companies to be licensed to cultivate and process medical cannabis in two
countries, Canada and Portugal. Our products are currently available in Argentina, Australia, Canada, Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech
Republic, Germany, New Zealand and South Africa.

Our company is led by a team of visionary entrepreneurs, experienced operators and cannabis industry experts as well as PhD
scientists, horticulturists and extraction specialists who apply the latest scientific knowledge and technology to deliver quality-controlled,
rigorously tested cannabis products on a large scale.

We believe that our strength as a medical brand is rooted in our commitment to research and development. Our research and
development program focuses on developing innovative products, including novel delivery systems and precisely formulated cannabinoid
products, and on the creation and improvement of methods, processes and technologies that allow us to efficiently manufacture such
products on a large scale. We also supply clinical trials and were the first cannabis company with a

 
1



Table of Contents

North American production facility to be Good Manufacturing Practices, or GMP, certified in accordance with European Medicines Agency,
or EMA, standards. An internationally recognized standard, GMP certification is the primary quality standard that pharmaceutical
manufacturers must meet in their production processes.

We believe our growth to date is a result of our global strategy, our multinational supply chain and distribution network and our
methodical commitment to research, innovation, quality and operational excellence. We believe that recognized and trusted brands
distributed through multinational supply chains will be best-positioned to become global market leaders. Our strategy is to build these
brands by consistently producing high-quality, differentiated products on a large scale.

We expect to have a competitive advantage in the Canadian adult-use market pending the adoption of proposed federal legislation
and corresponding provincial legislation that is anticipated to legalize adult-use cannabis in Canada in 2018.

We were formed as a subsidiary of Privateer Holdings, one of the first institutionally backed private investment firms to focus
exclusively on the cannabis industry. Privateer Holdings’ portfolio of brands also includes Leafly, Marley Natural and Goodship.

Our Industry
While we believe we are witnessing a global paradigm shift transforming the multibillion dollar cannabis industry from a state of

prohibition to a state of legalization, the legal market is still in its early stages. Moreover, we expect the number of countries with legalized
regimes to continue to increase, creating numerous and sizable opportunities for market participants, including us. According to the United
Nations, the global cannabis market, including the illicit market, is estimated to be $150 billion, annually, and approximately 3.8% of the
adult population, or over 180 million people, are estimated to be cannabis users.

Global Medical Market. Although cannabis is still heavily regulated, medical use is now authorized at the national or federal level in
28 countries. The pace of regulatory change globally has been rapid, with more than 24 countries having introduced significant reforms to
their cannabis use laws to broaden the scope of permitted use since 2015.

Adult Use. In 2018, Canada is expected to become the first major industrialized nation to legalize adult-use cannabis at both the
federal and provincial levels. With legalization, we expect most illicit cannabis consumption to transition to the legal market. In the 2016
publication by Deloitte Insights and Opportunities, Recreational Marijuana, the projected size of the Canadian adult-use market ranged
from C$4.9 billion to C$8.7 billion annually.

Our Opportunity
We are approaching our industry from a long-term, global perspective and see opportunities to:

 
•  Build global brands that lead, legitimize and define the future of cannabis.
 

•  Develop innovative products and form factors that change the way the world consumes cannabis.
 

•  Expand the availability of pure, precise and predictable medical cannabis products for patients in need around the world.
 

•  Foster mainstream acceptance of the therapeutic potential of medical cannabis and cannabinoid-based medicines.
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Our Strengths
We believe we are differentiated from our competitors because:

 
•  We are a global pioneer with a multinational supply chain and distribution network.
 

•  We have a scientifically rigorous medical cannabis brand approved by governments to supply patients and researchers on five
continents.

 

•  We have secured the exclusive rights to bring a broad-based portfolio of adult-use brands and products to Canadian consumers when
adult-use legalization occurs.

 

•  We have a track record for pioneering research and innovation within our industry.
 

•  We have developed a rigorous, proprietary production process to ensure consistency and quality as we increase the scale of our
operations globally.

 

•  We have a highly experienced management team.

Our Growth Strategy
We aspire to build the world’s most trusted global cannabis company through the following key strategies:

 
•  Expanding our production capacity in North America and Europe to meet current and expected long-term demand growth.
 

•  Partnering with established distributors and retailers.
 

•  Developing a differentiated portfolio of brands and products to appeal to diverse sets of patients and consumers.
 

•  Expanding the addressable medical market by investing in clinical research and winning the trust of regulators, researchers and
physicians in countries new to medical cannabis.

 

•  Maintaining a rigorous and relentless focus on operational excellence and product quality.
 

•  Pioneering innovation within our industry.

Our Brands and Products
Our brand and product strategy centers on developing a broad-based portfolio of differentiated cannabis brands and products

designed to appeal to diverse sets of patients and consumers.

Our Medical Brand. The Tilray brand is designed to target the global medical market by offering a wide range of high-quality medical
cannabis and cannabinoid-based products. We offer our products to patients, physicians, pharmacies, governments, hospitals and
researchers for commercial purposes, compassionate access and clinical research. We believe patients choose Tilray because we are a
scientifically rigorous brand known for producing pure, precise and predictable medical-grade products.

Our Adult-Use Brands. In anticipation of adult-use legalization in Canada, we have secured the exclusive rights from a wholly owned
subsidiary of Privateer Holdings to produce and distribute a broad-based portfolio of adult-use brands and products in Canada. The brand
licensing agreement includes the rights to recognized brands and proprietary product formulations for a wide range of products. When
proposed Canadian federal legislation and corresponding provincial legislation authorizing the adult use of cannabis comes into effect, we
intend to produce and distribute these brands and products to Canadian consumers through High Park Cannabis Corporation, or High
Park, our wholly owned subsidiary formed to serve the pending adult-use market in Canada.
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Our Operations
We are building a multinational supply chain and distribution network to capitalize on the global medical cannabis market and the

anticipated adult-use market in Canada.

We have offices in Toronto, Berlin and Sydney, licensed cultivation facilities in British Columbia, Canada and Portugal and two new
facilities in development in Ontario, Canada. Once we complete the initial development of additional production facilities and have them
fully licensed to operate at those facilities, we believe that our total production space across all facilities worldwide will total approximately
886,000 square feet by the end of 2018. We believe our current facilities together with the maximum potential development of the parcels
we currently own or lease would be more than 1.9 million square feet by the end of 2019.

Sales and Distribution
Pharmaceutical distribution and pharmacy supply agreements. We work with established pharmaceutical distributors and

pharmacy suppliers to sell our products around the world. In Canada, we have entered into a definitive agreement to supply a major
pharmacy chain and signed an exclusive, binding letter of intent with Sandoz Canada Inc., or Sandoz Canada, a division of Novartis AG,
or Novartis, to market our non-combustible products to health care practitioners and pharmacists and to co-develop new cannabis
products. In Germany, we have partnered with Noweda eG Apothekergenossenschaft, or Noweda, a cooperative comprised of
approximately 9,000 pharmacists with a network of 16,000 pharmacies throughout Germany and one of the largest wholesalers of
pharmaceutical products in Germany. Elsewhere around the world, we have agreements with distributors in Argentina, Australia, Brazil,
Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, New Zealand, Peru and South Africa.

Adult-use supply agreements. In anticipation of adult-use legalization in Canada in 2018, we have negotiated agreements to supply
certain provinces and territories with cannabis products, subject to the adoption of authorizing legislation. To date we have entered into
letters of intent to supply the provinces of Quebec and Manitoba and are in the process of finalizing definitive agreements for these
provinces. We expect to announce additional supply agreements with government-owned corporations, or crown corporations, or private
entities in Alberta, British Columbia and Ontario, as well as provinces in Atlantic Canada.

Direct-to-patient. In Canada, medical cannabis patients registered under the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations,
or ACMPR, order from us primarily through our e-commerce platform or over the phone. In Canada, medical cannabis is and will continue
to be delivered by secured courier or other methods permitted by the ACMPR. The direct-to-patient, or DTP, channel accounts for the
majority of our medical sales.

Direct-to-consumer. We anticipate direct-to-consumer, or DTC, will be a component of our adult-use sales that are not made under
supply agreements with crown corporations and private retailers.

Wholesale. In Canada, we are also authorized under the ACMPR to wholesale bulk dried cannabis flower and bulk formulated and
unformulated oil to others that have been issued a license to produce cannabis and cannabis oil by Health Canada under the ACMPR, or
Licensed Producers. We believe there is the potential to wholesale finished, packaged products to other Licensed Producers, and we
intend to pursue this sales channel as a part of our adult-use and medical-use growth strategies in Canada.
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Risks Associated with our Business
Our business is subject to a number of risks of which you should be aware before making a decision to invest in our Class 2 common

stock. These risks are discussed more fully in the section titled “Risk Factors” and include, among others:
 
•  our business depends on regulatory approvals and licenses, including from Health Canada and various international regulatory

authorities, in order for us to grow, store, sell and export medical cannabis and related products, which approvals and licenses are
subject to ongoing compliance and reporting requirements;

 

•  any adverse changes or developments to our Nanaimo, British Columbia facility that could delay or prevent us from producing medical
cannabis products, which would prevent us from continuing to operate our business until operations at our Nanaimo facility could be
resumed or until our Enniskillen facility or Portugal facility is operational;

 

•  the anticipated legalization of adult-use cannabis in Canada may have a significant negative effect on our medical cannabis business
and there is no guarantee that we will be able to participate or effectively compete in the adult-use cannabis market in Canada;

 

•  the medical cannabis industry is relatively new and this industry and the anticipated adult-use cannabis industry in Canada may not
develop as anticipated or we may not be able to succeed in one or both of these markets;

 

•  we face intense competition from other participants in our industry, including other Licensed Producers and unlicensed producers
operating unlawfully, who may be able to compete more effectively than us as a result of longer operating histories, greater financial
resources or, in the case of unlicensed producers, products with higher concentrations of active ingredients;

 

•  our business depends on a number of key inputs, such as raw materials, electricity, water and other utilities, and any significant
interruption in the availability, price increase or other negative change with respect to these inputs could delay or prevent our ability to
operate our business; and

 

•  we will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of listing rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market because, upon the closing of
this offering, Privateer Holdings will continue to control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock, so purchasers
of our Class 2 common stock in this offering will not have the same protections afforded to stockholder of companies that are not
“controlled companies.”

If we are unable to adequately address these and other risks we face, our business, financial condition, operating results or prospects
may be adversely affected.

Emerging Growth Company Status
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act, enacted in April

2012; therefore, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various public company reporting requirements, including not
being required to have our internal control over financial reporting audited by an independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic
reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation
and any golden parachute payments not previously approved. The JOBS Act also permits us, as an emerging growth company, to take
advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We may
take advantage of these exemptions for up to five years or until we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” whichever occurs earlier.
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Corporate Information
Tilray, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in January 2018. We are, and following this offering and the related transactions, we will be

a holding company whose sole material asset will consist of the outstanding equity interests of Decatur Holdings, BV, a Dutch private
limited liability company, or Decatur, which owns all of the outstanding equity interests of our direct and indirect subsidiaries through which
we operate our business. Prior to January 2018, we operated our business under Decatur, which was formed in March 2016. Our principal
executive offices are located at 1920 Eastlake Avenue E., Seattle, WA 98102 and our telephone number is (844) 845-7291. Our corporate
website address is www.tilray.com. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not a part of this prospectus, and the
inclusion of our website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only.

We have nine wholly owned direct and indirect subsidiaries. The following chart illustrates, as of the date hereof, our corporate
structure including details of the jurisdiction of formation of each subsidiary.

Tilray, our logo and our other registered or common law trademarks, trade names or service marks appearing in this prospectus are
owned by us. Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in this prospectus, including logos, artwork and other visual
displays, may appear without the ® or ™ symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate in any way that we will not assert, to the
fullest extent under applicable law, our rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and trade names. Unless otherwise stated in
this prospectus, we do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply a relationship with, or
endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other companies.
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THE OFFERING

 
Class 2 common stock offered by us                   shares

Class 2 common stock to be outstanding after this offering                   shares

Class 1 common stock to be outstanding after this offering

  

75,000,000 shares (representing approximately         % of our
equity interest and        % of the voting power of our capital
stock)

Over-allotment option to purchase additional shares

  

 
We have granted the underwriters a 30-day over-allotment
option to purchase up to         additional shares of our Class 2
common stock at the public offering price, less the underwriting
discount.

Voting and conversion rights

  

We have two classes of authorized common stock: Class 1
common stock and Class 2 common stock. The rights of the
holders of Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock are
identical except with respect to voting and conversion rights. The
holders of Class 1 common stock are entitled to three votes per
share and the holders of Class 2 common stock are entitled to
one vote per share, on all matters that are subject to stockholder
vote. Each share of Class 1 common stock may be converted
into one share of Class 2 common stock at the option of its
holder and will be automatically converted into one share of
Class 2 common stock upon transfer thereof, subject to certain
exceptions. In addition, upon the date on which the outstanding
shares of Class 1 common stock represent less than 10% of the
aggregate number of Class 1 common stock and Class 2
common stock then outstanding, all outstanding shares of Class
1 common stock shall convert automatically into Class 2
common stock. See the section titled “Description of Capital
Stock” for additional information.

Use of proceeds

  

We estimate that the net proceeds to us from this offering will be
approximately $             million, or approximately $             million
if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full,
based on an assumed initial public offering price of $             per
share, the midpoint
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of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and
estimated offering expenses payable by us. We intend to use the
net proceeds from this offering to build and expand our
cultivation and processing facilities, to expand our sales and
marketing capabilities and for working capital and general
corporate purposes. We may also use a portion of the net
proceeds from this offering for the acquisition of, or investment
in, products, licenses or businesses that complement our
business, although we have no present commitments or
agreements to enter into any such acquisitions or investments.
See the section titled “Use of Proceeds” for additional
information.

Controlled company

  

Upon the closing of this offering, Privateer Holdings will own
75,000,000 shares of Class 1 common stock, or approximately
        %, of the voting power of our capital stock. As a result, we
will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of the listing
rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. See the sections titled
“Management—Controlled Company Exception” and “Principal
Stockholders.”

Proposed Nasdaq Global Select Market symbol   “TLRY”

Risk factors

  

You should carefully read the section titled “Risk Factors” and
other information included in this prospectus for a discussion of
factors that you should consider before deciding to invest in
shares of our Class 2 common stock.

The number of shares of Class 2 common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on                  shares of Class 2 common
stock outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and excludes:
 
•                   shares of Class 2 common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2017; and
 

•                   shares of Class 2 common stock reserved for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
as of December 31, 2017.

Additionally, the number of shares of our Class 2 common stock reserved for issuance under our Amended and Restated 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year for ten years, starting on January 1, 2019 and ending on and
including, 2028, in an amount equal to         % of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding on December 31 of the prior
calendar year, or a lesser number of shares determined by our board of directors. The maximum number of shares of our common stock
that may be issued upon the exercise of incentive stock options granted under our Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan is
equal to             .
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Further, unless we specifically state otherwise, all information in this prospectus assumes:
 
•  the filing and effectiveness of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and the adoption of our amended and restated

bylaws in connection with the closing of this offering;
 

•  the conversion of all outstanding shares of our Series A preferred stock into an aggregate of 7,794,042 shares of our Class 2 common
stock immediately prior to the closing of this offering; and

 

•  no exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option to purchase up to              additional shares of Class 2 common stock
from us.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables summarize our consolidated financial data. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of entities
wholly owned by Tilray, Inc. The consolidated statements of net loss data for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017 and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2017 are derived from our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in any future period.

You should read this data together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus
and the sections titled “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016  2017

   
(dollars in thousands,
except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Net Loss Data:    
Revenue   $12,644  $20,538 
Cost of sales    9,974   9,161 

         

Gross margin    2,670   11,377 
         

Research and development expenses    1,136   3,171 
Sales and marketing expenses    3,599   7,164 
General and administrative expenses    4,984   8,540 

         

Operating loss    (7,049)   (7,498) 
         

Foreign exchange gain    (186)   (1,363) 
Interest expense    1,019   1,686 
Other (income) expense, net    1   (12) 

         

Net loss   $ (7,883)  $ (7,809) 
         

Pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted(1)    
Basic   $ –  $ (0.09) 

         

Diluted   $ –  $ (0.09) 
          

(1) Our unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share were calculated to give effect to the automatic conversion of all
outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock into Class 2 common stock in connection with a qualifying initial public offering. The
liquidation and dividend rights are identical among Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock, and all classes of common
stock share equally in our earnings and losses. Accordingly, net loss has been reallocated to Class 1 common stock and Class 2
common stock on a proportional basis. For calculating basic and diluted net loss per share, the number of shares was 82,794,042.
Since we were in a loss position for all periods presented, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as
diluted net loss per share for all periods as the inclusion of all potential shares of common stock outstanding would have been anti-
dilutive.
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   As of December 31, 2017

   Actual  Pro Forma(1)   
Pro Forma

As Adjusted(2)(3)
   (dollars in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:      

Cash   $ 2,323  $                   
Inventory    7,421    
Total assets    53,948    
Long-term debt    9,432    
Total liabilities    58,800    
Stockholder’s equity (deficit)    (4,852)    

 
(1) The pro forma column reflects (a) the conversion of all outstanding shares of preferred stock into shares of our Class 2 common stock

immediately prior to the closing of this offering and (b) the filing and effectiveness of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation upon the closing of this offering.

(2) The pro forma as adjusted column reflects the sale of shares of our Class 2 common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public
offering price of $         per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting the
estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

(3) Each $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $         per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth
on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) each of cash, total assets and total stockholder’s equity (deficit) on a
pro forma as adjusted basis by $         million, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus remains the same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
Similarly, each increase (decrease) by 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us would increase (decrease) each of
cash, total assets and total stockholders’ equity (deficit) on a pro forma as adjusted basis by $         million, assuming that the
assumed initial public offering price remains the same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount. The pro forma as adjusted
information discussed above is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the actual initial public offering price and other terms of
this offering determined at pricing.

 
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016  2017
   (dollars in thousands)
Adjusted EBITDA:    

Adjusted EBITDA(1)   $(5,002)  $(5,506) 
 
(1) To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we use Adjusted

EBITDA, as described below, to understand and evaluate our operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA, which may be different than
similarly titled measures used by other companies, is presented to help investors’ overall understanding of our financial performance
and should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with
GAAP. We use the non-GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA, which is defined as net loss, excluding interest expense; other
(income) expense, net; foreign exchange gain; depreciation and amortization; and stock-based compensation expense.

 
11



Table of Contents

Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with
GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of Adjusted EBITDA as compared to the closest comparable GAAP measure.
Some of these limitations are that:
 
•  Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain recurring, non-cash charges such as depreciation and amortization and, although these are non-

cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future;
 
•  Adjusted EBITDA excludes foreign exchange gains or losses, which includes the effect of both realized and unrealized foreign

exchange transactions. Unrealized gains or losses represent foreign exchange revaluation of foreign denominated monetary assets
and liabilities;

 
•  Adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense, which has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a

significant recurring expense in our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; and
 
•  Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expense, which has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant

recurring expense in our business and reduce cash available to us.
 

   
Year Ended

December 31
   2016  2017
   (dollars in thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation:   
Net loss   $(7,883)  $(7,809) 
Interest expense    1,019   1,686 
Other (income) expense, net    1   (12) 
Foreign exchange gain    (186)   (1,363) 
Depreciation and amortization    1,953   1,853 
Stock-based compensation expense    94   139 

         

Adjusted EBITDA   $(5,002)  $(5,506) 
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class 2 common stock is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. In addition to all other information set out in this
prospectus, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, the following specific
factors could materially adversely affect us and should be considered when deciding whether to make an investment in our Class 2 common
stock. Other risks and uncertainties that we do not presently consider to be material, or of which we are not presently aware, may become
important factors that affect our future financial condition and results of operations. If any of the risks discussed below actually occur, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially adversely affected, the value of our Class 2 common stock
could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to our Medical Cannabis Business and the Medical Cannabis Industry

We are dependent upon regulatory approvals and licenses for our ability to grow, process, package, store, sell and export medical
cannabis and other products derived therefrom, and these regulatory approvals are subject to ongoing compliance requirements,
reporting obligations and fixed terms requiring renewal.

Our ability to grow, process, package, store and sell dried cannabis and cannabis extracts, including both bottled oil and capsules, for
medical purposes in Canada is dependent on our current Health Canada license under the ACMPR covering our production facility at our Tilray
North America Campus in Nanaimo, British Columbia, or Tilray Nanaimo. This license allows us to produce dried cannabis and certain
cannabis extracts for medical purposes at Tilray Nanaimo and to sell and distribute, for medical purposes, dried cannabis, bottled cannabis oil
and encapsulated cannabis oil in Canada.

We are also dependent on our license under the NCR for our ability to import and export medical cannabis products to and from specified
jurisdictions around the world, subject to obtaining, for each specific shipment, an export approval from Health Canada and an import approval
from the applicable regulatory authority in the country to which the export is being made. Our ability to operate in our proposed facility at our
Tilray European Union Campus located in Cantanhede, Portugal, or Tilray Portugal, is dependent on our current authorization for the
cultivation, import and export of cannabis by the Portuguese National Authority of Medicines and Health Products (Infarmed). These licenses
are subject to ongoing compliance and reporting requirements and renewal.

Our ACMPR license for Tilray Nanaimo is valid until September 2019 and will need to be renewed at that time, and our license under the
NCR is valid until December 2018 and will need to be renewed at that time. In August 2017, we submitted an ACMPR licence application for
our proposed facility in Enniskillen, Ontario, or High Park Farms. In February 2018, we submitted an ACMPR license application for our
proposed facility in London, Ontario, or the High Park Processing Facility. Those applications have not yet been approved. Any future medical
cannabis production facilities that we operate in Canada will also be subject to separate licensing requirements under the ACMPR and, if
necessary for the activities we propose to conduct at those facilities, the NCR. Although we believe that we will meet the requirements of the
ACMPR and NCR for future renewals of our existing licenses, and grants of permits under such licenses, and to obtain corresponding licences
for future facilities in Canada, there can be no assurance that existing licenses will be renewed or new licences obtained on the same or similar
terms as our existing Tilray Nanaimo licenses, nor can there be any assurance that Health Canada will continue to issue export permits on the
same terms, or that other countries will allow, or continue to allow, imports.
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Further, we are subject to ongoing inspections by Health Canada to monitor our compliance with its licensing requirements. Our existing
licenses and any new licenses that we may obtain in the future in Canada or other jurisdictions may be revoked or restricted at any time in the
event that we are found not to be in compliance. Should we fail to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements or with conditions set out
under our licenses, should our licenses not be renewed when required, or be renewed on different terms, or should our licenses be revoked,
we may not be able to continue producing or distributing medical cannabis in Canada or other jurisdictions or export medical cannabis outside
of Canada or Portugal.

In addition, we may be subject to enforcement proceedings resulting from a failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements in
Canada or other jurisdictions, which could result in damage awards, a suspension of our existing approvals, a withdrawal of our existing
approvals, the denial of the renewal of our existing approvals or any future approvals, recalls of products, product seizures, the imposition of
future operating restrictions on our business or operations or the imposition of civil or criminal fines or penalties against us, our officers and
directors and other parties. These enforcement actions could delay or entirely prevent us from continuing the production, testing, marketing,
sale or distribution of our medical products and divert management’s attention and resources away from our business operations.

The laws, regulations and guidelines generally applicable to the medical cannabis industry in Canada and other countries may
change in ways that impact our ability to continue our business as currently conducted or proposed to be conducted.

The successful execution of our medical cannabis business objectives is contingent upon compliance with all applicable laws and
regulatory requirements in Canada and other jurisdictions, including the requirements of the ACMPR and the NCR in Canada, and obtaining all
other required regulatory approvals for the sale, import and export of our medical cannabis products. The commercial medical cannabis
industry is a relatively new industry in Canada and the ACMPR is a regime that has only been in effect in its current form since 2016. The effect
of Health Canada’s administration, application and enforcement of the regime established by the ACMPR and the NCR on us and our business
in Canada, or the administration, application and enforcement of the laws of other countries by the appropriate regulators in those countries,
may significantly delay or impact our ability to participate in the Canadian medical cannabis market or medical cannabis markets outside
Canada, to develop medical cannabis products and produce and sell these medical cannabis products.

Further, Health Canada or the regulatory authorities in other countries in which we operate or to which we export our medical cannabis
products may change their administration, interpretation or application of the applicable regulations or their compliance or enforcement
procedures at any time. Any such changes could require us to revise our ongoing compliance procedures, requiring us to incur increased
compliance costs and expend additional resources. There is no assurance that we will be able to comply or continue to comply with applicable
regulations.

Any failure on our part to comply with applicable regulations could prevent us from being able to carry on our business.
Health Canada inspectors routinely assess Tilray Nanaimo for compliance with applicable regulatory requirements. Our High Park Farms

and the High Park Processing Facility will both also be inspected by Health Canada and Tilray Portugal will also be inspected for compliance by
applicable regulators once construction is complete and will be subject to certain ongoing inspections and audits once we begin operations at
this facility. Furthermore, the import of our products into other jurisdictions, such as Germany and Australia, is subject to the regulatory
requirements of the respective jurisdiction. Any failure by us to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements could
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require extensive changes to our operations; result in regulatory or agency proceedings or investigations, increased compliance costs, damage
awards, civil or criminal fines or penalties or restrictions on our operations; harm our reputation; or give rise to material liabilities or a revocation
of our licenses and other permits. There can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations or
audits will not result in substantial costs, a diversion of management’s attention and resources or other adverse consequences to us and our
business.

Our ability to produce and sell our medical products in, and export our medical products to, other jurisdictions outside of Canada is
dependent on compliance with additional regulatory and other requirements.

We are required to obtain and maintain certain permits, licenses or other approvals from regulatory agencies in countries and markets
outside of Canada in which we operate, or to which we export, in order to produce or export to, and sell our medical products in, these
countries, including, in the case of certain countries, the ability to demonstrate compliance with GMP standards. Our current certification of
compliance with GMP standards for production at Tilray Nanaimo and any other GMP certification that we may receive in the future, subject us
to extensive ongoing compliance reviews to ensure that we continue to maintain compliance with GMP standards. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to continue to comply with these standards.

The continuation or expansion of our international operations depends on our ability to renew or secure the necessary permits, licenses or
other approvals. An agency’s denial of or delay in issuing or renewing a permit, license or other approval, or revocation or substantially
modification of an existing permit or approval, could prevent us from continuing our operations in or exports to countries other than Canada. For
example, our failure to maintain Tilray Nanaimo’s current certification of GMP compliance or to comply with applicable industry quality
assurance standards or receive similar regulatory certifications at any of our other facilities, may prevent us from continuing the expansion of
our international operations. In addition, the export and import of medical cannabis is subject to United Nations treaties establishing country-by-
country quotas and our export and import permits are subject to these quotas which could limit the amount of medical cannabis we can export
to any particular country.

The effect of the legalization of adult-use cannabis in Canada on the medical cannabis industry is unknown, and may have a
significant negative effect upon our medical cannabis business if our existing or future medical use customers decide to purchase
products available in the proposed adult-use market instead of purchasing medical use products from us.

Bill C-45, or the Cannabis Act, is proposed Canadian federal legislation to allow individuals over the age of 18 to legally purchase, process
and cultivate limited amounts of cannabis for adult use in Canada. As a result, individuals who currently rely upon the medical cannabis market
to supply their medical cannabis and cannabis-based products may cease this reliance, and instead turn to the adult-use cannabis market to
supply their cannabis and cannabis-based products. Factors that will influence this decision include the price of medical cannabis products in
relation to similar adult-use cannabis products, the amount of active ingredients in medical cannabis products in relation to similar adult-use
cannabis products, the types of cannabis products available to adult users and limitations on access to adult-use cannabis products imposed
by the regulations under the Cannabis Act and the legislation governing distribution of cannabis that is expected to be enacted by the individual
provinces and territories of Canada. These factors will not be ascertainable by us until after the regulations under the Cannabis Act and the
individual provincial and territorial legislation providing for the legalization of adult-use cannabis are implemented.
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A decrease in the overall size of the medical cannabis market as a result of the adoption of the Cannabis Act and the legal adult-use
market in Canada may reduce our medical sales and revenue prospects in Canada. Moreover, in conjunction with the implementation of the
Cannabis Act, the ACMPR regulation of cannabis for medical purposes is expected to be reviewed. The effect on our business, and the
medical cannabis market in general, of such a review is uncertain.

There has been limited study on the effects of medical cannabis and future clinical research studies may lead to conclusions that
dispute or conflict with our understanding and belief regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social
acceptance of cannabis.

Research in Canada, the United States and internationally regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy and dosing of cannabis
or isolated cannabinoids (such as cannabidiol, or CBD, and tetrahydrocannabinol, or THC) remains in relatively early stages. There have been
few clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids conducted by us or by others.

Future research and clinical trials may draw opposing conclusions to statements contained in the articles, reports and studies referenced in
this prospectus, or could reach different or negative conclusions regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing or other facts
and perceptions related to medical cannabis, which could adversely affect social acceptance of cannabis and the demand for our products.

Tilray Nanaimo is, and our High Park Farms, High Park Processing Facility and Tilray Portugal are expected to become, integral to
our business and adverse changes or developments affecting any of these facilities may have an adverse impact on us.

Currently, our activities and resources are focused on the operation of Tilray Nanaimo, and our current licenses under the ACMPR and the
NCR are specific to Tilray Nanaimo. Adverse changes or developments affecting Tilray Nanaimo, including, but not limited to, disease or
infestation of our crops, a fire, an explosion, a power failure, a natural disaster or a material failure of our security infrastructure, could reduce or
require us to entirely suspend our production of medical cannabis. A significant failure of our site security measures and other facility
requirements, including any failure to comply with regulatory requirements under the ACMPR or the NCR, could have an impact on our ability
to continue operating under our Health Canada licenses or our prospects of renewing our Health Canada licenses, and could also result in a
suspension or revocation of the Health Canada licenses. As we currently produce our medical cannabis products only at Tilray Nanaimo any
event impacting our ability to continue production at Tilray Nanaimo, or requiring us to delay production, would prevent us from continuing to
operate our business until operations at Tilray Nanaimo could be resumed, or until we were able to commence production at another facility.

We expect to expand Tilray Nanaimo, to construct greenhouses in our High Park Farms and Tilray Portugal and to build a processing
center at our High Park Processing Facility. We expect that these expanded and additional facilities will significantly increase our cultivation,
growing, processing and distribution capacity; however, development impediments such as construction delays or cost over-runs in respect to
the development of these facilities, howsoever caused, could delay or prevent our ability to produce cannabis at these facilities. It is also
possible that the final costs of the major equipment contemplated by our capital expenditure program relating to the development of our High
Park Farms, our High Park Processing Facility and Tilray Portugal may be significantly greater than anticipated, in which circumstance we may
be required to curtail, or extend the timeframes for completing, such capital expenditure plans which would reduce our production capacity.
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The medical cannabis industry and market are relatively new in Canada, and this industry and market may not continue to exist or
develop as anticipated or we may ultimately be unable to succeed in this industry and market.

We are operating our current business in a relatively new medical cannabis industry and market, and our success depends on our ability to
attract and retain patients. In addition to being subject to general business risks applicable to a business involving an agricultural product and a
regulated consumer product, we need to continue to build brand awareness of our Tilray brand in the medical cannabis industry and make
significant investments in our business strategy and production capacity. These investments include introducing new products into the markets
in which we operate, adopting quality assurance protocols and procedures, building our international presence and undertaking regulatory
compliance efforts. These activities may not promote our medical products as effectively as intended, or at all, and we expect that our
competitors will undertake similar investments to compete with us for market share. Competitive conditions, consumer preferences, patient
requirements and spending patterns in this industry and market are relatively unknown and may have unique circumstances that differ from
other existing industries and markets and that cause our efforts to further our business to be unsuccessful or to have undesired consequences
for us. As a result, we may not be successful in our efforts to attract and retain patients or to develop new medical cannabis products and bring
these medical cannabis products to the markets in which we operate or to which we export in time to be effectively commercialized, or these
activities may require significantly more resources than we currently anticipate in order to be successful.

We compete for market share with other companies, including other producers licensed by Health Canada, some of which have
longer operating histories and more financial resources, manufacturing and marketing experience than we have.

We face, and we expect to continue to face, intense competition from other Licensed Producers and other potential competitors, some of
which have longer operating histories and more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than we have. In addition, it
is possible that the medical cannabis industry will undergo consolidation, creating larger companies with financial resources, manufacturing,
marketing capabilities and product offerings that are greater than ours. As a result of this competition, we may be unable to maintain our
operations or develop them as currently proposed, on terms we consider acceptable, or at all.

There are currently more than 1,000 pending applicants for Licensed Producer status. The number of licences granted and the number of
Licensed Producers ultimately authorized by Health Canada could have an adverse impact on our ability to compete for market share in
Canada’s medical cannabis industry. We expect to face additional competition from new market entrants that are granted licences under the
ACMPR or existing licence holders that are not yet active in the industry. If a significant number of new licences are granted by Health Canada,
we may experience increased competition for market share and may experience downward price pressure on our medical cannabis products
as new entrants increase production.

We also face competition from unlicensed and unregulated market participants, including individuals or groups that are able to produce
cannabis without a similar license to that under which we currently produce and illegal dispensaries and black market participants selling
cannabis and cannabis-based products in Canada. These competitors may be able to offer products with higher concentrations of active
ingredients than we are authorized to produce and sell and using delivery methods, including edibles and extract vaporizers, that we are
currently prohibited from offering to individuals in Canada. The competition presented by these participants, and any unwillingness by
consumers currently utilizing these unlicensed distribution channels to begin purchasing from Licensed Producers for any
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reason, or any inability of law enforcement authorities to enforce existing laws prohibiting the unlicensed cultivation and sale of cannabis and
cannabis-based products, could adversely affect our market share, result in increased competition through the black market for cannabis or
have an adverse impact on the public perception of cannabis use and licensed cannabis producers and dealers.

In addition, the ACMPR permits patients in Canada to produce a limited amount of cannabis for their own medical purposes or to designate
a person to produce a limited amount of cannabis on their behalf for such purposes. Widespread reliance upon this allowance could reduce the
current or future consumer demand for our medical cannabis products.

If the number of users of cannabis for medical purposes in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase. This could result in
the competition in the medical cannabis industry becoming more intense as current and future competitors begin to offer an increasing number
of diversified medical cannabis products. Conversely, if there is a contraction in the medical market for cannabis in Canada, resulting from the
legalization of adult-use cannabis or otherwise, competition for market share may increase. To remain competitive, we intend to continue to
invest in research and development, sales and patient support; however, we may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and
development, sales and patient support efforts on a competitive basis.

In addition to the foregoing, the legal landscape for medical cannabis use is changing internationally. We have operations outside of
Canada, which may be affected as other countries develop, adopt and change their medical cannabis laws. Increased international
competition, including competition from suppliers in other countries who may be able to produce at lower cost, and limitations placed on us by
Canadian or other regulations might lower the demand for our medical cannabis products on a global scale.

Risks Related to our Potential Adult-Use Cannabis Business and the Proposed Adult-Use Cannabis Industry in Canada

The Cannabis Act may not be implemented, or may be implemented in a way that is significantly different from our current
expectations, resulting in our decreased ability, or inability, to compete in this market and industry.

The Government of Canada has introduced the Cannabis Act which, subject to Parliamentary approval and Royal Assent, is expected to
allow for regulated and restricted access to cannabis for recreational adult use in Canada in 2018. If legalized, we may expect to operate a part
of our business in the adult-use cannabis industry and market.

There is no assurance that the legalization of cannabis for adult use by the Government of Canada will occur as anticipated or at all. If it
does occur, there may be significant restrictions on the marketing, branding, product formats and/or distribution channels allowed under the
law, which may reduce the value of certain of our products and brands or negatively impact our ability to compete with other companies in the
adult-use cannabis market. Further, each province and territory of Canada is expected to have the ability to separately regulate the distribution
of cannabis within such province or territory, and any rules adopted by these provinces or territories may vary significantly. Such variance may
make participation in the adult-use cannabis market uneconomic or of limited economic benefit for us and could result in significant additional
compliance or other costs and limitations on our ability to compete successfully in each such market.

The proposed adult-use cannabis industry and market in Canada, if legalized, will be subject to many of the same risks as the
medical cannabis industry and market, including risks related to
 

18



Table of Contents

our need for regulatory approvals, the early status and uncertain growth of this industry and the competition we expect to face in this
industry, if legalized.

If legalized, the proposed adult-use cannabis industry and market in Canada will be subject to certain risks that will be unique to this
industry, as well as the risks that are currently applicable to the medical cannabis industry, which are described under the heading above titled
“Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Medical Cannabis Business and the Medical Cannabis Industry.”

If any of these shared risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected in a
number of ways, including by not being able to successfully compete in the adult-use cannabis industry, if legalized, and by being subject to
fines, damage awards and other penalties as a result of regulatory infractions or other claims brought against us.

We may be unsuccessful in entering into and competing in the legal adult-use cannabis market in Canada upon legalization.
Upon the implementation of the Cannabis Act, any potential Canadian adult-use business that we may engage in could face enhanced

competition from other Licensed Producers and those individuals and corporations who are licensed under the Cannabis Act to participate in
the adult-use cannabis industry. The Cannabis Act proposes to establish a licensing regime for the production, testing, packaging, labelling,
delivery, transportation, sale, possession and disposal of cannabis for adult use. While it is currently proposed that existing holders of licences
relating to medical cannabis under the ACMPR, including us, will be automatically licensed under the Cannabis Act for these activities, it is
currently proposed that other individuals and corporations will be able to apply for such licenses if the Cannabis Act becomes law.

Moreover, the Cannabis Act proposes to allow individuals to cultivate, propagate, harvest and distribute up to four cannabis plants per
household, provided that each plant meets certain requirements. If we are unable to effectively compete with other suppliers to the adult-use
cannabis market, or a significant number of individuals take advantage of the ability to cultivate and use their own cannabis, our success in the
adult-use business may be limited and may not fulfill the expectations of management.

We will face competition from existing Licensed Producers and other producers licensed under the Cannabis Act. Certain of these
competitors may have significantly greater financial, production, marketing, research and development, technical and human resources than
we do. As a result, our competitors may be more successful than us in gaining market penetration and market share. Our commercial
opportunity in the adult-use market could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors produce and commercialize products for the adult-use
market that, among other things, are safer, more effective, more convenient or less expensive than the products that we may produce, have
greater sales, marketing and distribution support than our products, enjoy enhanced timing of market introduction and perceived effectiveness
advantages over our products and receive more favorable publicity than our products. If, after the legalization of cannabis for adult use, our
adult-use products do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by the adult-use market, we may not generate sufficient revenue from
these products, and our proposed adult-use business may not become profitable.

The adult-use cannabis market in Canada may become oversupplied in anticipation of, or following the adoption of, the Cannabis Act
and the proposed legalization of cannabis for adult use.

In anticipation of a surge in demand for cannabis as a result of the expected implementation of the Cannabis Act and the legalization of
adult cannabis use, we and other cannabis producers in Canada may produce more cannabis than is needed to satisfy the collective demand
of the Canadian medical
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and proposed adult-use markets, and we may be unable to export that oversupply into other markets where cannabis use is fully legal under all
Canadian federal and state or provincial laws. As a result, the available supply of cannabis could exceed demand, resulting in a significant
decline in the market price for cannabis. If this were to occur, there is no assurance that we would be able to generate sufficient revenue from
the sale of adult-use cannabis to result in profitability.

Moreover, the current draft of the Cannabis Act would impose further packaging, labelling and advertising restrictions on producers in the
adult-use market, if legalized. If we are unable to effectively market our products and compete for market share, or if the costs of compliance
with government legislation and regulation cannot be absorbed through increased selling prices for our products, then our sales and operating
results could be adversely affected. See the section titled “Business—Our Industry—Adult Use.”

General Business Risks and Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Operations

We have a limited operating history and a history of net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We began operating in 2014 through our wholly owned subsidiaries and have yet to generate a profit. We generated a net loss of

$7.8 million and $7.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Our accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2017
was $40.5 million. We intend to continue to expend significant funds to increase our growing capacity, invest in research and development and
expand our marketing and sales operations to increase our registered patients and to meet the increased compliance requirements associated
with our transition to and operation as a public company. As we continue to grow, we expect the aggregate amount of these expenses will also
continue to grow.

Our efforts to grow our business may be more costly than we expect and we may not be able to increase our revenue enough to offset
higher operating expenses. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including as a result of unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, complications and delays, the other risks described in this prospectus and other unknown events. The amount of future net losses
will depend, in part, on the growth of our future expenses and our ability to generate revenue. If we continue to incur losses in the future, the
net losses and negative cash flows incurred to date, together with any such future losses, will have an adverse effect on our stockholders’
equity and working capital. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with producing cannabis products, as outlined herein,
we are unable to accurately predict when, or if, we will be able to achieve profitability. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not
be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. If we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the market price of our Class 2
common stock may significantly decrease and our ability to raise capital, expand our business or continue our operations may be impaired. A
decline in our value may also cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

We are exposed to risks relating to the laws of various countries as a result of our international operations.
We currently conduct operations in multiple countries and in the future plan to expand these operations. As a result of our operations, we

are exposed to various levels of political, economic, legal and other risks and uncertainties associated with operating in or exporting to these
jurisdictions. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, changes in the laws, regulations and policies governing the
production, sale and use of cannabis and cannabis-based products, political instability, currency controls, fluctuations in currency exchange
rates and rates of inflation, labor unrest, changes in taxation laws, regulations and policies, restrictions on foreign exchange and repatriation
and
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changing political conditions and governmental regulations relating to foreign investment and the cannabis business more generally.

Changes, if any, in the laws, regulations and policies relating to the advertising, production, sale and use of cannabis and cannabis based
products or in the general economic policies in these jurisdictions, or shifts in political attitude related thereto, may adversely affect the
operations or profitability of our international operations in these countries. Specifically, our operations may be affected in varying degrees by
government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on advertising, production, price controls, export controls, controls on
currency remittance, increased income taxes, restrictions on foreign investment, land and water use restrictions and government policies
rewarding contracts to local competitors or requiring domestic producers or vendors to purchase supplies from a particular jurisdiction. Failure
to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices could result in additional taxes, costs, civil or criminal fines or penalties or
other expenses being levied on our international operations, as well as other potential adverse consequences such as the loss of necessary
permits or governmental approvals.

Furthermore, although we plan to begin production at Tilray Portugal with a view toward facilitating exports of our cannabis products to
countries in the European Union from Portugal rather than from Canada, there is no assurance that these EU countries will authorize the import
of our cannabis products from Portugal, or that Portugal will authorize or continue to authorize such exports, or that such exports will provide us
with advantages over our current EU export strategy. Each country in the European Union (or elsewhere) may impose restrictions or limitations
on imports that require the use of, or confer significant advantages upon, producers within that particular country. As a result, we may be
required to establish production facilities similar to Tilray Portugal in one or more countries in the European Union where we wish to distribute
our cannabis products in order to take advantage of the favorable legislation offered to producers in these countries.

We plan to expand our business and operations into jurisdictions outside of the current jurisdictions where we conduct business,
and there are risks associated with doing so.

We plan in the future to expand our operations and business into jurisdictions outside of the current jurisdictions where we currently carry
on business. There can be no assurance that any market for our products will develop in any such foreign jurisdiction. We may face new or
unexpected risks or significantly increase our exposure to one or more existing risk factors, including economic instability, changes in laws and
regulations, including the possibility that we could be in violation of these laws and regulations as a result of such changes, and the effects of
competition. These factors may limit our capability to successfully expand our operations in, or export our products to, those other jurisdictions.

Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. and foreign laws, many of which are unsettled and still developing and which could
subject us to claims or otherwise harm our business.

We are subject to a variety of laws in the United States, Canada and elsewhere. In the United States, despite cannabis having been
legalized at the state level for medical use in many states and for adult use in a number of states, cannabis continues to be categorized as a
Schedule I controlled substance under the federal Controlled Substances Act, or the CSA, and subject to the Controlled Substances Import and
Export Act, or the CSIEA. Although we believe that we are not subject to the CSA or CSIEA because we do not produce or distribute cannabis
products in the United States, violations of any U.S. federal laws and regulations, such as the CSA and the CSIEA, could result in significant
fines, penalties, administrative sanctions, convictions or settlements arising from civil proceedings initiated by either the U.S. federal
government or private citizens or criminal charges, including, but not limited to, disgorgement of profits, cessation of business activities or
divestiture.
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We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States, Canada and elsewhere that prohibit money laundering, including
the Proceeds of Crime and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada) and the Money Laundering Control Act (United States), as amended, and the rules
and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines issued, administered or enforced by governmental
authorities in the United States, Canada or any other jurisdiction in which we have business operations or to which we export. Although we
believe that none of our activities implicate any applicable money laundering statutes, in the event that any of our business activities, any
dividends or distributions therefrom, or any profits or revenue accruing thereby are found to be in violation of money laundering statutes, such
transactions may be viewed as proceeds of crime under one or more of the statutes described above or any other applicable legislation, and
any persons, including such U.S.-based investors, found to be aiding and abetting us in such violations could be subject to liability. Any
violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our operations, involve significant management distraction and involve
significant costs and expenses, including legal fees. We could also suffer severe penalties, including criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement
and other remedial measures.

We are required to comply concurrently with federal, state or provincial, and local laws in each jurisdiction where we operate or to
which we export our products.

Various federal, state or provincial and local laws govern our business in the jurisdictions in which we operate or propose to operate, or to
which we export or propose to export our products, including laws and regulations relating to health and safety, conduct of operations and the
production, management, transportation, storage and disposal of our products and of certain material used in our operations. Compliance with
these laws and regulations requires concurrent compliance with complex federal, provincial or state and local laws. These laws change
frequently and may be difficult to interpret and apply. Compliance with these laws and regulations requires the investment of significant financial
and managerial resources, and a determination that we are not in compliance with these laws and regulations could harm our brand image and
business. Moreover, it is impossible for us to predict the cost or effect of such laws, regulations or guidelines upon our future operations.
Changes to these laws or regulations could negatively affect our competitive position within our industry and the markets in which we operate,
and there is no assurance that various levels of government in the jurisdictions in which we operate will not pass legislation or regulation that
adversely impacts our business.

We may seek to enter into strategic alliances, or expand the scope of currently existing relationships, with third parties that we
believe will have a beneficial impact on us, and there are risks that such strategic alliances or expansions of our currently existing
relationships may not enhance our business in the desired manner.

We currently have, and may expand the scope of, and may in the future enter into, strategic alliances with third parties that we believe will
complement or augment our existing business. Our ability to complete further such strategic alliances is dependent upon, and may be limited
by, among other things, the availability of suitable candidates and capital. In addition, strategic alliances could present unforeseen integration
obstacles or costs, may not enhance our business and may involve risks that could adversely affect us, including the investment of significant
amounts of management time that may be diverted from operations in order to pursue and complete such transactions or maintain such
strategic alliances. Future strategic alliances could result in the incurrence of debt, costs and contingent liabilities, and there can be no
assurance that future strategic alliances will achieve, or that our existing strategic alliances will continue to achieve, the expected benefits to
our business or that we will be able to consummate future strategic alliances on satisfactory terms, or at all.
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We may not be able to successfully identify and execute future acquisitions or dispositions or to successfully manage the impacts of
such transactions on our operations.

Material acquisitions, dispositions and other strategic transactions involve a number of risks, including: (i) the potential disruption of our
ongoing business; (ii) the distraction of management away from the ongoing oversight of our existing business activities; (iii) incurring additional
indebtedness; (iv) the anticipated benefits and cost savings of those transactions not being realized fully, or at all, or taking longer to realize
than anticipated; (v) an increase in the scope and complexity of our operations; and (vi) the loss or reduction of control over certain of our
assets.

The existence of one or more material liabilities of an acquired company that are unknown to us at the time of acquisition could result in our
incurring those liabilities. A strategic transaction may result in a significant change in the nature of our business, operations and strategy, and
we may encounter unforeseen obstacles or costs in implementing a strategic transaction or integrating any acquired business into our
operations.

We are subject to risks inherent in an agricultural business, including the risk of crop failure, and these risks are especially
significant as we currently operate only one production facility, meaning that we will be unable to continue any production if our
operations at Tilray Nanaimo are interrupted.

We grow cannabis which is an agricultural process. As such, our business is subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business,
including risks of crop failure presented by weather, insects, plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. Although we currently grow our
products indoors under climate controlled conditions, there can be no assurance that natural elements, such as insects and plant diseases, will
not entirely interrupt our production activities or have an adverse effect on our business. As we currently operate only one production facility,
the occurrence of such events at Tilray Nanaimo could preclude us from continuing any production of cannabis unless and until we are able to
remedy such event at Tilray Nanaimo or commence production at another facility.

We may be unable to attract or retain key personnel with sufficient experience in the cannabis industry, and we may be unable to
attract, develop and retain additional employees required for our development and future success.

Our success is largely dependent on the performance of our management team and certain employees and our continuing ability to attract,
develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant
costs to attract and retain them. The loss of the services of any key personnel, or an inability to attract other suitably qualified persons when
needed, could prevent us from executing on our business plan and strategy, and we may be unable to find adequate replacements on a timely
basis, or at all. We do not currently maintain key-person insurance on the lives of any of our key personnel.

Further, each director and officer of a company that holds a license is subject to the requirement to obtain and maintain a security
clearance from Health Canada. Moreover, under current regulations, an individual with security clearance must be physically present in any
space where other individuals are conducting activities with cannabis. Under the ACMPR, a security clearance cannot be valid for more than
five years and must be renewed before the expiry of a current security clearance. There is no assurance that any of our existing personnel who
presently or may in the future require a security clearance will be able to obtain or renew such clearances or that new personnel who require a
security clearance will be able to obtain one. A failure by an individual in a key operational position to maintain or renew his or her security
clearance could result in a reduction or complete suspension of our operations. In addition, if an individual in a key operational position leaves
us, and we are unable to find a suitable replacement who is able to obtain a security clearance required by the ACMPR in a
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timely manner, or at all, we may not be able to conduct our operations at planned production volume levels or at all. In addition, the NCR
requires us to designate a qualified individual in charge who is responsible for supervising transactions with cannabis, which individual must
meet certain educational and security clearance requirements. If our current designated qualified person in charge fails to maintain his security
clearance, or if our current designated qualified person in charge leaves us and we are unable to find a suitable replacement who meets these
requirements, we may no longer be able to conduct our imports and exports.

Significant interruptions in our access to certain key inputs such as raw materials, electricity, water and other utilities may impair our
cannabis growing operations.

Our business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs, including raw materials, supplies and equipment related to
our operations, as well as electricity, water and other utilities. Any significant interruption, price increase or negative change in the availability or
economics of the supply chain for key inputs and, in particular, rising or volatile energy costs could curtail or preclude our ability to continue
production. In addition, our operations would be significantly affected by a prolonged power outage.

Our ability to compete and grow cannabis is dependent on our having access, at a reasonable cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labor,
equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be given that we will be successful in maintaining our required supply of labor,
equipment, parts and components.

We may not be able to transport our cannabis products to patients in a safe and efficient manner.
Due to our direct-to-patient shipping model, we depend on fast and efficient third-party transportation services to distribute our medical

cannabis products. In addition, we anticipate that Canadian adult-use distribution will take various forms on a province-by-province basis. Any
prolonged disruption of third-party transportation services could have a material adverse effect on our sales volumes or our end-users’
satisfaction with our services. Rising costs associated with third-party transportation services used by us to ship our products may also
adversely impact our profitability, and more generally on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The security of our products during transportation to and from our facilities is of the utmost concern. A breach of security during transport or
delivery could result in the loss of high-value product and forfeiture of import and export approvals, since such approvals are shipment-specific.
Any failure to take steps necessary to ensure the safekeeping of our cannabis could also have an impact on our ability to continue operating
under our existing licenses, to renew or receive amendments to our existing licenses or to receive required new licenses.

Our cannabis products may be subject to recalls for a variety of reasons, which could require us to expend significant management
and capital resources.

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a variety of reasons, including
product defects, such as contamination, adulteration, unintended harmful side effects or interactions with other substances, packaging safety
and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. Although we have detailed procedures in place for testing finished cannabis products, there
can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls,
regulatory action or lawsuits, whether frivolous or otherwise. If any of the cannabis products produced by us are recalled due to an alleged
product defect or for any other reason, we could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might
arise in connection with the recall. As a result of any
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such recall, we may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition,
a product recall may require significant management attention or damage our reputation and goodwill or that of our products or brands.

In March 2015, we voluntarily recalled certain lots of our milled House Blend as a result of the microbial level of this product falling outside
of acceptable limits during secondary testing. In August 2016, we withdrew cannabis oil capsules supplied to Croatia for pharmacy distribution
because certain capsules suffered damage during transport. In both of these cases, we were able to complete the recall and withdrawal
successfully; however, there is no assurance that any similar future incidents will not result in regulatory action or civil lawsuits, whether
frivolous or otherwise, or an adverse effect on our reputation or goodwill, or that of our products or brands.

Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of our operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, requiring
further management attention, increased compliance costs and potential legal fees, fines, penalties and other expenses. Any product recall
affecting the medical cannabis industry more broadly, whether or not involving us, could also lead consumers to lose confidence in the safety
and security of the products sold by Licensed Producers generally, including products sold by us.

We may be subject to product liability claims or regulatory action if our products are alleged to have caused significant loss or
injury.

As a manufacturer and distributor of products which are ingested by humans, we face the risk of exposure to product liability claims,
regulatory action and litigation if our products are alleged to have caused loss or injury. We may be subject to these types of claims due to
allegations that our products caused or contributed to injury or illness, failed to include adequate instructions for use or failed to include
adequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from
human consumption of cannabis products alone or in combination with other medications or substances could also occur. In addition, the
manufacture and sale of cannabis products, like the manufacture and sale of any ingested product, involves a risk of injury to consumers due to
tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. We have in the past recalled, and may again in the future have to recall,
certain of our cannabis products as a result of potential contamination and quality assurance concerns. A product liability claim or regulatory
action against us could result in increased costs and could adversely affect our reputation and goodwill with our patients and consumers
generally. There can be no assurances that we will be able to maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate
coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The
inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could result
in us becoming subject to significant liabilities that are uninsured and also could adversely affect our commercial arrangements with third
parties.

We rely on pharmaceutical distributors, and may in the future rely on other third parties, to distribute our products, and those
pharmaceutical distributors or other third parties may not perform their obligations.

We rely on pharmaceutical distributors, and may in the future rely on other third parties, to distribute our products. If these pharmaceutical
distributors or other third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, if there is a delay or interruption in the distribution of our
products or if these third parties damage our products, it could negatively impact our revenue from product sales. Any damage to our products,
such as product spoilage, could expose us to potential product liability, damage our reputation and the reputation of our brands or otherwise
harm our business.
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We, or the cannabis industry more generally, may receive unfavorable publicity or become subject to negative consumer or investor
perception.

We believe that the cannabis industry is highly dependent upon positive consumer and investor perception regarding the benefits, safety,
efficacy and quality of the cannabis distributed to consumers. Perception of the cannabis industry and cannabis products, currently and in the
future, may be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, political statements, media attention
and other publicity (whether or not accurate or with merit) both in Canada and in other countries relating to the consumption of cannabis
products, including unexpected safety or efficacy concerns arising with respect to cannabis products or the activities of industry participants.
There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings
or publicity will be favorable to the medical cannabis market or any particular medical cannabis product or will be consistent with earlier
publicity. Adverse future scientific research reports, findings and regulatory proceedings that are, or litigation, media attention or other publicity
that is, perceived as less favorable than, or that questions, earlier research reports, findings or publicity (whether or not accurate or with merit)
could result in a significant reduction in the demand for our cannabis products. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention
regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis for medical purposes, or our current or future products specifically, or associating the
consumption of cannabis with illness or other negative effects or events, could adversely affect us. This adverse publicity could arise even if the
adverse effects associated with cannabis products resulted from consumers’ failure to consume such products legally, appropriately or as
directed.

Certain events or developments in the cannabis industry more generally may impact our reputation.
Damage to our reputation can result from the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of events, including any negative publicity,

whether true or not. As a producer and distributor of cannabis, which is a controlled substance in Canada that has previously been commonly
associated with various other narcotics, violence and criminal activities, there is a risk that our business might attract negative publicity. There is
also a risk that the actions of other Licensed Producers or of other companies and service providers in the medical cannabis industry may
negatively affect the reputation of the industry as a whole and thereby negatively impact our reputation. The increased usage of social media
and other web-based tools used to generate, publish and discuss user-generated content and to connect with other users has made it
increasingly easier for individuals and groups to communicate and share negative opinions and views in regards to our activities and the
medical cannabis industry in general, whether true or not.

We do not ultimately have direct control over how we or the cannabis industry is perceived by others. Reputational issues may result in
decreased investor confidence, increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations and present an impediment to our
overall ability to advance our business strategy and realize on our growth prospects.

Licensed Producers, including us, are constrained by law in their ability to market their products in Canada.
The development of our business and operating results may be hindered by applicable restrictions on sales and marketing activities

imposed by Health Canada. The regulatory environment in Canada limits our ability to compete for market share in a manner similar to other
industries. If we are unable to effectively market our cannabis products and compete for market share, or if the costs of compliance with
government legislation and regulation cannot be absorbed through increased selling prices for our cannabis products, then our sales and
operating results could be adversely affected.

We may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage in respect of the risks we and our business face, the premiums for such
insurance may not continue to be commercially
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justifiable or there may be coverage limitations and other exclusions which may result in such insurance not being sufficient to
cover potential liabilities that we face.

We currently have insurance coverage protecting our assets and operations, including product liability insurance. Our insurance coverage
is subject to coverage limits and exclusions and may not be available for the risks and hazards to which we are exposed. In addition, no
assurance can be given that such insurance will be adequate to cover our liabilities, including potential product liability claims, or will be
generally available in the future or, if available, that premiums will be commercially justifiable. If we were to incur substantial liability and such
damages were not covered by insurance or were in excess of policy limits, we may be exposed to material uninsured liabilities that could
impede our liquidity, profitability or solvency.

If we are not able to comply with all safety, health and environmental regulations applicable to our operations and industry, we may
be held liable for any breaches of those regulations.

Safety, health and environmental laws and regulations affect nearly all aspects of our operations, including product development, working
conditions, waste disposal, emission controls, the maintenance of air and water quality standards and land reclamation, and, with respect to
environmental laws and regulations, impose limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste.
Continuing to meet GMP standards, which we follow voluntarily, requires satisfying additional standards for the conduct of our operations and
subjects us to ongoing compliance inspections in respect of these standards. Compliance with safety, health and environmental laws and
regulations can require significant expenditures, and failure to comply with such safety, health and environmental laws and regulations may
result in the imposition of fines and penalties, the temporary or permanent suspension of operations, the imposition of clean-up costs resulting
from contaminated properties, the imposition of damages and the loss of or refusal of governmental authorities to issue permits or licenses to
us or to certify our compliance with GMP standards. Exposure to these liabilities may arise in connection with our existing operations, our
historical operations and operations that may in the future be closed or sold to third parties. We could also be held liable for worker exposure to
hazardous substances and for accidents causing injury or death. There can be no assurance that we will at all times be in compliance with all
safety, health and environmental laws and regulations notwithstanding are attempts to comply with such laws and regulations.

Changes in applicable safety, health and environmental standards may impose stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and
penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for
companies and their officers, directors and employees. We are not able to determine the specific impact that future changes in safety, health
and environmental laws and regulations may have on our industry, operations and/or activities and our resulting financial position; however, we
anticipate that capital expenditures and operating expenses will increase in the future as a result of the implementation of new and increasingly
stringent safety, health and environmental laws and regulations. Further changes in safety, health and environmental laws and regulations, new
information on existing safety, health and environmental conditions or other events, including legal proceedings based upon such conditions or
an inability to obtain necessary permits in relation thereto, may require increased compliance expenditures by us.

We may become subject to liability arising from any fraudulent or illegal activity by our employees, contractors, consultants and
others.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, consultants, service providers and licensors may engage in
fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional undertakings of unauthorized activities, or reckless or
negligent undertakings of authorized activities, in each case on our behalf or in our service that violate: (i) government
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regulations, specifically Health Canada regulations; (ii) manufacturing standards; (iii) Canadian federal and provincial healthcare laws and
regulations; (iv) laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data; (v) U.S. federal laws banning the
possession, sale or importation of cannabis into the United States, and prohibiting the financing of activities outside the United States that are
unlawful under Canadian or other foreign laws; or (vi) the terms of our agreements with insurers. In particular, we could be exposed to class
action and other litigation, increased Health Canada inspections and related sanctions, the loss of current GMP compliance certifications or the
inability to obtain future GMP compliance certifications, lost sales and revenue or reputational damage as a result of prohibited activities that
are undertaken in the growing or production process of our products without our knowledge or permission and contrary to our internal policies,
procedures and operating requirements.

We cannot always identify and prevent misconduct by our employees and other third parties, including service providers and licensors, and
the precautions taken by us to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown, unanticipated or unmanaged risks or
losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from such misconduct. If any such actions are
instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on
our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal or administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines and contractual damages,
reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings or curtailment of our operations.

We may experience breaches of security at our facilities or loss as a result of theft of our products.
Because of the nature of our products and the limited legal channels for distribution, as well as the concentration of inventory in our

facilities, we are subject to the risk of theft of our product and other security breaches. A security breach at Tilray Nanaimo or, once completed,
one of our future facilities could result in a significant loss of available product, expose us to additional liability under applicable regulations and
to potentially costly litigation or increase expenses relating to the resolution and future prevention of similar thefts, any of which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be subject to risks related to our information technology systems, including the risk that we may be the subject of a cyber-
attack and the risk that we may be in non-compliance with applicable privacy laws.

We have entered into agreements with third parties for hardware, software, telecommunications and other information technology, or IT,
services in connection with our operations. Our operations depend, in part, on how well we and our vendors protect networks, equipment, IT
systems and software against damage from a number of threats, including, but not limited to, cable cuts, damage to physical plants, natural
disasters, intentional damage and destruction, fire, power loss, hacking, computer viruses, vandalism or theft. Our operations also depend on
the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment and IT systems and software, as well as pre-emptive expenses to
mitigate the risks of failures. Any of these and other events could result in information system failures, delays or increases in capital expenses.
The failure of information systems or a component of information systems could, depending on the nature of any such failure, adversely impact
our reputation and results of operations.

There are a number of laws protecting the confidentiality of certain patient health information, including patient records, and restricting the
use and disclosure of that protected information. In particular, the privacy rules under the Personal Information Protection and Electronics
Documents Act
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(Canada), or the PIPEDA, and similar laws in other jurisdictions, protect medical records and other personal health information by limiting their
use and the disclosure of health information to the minimum level reasonably necessary to accomplish the intended purpose. We collect and
store personal information about our patients and are responsible for protecting that information from privacy breaches. A privacy breach may
occur through a procedural or process failure, an IT malfunction or deliberate unauthorized intrusions. Theft of data for competitive purposes,
particularly patient lists and preferences, is an ongoing risk whether perpetrated through employee collusion or negligence or through
deliberate cyber-attack. Moreover, if we are found to be in violation of the privacy or security rules under PIPEDA or other laws protecting the
confidentiality of patient health information, including as a result of data theft and privacy breaches, we could be subject to sanctions and civil
or criminal penalties, which could increase our liabilities and harm our reputation.

We may be unable to sustain our revenue growth and development.
Our revenue has grown in recent years. Our ability to sustain this growth will depend on a number of factors, many of which are beyond

our control, including, but not limited to, the availability of sufficient capital on suitable terms, changes in laws and regulations respecting the
production of cannabis products, competition from other Licensed Producers, the size of the black market and the proposed legal adult-use
market, and our ability to produce sufficient volumes of our cannabis-based pharmaceutical products to meet patient demand. In addition, we
are subject to a variety of business risks generally associated with developing companies. Future development and expansion could place
significant strain on our management personnel and likely will require us to recruit additional management personnel, and there is no
assurance that we will be able to do so.

We may be unable to expand our operations quickly enough to meet demand or manage our operations beyond their current scale.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our expanding operations, including any acquisitions, effectively, that we will be

able to sustain or accelerate our growth or that such growth, if achieved, will result in profitable operations, that we will be able to attract and
retain sufficient management personnel necessary for continued growth or that we will be able to successfully make strategic investments or
acquisitions.

Demand for cannabis-based products is dependent on a number of social, political and economic factors that are beyond our control.
There is no assurance that an increase in existing demand will occur, that we will benefit from any such demand increase or that our business
will remain profitable even in the event of such an increase in demand. If we are unable to sustain profitability, the value of our Class 2 common
stock may significantly decrease.

We may not be able to secure adequate or reliable sources of funding required to operate our business or increase our production to
meet consumer demand for our products.

The continued development of our business will require additional financing following the closing of this offering, and there is no assurance
that we will obtain the financing necessary to be able to achieve our business objectives. Our ability to obtain additional financing will depend
on investor demand, our performance and reputation, market conditions and other factors. Our inability to raise such capital could result in the
delay or indefinite postponement of our current business objectives or in our inability to continue to carry on our business. There can be no
assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be
favorable to us.

In addition, from time to time, we may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the capital stock or other equity interests of other entities.
Our continued growth may be financed, wholly or partially,
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with debt, which may increase our debt levels above industry standards. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive
covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain
additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. Debt financings may also contain provisions that, if
breached, may entitle lenders or their agents to accelerate repayment of loans or realize upon security over our assets, and there is no
assurance that we would be able to repay such loans in such an event or prevent the enforcement of security granted pursuant to any such
debt financing.

We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and our management will be required to devote
substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

Historically, we have operated as a private company. As a public company, particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth
company, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and rules implemented by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, and the
Nasdaq Global Select Market, impose various requirements on public companies, including requirements to file annual, quarterly and event-
driven reports with respect to our business and financial condition and operations and establish and maintain effective disclosure and financial
controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel have limited experience operating a public company,
which may result in operational inefficiencies or errors, or a failure to improve or maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, or
ICFR, and disclosure controls and procedures, or DCP, necessary to ensure timely and accurate reporting of operational and financial results.
Our existing management team will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives, and we may need to hire
additional personnel to assist us with complying with these requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and
financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our
ICFR, which, after we are no longer an emerging growth company, must be accompanied by an attestation report on ICFR issued by our
independent registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, we will document and
evaluate our ICFR, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially
engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of our ICFR, continue steps to improve
control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting
and improvement process for ICFR. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm will
be able to conclude within the prescribed timeframe that our ICFR is effective as required by Section 404. This could result in a determination
that there are one or more material weaknesses in our ICFR, which could cause an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of
confidence in the reliability of our consolidated financial statements.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some public company required activities more time consuming.
These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity and, as a result, their
application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing
uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We
intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and
administrative expenses and divert management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to
comply
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with new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies, regulatory authorities may initiate
legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.

We also expect that being a public company and complying with applicable rules and regulations will make it more expensive for us to
obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to incur substantially higher costs to obtain and maintain the same or
similar coverage that is currently in place. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified executive officers
and members of our board of directors.

There is no assurance that our management’s past experience will be sufficient to enable us to operate successfully as a public company.

Management may not be able to successfully implement adequate internal controls over financial reporting.
Proper systems of ICFR and disclosure are critical to the operation of a public company. However, we do not expect that our DCP or ICFR

will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and the benefits of such controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
Due to the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a
timely manner or at all. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results could be materially
adversely affected, which could cause investors to lose confidence in us and our reported financial information, which in turn could result in a
reduction in the value of our Class 2 common stock.

We are an emerging growth company and intend to take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging
growth companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur
of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion or more; (ii) December 31, 2023 (the last day of
the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of the offering of our Class 2 common stock); (iii) the date on
which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period; or (iv) the date we qualify as a
“large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC, which means the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds
$700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter. For so long as we remain an emerging growth
company, we are permitted to and intend to rely upon exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include:
 
•  not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404;
 

•  not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding
mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial
statements (auditor discussion and analysis);

 

•  being permitted to present only two years of audited financial statements in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements
with correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure in this
prospectus;
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•  reduced disclosure about executive compensation arrangements;
 

•  exemptions from the requirements to obtain a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any
golden parachute arrangements not previously approved; and

 

•  an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards, which we have elected to take advantage of.

We may take advantage of some, but not all, of the available exemptions described above. We have taken advantage of reduced reporting
burdens in this prospectus. In particular, we have not included all of the executive compensation information that would be required if we were
not anemerging growth company. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Conflicts of interest may arise between us and our directors and officers as a result of other business activities undertaken by such
individuals, including continuing involvement by these individuals in Privateer Holdings.

We may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because some of our directors and executive officers may be engaged in a
range of business activities. In addition, our directors and executive officers are permitted under their employment agreements with us to
devote time to their outside business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or adversely interfere with their duties to us and
subject to any contractual restrictions restricting such activities.These business interests could require the investment of significant time and
attention by our executive officers and directors. In some cases, our executive officers and directors may have fiduciary obligations associated
with business interests that interfere with their ability to devote time to our business and affairs, such as business obligations related to the
employment or involvement of these persons with Privateer Holdings, which could adversely affect our operations.

Third parties with whom we do business may perceive themselves as being exposed to reputational risk as a result of their
relationship with us.

The parties with whom we do business, or would like to do business with, may perceive that they are exposed to reputational risk as a
result of our business activities relating to cannabis, which could hinder our ability to establish or maintain business relationships. These
perceptions relating to the cannabis industry may interfere with our relationship with service providers in Canada and other countries,
particularly in the financial services industry.

Tax and accounting requirements may change in ways that are unforeseen to us and we may face difficulty or be unable to
implement or comply with any such changes.

We are subject to numerous tax and accounting requirements, and changes in existing accounting or taxation rules or practices, or varying
interpretations of current rules or practices, could have a significant adverse effect on our financial results, the manner in which we conduct our
business or the marketability of any of our products. We currently have international operations and plan to expand such operations in the
future. These operations, and any expansion thereto, will require us to comply with the tax laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions, which
may vary substantially. Complying with the tax laws of these jurisdictions can be time consuming and expensive and could potentially subject
us to penalties and fees in the future if we were to fail to comply.
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Because a significant portion of our sales are generated in Canada, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could harm our
results of operations.

The reporting currency for our consolidated financial statements is the U.S. dollar. We derive a significant portion of our revenue and incur
a significant portion of our operating costs in Canada, and changes in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar may
have a significant, and potentially adverse, effect on our results of operations. In addition, our obligations under our credit facilities with
Privateer Holdings are denominated U.S. dollars. Our primary risk of loss regarding foreign currency exchange rate risk is caused by
fluctuations in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar, although as we expand internationally we will be subject to
additional foreign currency exchange risks. Because we recognize revenue in Canada in Canadian dollars, if the Canadian dollar weakens
against the U.S. dollar it would have a negative impact on our Canadian operating results upon translation of those results into U.S. dollars for
the purposes of consolidation. In addition, a weakening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would make it more difficult for us to meet
our obligations under our credit facilities with Privateer Holdings. We have not historically engaged in hedging transactions and do not currently
contemplate engaging in hedging transactions to mitigate foreign exchange risks. As we continue to recognize gains and losses in foreign
currency transactions, depending upon changes in future currency rates, such gains or losses could have a significant, and potentially adverse,
effect on our results of operations.

We may have exposure to greater-than-anticipated tax liabilities, which could seriously harm our business.

Our income tax obligations are based on our corporate operating structure and third-party and intercompany arrangements, including the
manner in which we develop, value and use our intellectual property and the valuations of our intercompany transactions. The tax laws
applicable to our international business activities, including the laws of the United States, Canada and other jurisdictions, are subject to change
and uncertain interpretation. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for valuing
developed technology, intercompany arrangements or transfer pricing, which could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and the amount of
taxes we pay and seriously harm our business. Taxing authorities may also determine that the manner in which we operate our business is not
consistent with how we report our income, which could increase our effective tax rate and the amount of taxes we pay and could seriously harm
our business. In addition, our future income taxes could fluctuate because of earnings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions that have
lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions that have higher statutory tax rates, by changes in the valuation of our
deferred tax assets and liabilities or by changes in tax laws, regulations or accounting principles. We are subject to regular review and audit by
U.S. federal and state and foreign tax authorities. Any adverse outcome from a review or audit could seriously harm our business. In addition,
determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment by management, and there are
many transactions where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Although we believe that the amounts recorded in our financial statements
are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome relating to such amounts may differ for such period or periods and may seriously harm our business.

The effect of recent U.S. tax reform on us is uncertain and could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

On December 22, 2017, the legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted, which contains significant
changes to U.S. tax law, including, but not limited to, a reduction in the corporate tax rate, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense
(with certain exceptions), limitation of the deduction for net operating losses arising after 2017 to 80% of current year taxable
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income and elimination of carryback of such net operating losses, one-time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of
whether they are repatriated, immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time,
modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits, deemed repatriation of certain intangible related income and a transition to a
new quasi-territorial system of taxation. The effect of the changes made in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act is highly uncertain, both in terms of their
direct effect on the taxation of an investment in our common stock and their indirect effect on our financial condition or market conditions
generally, and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. Furthermore, many of the provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act will require guidance through the issuance of Treasury regulations in order to assess their effect. There may be a substantial delay before
such regulations are promulgated, increasing the uncertainty as to the ultimate effect of the statutory amendments on us or our stockholders.
There may also be technical corrections legislation proposed with respect to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the effect and timing of which cannot
be predicted and may be adverse to us or our stockholders. In addition, it is uncertain how various states will respond to the newly enacted
federal tax law. We will continue to examine and assess the impact this tax reform legislation may have on our business. This prospectus does
not discuss any such tax legislation or the manner in which it might affect purchasers of our common stock. We urge our stockholders to
consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect to any such legislation and the potential tax consequences of investing in our common
stock.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

We may be subject to risks related to the protection and enforcement of our intellectual property rights, or intellectual property we
license from others, and may become subject to allegations that we or our licensors are in violation of intellectual property rights of
third parties.

The ownership, licensing and protection of trademarks, patents and intellectual property rights are significant aspects of our future success.
Unauthorized parties may attempt to replicate or otherwise obtain and use our products and technology. Policing the unauthorized use of our
current or future trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights could be difficult, expensive, time-consuming and unpredictable, as
may be enforcing these rights against unauthorized use by others. Identifying the unauthorized use of intellectual property rights is difficult as
we may be unable to effectively monitor and evaluate the products being distributed by our competitors, including parties such as unlicensed
dispensaries and black market participants, and the processes used to produce such products. In addition, in any infringement proceeding,
some or all of our trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights or other proprietary know-how, or those we license from others, or
arrangements or agreements seeking to protect the same for our benefit, may be found invalid, unenforceable, anti-competitive or not infringed;
may be interpreted narrowly; or could put existing intellectual property applications at risk of not being issued.

In addition, other parties may claim that our products, or those we license from others, infringe on their proprietary or patent protected
rights. Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources and legal fees,
result in injunctions or temporary restraining orders or require the payment of damages. As well, we may need to obtain licenses from third
parties who allege that we have infringed on their lawful rights. Such licenses may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. In
addition, we may not be able to obtain or utilize on terms that are favorable to us, or at all, licenses or other rights with respect to intellectual
property that we does not own.

We also rely on certain trade secrets, technical know-how and proprietary information that are not protected by patents to maintain our
competitive position. Our trade secrets, technical know-how and
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proprietary information, which are not protected by patents, may become known to or be independently developed by competitors, which could
adversely affect us.

We license some intellectual property rights, and the failure of the owner of such intellectual property to properly maintain or enforce
the intellectual property underlying such licenses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
performance.

We are party to a number of licenses, including with Privateer Holdings, that give us rights to use third-party intellectual property that is
necessary or useful to our business. Our success will depend, in part, on the ability of the licensor to maintain and enforce its licensed
intellectual property, in particular, those intellectual property rights to which we have secured exclusive rights. Without protection for the
intellectual property we have licensed, other companies might be able to offer substantially similar products for sale or utilize substantially
similar processes, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Any of our licensors may allege that we have breached our license agreement, whether with or without merit, and accordingly seek to
terminate our license. If successful, this could result in our loss of the right to use the licensed intellectual property, which could adversely affect
our ability to commercialize our products or services, as well as have a material adverse effect on our us.

We may not realize the full benefit of the clinical trials or studies that we participate in because the terms of some of our agreements
to participate do not give us full rights to the resulting intellectual property, the ability to acquire full rights to that intellectual
property on commercially reasonable terms or the ability to prevent other parties from using that intellectual property.

Although we have participated in several clinical trials, we are not the sponsor of these trials and, as such, do not have full control over the
design, conduct and terms of the trials. In some cases, for instance, we are only the provider of a cannabis study drug for a trial that is
designed and initiated by an independent investigator within an academic institution. In such cases, we are often not able to acquire rights to all
the intellectual property generated by the trials. Although the terms of all clinical trial agreements entered into by us provide us with, at a
minimum, ownership of intellectual property relating directly to the study drug being trialed (e.g. intellectual property relating to use of the study
drug for the condition being examined in the study), ownership of intellectual property that does not relate directly to the study drug is often
retained by the institution. As such, we are vulnerable to any dispute among the investigator, the institution and us with respect to classification
and therefore ownership of any particular piece of intellectual property generated during the trial. Such a dispute may affect our ability to make
full use of intellectual property generated by a clinical trial.

Where intellectual property generated by a trial is owned by the institution, we are often granted a right of first negotiation to obtain an
exclusive license to such intellectual property. If we exercise such a right, there is a risk that the parties will fail to come to an agreement on the
license, in which case such intellectual property may be licensed to other parties or commercialized by the institution.

We may not realize the full benefit of our licenses if the licensed material has less market appeal than expected and licenses may not
be profitable to us.

An integral part of our proposed Canadian adult-use cannabis business involves obtaining territorially exclusive licenses to produce
products using various brands and images. As a licensee of brand-based properties, we have no assurance that a particular brand or property
will translate into a successful adult-use cannabis product, if legalized. Additionally, a successful brand may not continue to be successful or
maintain a high level of sales. As well, the popularity of licensed properties may not result in popular products or the success of the properties
with the public. Acquiring or renewing
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licenses may require the payment of minimum guaranteed royalties that we consider to be too high to be profitable, which may result in losing
licenses we currently hold when they become renewable under their terms or missing business opportunities for new licenses. If we are unable
to acquire or maintain successful licenses on advantageous terms, or to derive sufficient revenue from sales of licensed products, our proposed
adult-use business may not be successful.

Risks Relating to our Relationship with Privateer Holdings

We will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of the listing rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Stock Market and, as a result,
will qualify for exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. As we intend to rely on these exemptions, you will not
have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.

Upon the closing of this offering, Privateer Holdings will continue to own a majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of our
capital stock. As a result, we will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of the listing rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. Under
these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held by an individual, group or another
company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including the requirements:
 
•  that a majority of the board of directors consists of independent directors;
 

•  for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and compensation committees;
 

•  that we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter
addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities; and

 

•  that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the
committee’s purpose and responsibility of the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

We intend to use these exemptions upon the closing of this offering and we may continue to use all or some of these exemptions in the
future. As a result, you will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the Nasdaq listing
rules.

In addition, Nasdaq Global Select Market has developed listing standards regarding compensation committee independence requirements
and the role and disclosure of compensation consultants and other advisers to the compensation committee that, among other things, requires:
 

•  compensation committees be composed of independent directors, as determined pursuant to new independence requirements;
 

•  compensation committees be explicitly charged with hiring and overseeing compensation consultants, legal counsel and other committee
advisors; and

 

•  compensation committees be required to consider, when engaging compensation consultants, legal counsel or other advisors,
independence factors, including factors that examine the relationship between the consultant or advisor’s employer and us.

As a controlled company, we will not be subject to these compensation committee independence requirements.
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We are exposed to risks arising from Privateer Holdings’ stockholdings, its provision of services to us and its participation in our
management and conflicts of interest associated therewith.

Following the closing of this offering, Privateer Holdings will beneficially own or control an approximate     % equity interest in us through
ownership or control of 75,000,000 shares of our Class 1 common stock, representing approximately     % of the voting power of our capital
stock. In addition, because our Class 1 common stock, which is held entirely by Privateer Holdings, has three votes per share, Privateer
Holdings will continue to own a majority of voting power of all outstanding shares of our capital stock and control all matters submitted to our
stockholders for approval as long as it holds at least a 25.01% of all outstanding shares of our capital stock.

As a result of provisions in our certificate of incorporation and the terms of agreements we have entered, our relationship with Privateer
Holdings, as our majority stockholder, does not impose any duty on Privateer Holdings or its affiliates to act in our best interests and, other than
as set out in the agreements entered into between us and Privateer Holdings or its affiliates, Privateer Holdings is not prohibited from engaging
in other business activities that may compete with us. In certain instances, the interests of Privateer Holdings may differ from our interests and
the interests of our stockholders, including with respect to future acquisitions or strategic decisions. It is possible that conflicts of interest may
arise between Privateer Holdings and us and that such conflicts may not be resolved in a manner that is in our best interests or the best
interests of our stockholders. Additionally, Privateer Holdings and its affiliates will have access to our material confidential information.

Generally, a transfer by Privateer Holdings of the Class 1 common stock it holds would cause a conversion of such shares into Class 2
common stock. However, a transfer by Privateer Holdings to the three founders of Privateer Holdings (or certain entities controlled by them,
such as estate planning entities) does not result in a conversion and these individuals would continue to hold Class 1 common stock with the
superior voting rights of three votes per share. These three founders are Brendan Kennedy (our CEO), Michael Blue and Christian Groh. If
Privateer Holdings were to distribute its 75,000,000 shares of Class 1 common stock to the Privateer Holdings stockholders (in a spinoff
transaction or other distribution), approximately     % of these shares would continue to be held by these three individuals (based on their
current ownership percentage of Privateer Holdings as of March 31, 2018) and which would represent     % of our voting interests and     % of
our equity interests.

For so long as Privateer Holdings, either directly or indirectly, owns a significant voting power of our capital stock, Privateer Holdings will
have the ability to exercise substantial influence with respect to our affairs and significantly affect the outcome of stockholder votes and may
have the ability to cause or prevent certain fundamental transactions. Additionally, Privateer Holdings’ significant voting power may discourage
transactions involving a change of control of us, including transactions in which an investor might otherwise receive a premium for our common
stock over the then-current market price.

Future changes in our relationship with Privateer Holdings may cause our business to be adversely affected.
The arrangements between us and Privateer Holdings do not require Privateer Holdings, either directly or indirectly, to maintain any

minimum ownership level in us. Accordingly, Privateer Holdings may transfer all or a substantial portion of its interest in our Class 1 common
stock to a third party, including in connection with a merger, consolidation, or sale or spin-off of Privateer Holdings common stock, without our
consent or the consent of our stockholders, although at such time those shares would be converted into shares of Class 2 common stock with a
single vote per share rather than three
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votes per share. The interests of a transferee of our common stock may be different from Privateer Holdings’ and may not align with those of
the other stockholders, and any such transaction may cause the shared services, licenses and industry relationships that we currently benefit
from as a result of our affiliation with Privateer Holdings to be disrupted or eliminated. We cannot predict with any certainty the effect that any
such transfer would have on the trading price of our Class 2 common stock or our ability to raise capital in the future. As a result of the
foregoing, in the event of a change of relationship between Privateer Holdings and us, our future would be uncertain and our business, financial
condition and results of operations may suffer.

Future sales or distributions of our securities by Privateer Holdings could cause the market price for our Class 2 common stock to
fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by Privateer Holdings or the distribution of shares to
stockholders could occur at any time after the expiration of the contractual lock-up period section titled “Underwriting—Lock-up Agreements.”
These sales or distributions, or the market perception that the holders of a large number of shares of our Class 2 common stock (or shares of
our Class 1 common stock which are convertible into Class 2 common stock on a one-for-one basis) intend to sell our Class 2 common stock,
could significantly reduce the market price of our Class 2 common stock and the market price could decline below the initial public offering price
of our Class 2 common stock. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that future public sales of these securities or the availability of these
securities for sale will have on the market price of our Class 2 common stock. If the market price of our Class 2 common stock were to drop as
a result, this might impede our ability to raise additional capital and might cause remaining stockholders to lose all or part of their investment.

The intentions of Privateer Holdings regarding its long-term economic ownership of our capital stock are subject to change, with the result
that it may sell more or less common stock than currently intended. Factors that could cause Privateer Holdings’ current intentions to change
include changes in the circumstances of Privateer Holdings or its affiliates, changes in our management and operation and changes in tax
laws, market conditions and our financial performance.

Risks Related to the Offering and Ownership of Our Class 2 Common Stock

There is currently no public market for our Class 2 common stock and none may develop following this offering.
There is currently no public market for our Class 2 common stock. The offering price has been determined by negotiation among us,

Privateer Holdings and the underwriters. We cannot predict the price at which our Class 2 common stock will trade upon the closing of this
offering, and there can be no assurance that an active and liquid trading market will develop after closing or, if developed, that such a market
will be sustained at the offering price. In addition, if an active public market does not develop or is not maintained, holders of shares of our
Class 2 common stock may have difficulty selling their shares.

The price of our Class 2 common stock in public markets may experience significant fluctuations.
The market price for our Class 2 common stock may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of

which are beyond our control, including the following: (i) actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations;
(ii) recommendations by securities research analysts; (iii) changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other issuers that
investors deem comparable to us; (iv) the addition or departure of our executive officers and other key personnel; (v) the release or expiration
of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on our Class 2 common
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stock; (vi) sales or perceived sales, or expectation of future sales, of our Class 2 common stock; (vii) significant acquisitions or business
combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving us or our competitors; and (viii) news reports relating
to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and other related issues in our industry or target markets.

Financial markets have recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations which have affected the market prices of equity
securities of public entities. In many cases, these fluctuations, and the effect that they have on market prices, have been unrelated to the
operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such entities. Accordingly, the market price of our Class 2 common stock may
decline even if our operating results or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause
decreases in asset values that are deemed not to be temporary, which may result in impairment losses to us. Furthermore, certain investors
may base their investment decisions on considerations of our environmental, governance and social practices or our industry as a whole, and
our performance in these areas against such institutions’ respective investment guidelines and criteria. The failure to satisfy such criteria may
result in limited or no investment in our Class 2 common stock by those institutions, which could materially adversely affect the trading price of
our Class 2 common stock.

There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in the price and volume of equity securities will not occur. If such increased levels
of volatility and market turmoil continue for a protracted period of time, there could be a material adverse effect on the trading price of our
Class 2 common stock.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market in the near
future. This could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception
in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock and could
impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on
the prevailing market price of our common stock.

Immediately after this offering, we will have outstanding 75,000,000 shares of Class 1 common stock and             shares of Class 2
common stock based on the number of shares outstanding as of February 28, 2018. This includes the shares that we are selling in this offering,
which may be resold in the public market immediately without restriction, unless purchased by our affiliates. All of the remaining shares of our
common stock will be restricted as a result of securities laws or lock-up agreements but will be able to be sold after the offering as described in
the section titled “Shares Eligible for Future Sale.” Moreover, immediately after this offering, holders of an aggregate of up to 7,794,042 shares
of our Class 2 common stock will have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares or to
include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. We also intend to register all shares of Class
2 common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plan. Once we register these shares, they can be freely sold in the public
market upon issuance, subject to volume limitations applicable to affiliates and the lock-up agreements described in the section titled
“Underwriting.”

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, our
stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class 2 common stock will depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over
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these analysts. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on our company. If no securities or industry
analysts commence coverage of our company, the trading price for our stock would likely be negatively impacted. In the event securities or
industry analysts initiate coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. In addition, if our operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our
stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly,
demand for our stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

Management has indicated its plan for the use of proceeds of this offering but will ultimately exercise its discretion in how such
funds are put to use.

We currently intend to allocate the net proceeds received from the sale of our Class 2 common stock hereunder as described in the section
titled “Use of Proceeds;” however, we will have discretion in the actual application of the net proceeds and may elect to allocate the net
proceeds differently than the allocation described in the section titled “Use of Proceeds” if we believe it would be in our best interest to do so.
Stockholders may not agree with the manner in which management or our board of directors chooses to allocate and spend the net proceeds
of this offering. The failure by management or our board of directors to apply these funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on our
business. Additionally, we may not be successful in implementing our business strategies and our actual capital expenditures and capital
expenditure requirements may be materially different from forecasted expenditures described in this prospectus.

Holders of our Class 2 common stock may be subject to dilution resulting from future offerings of common stock by us.
We may raise additional funds in the future by issuing equity securities. Holders of our Class 2 common stock will have no pre-emptive

rights in connection with such further issuances. Our board of directors has the discretion to determine if an issuance of our capital stock is
warranted, the price at which such issuance is effected and the other terms of any future issuance of capital stock. In addition, additional
common stock may be issued by us in connection with the exercise of options granted by us. Such additional equity issuances could,
depending on the price at which such securities are issued, substantially dilute the interests of the holders of our Class 2 common stock.

It is not anticipated that any dividends will be paid to holders of our Class 2 common stock for the foreseeable future.
No dividends on our Class 2 common stock have been paid to date. We anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, we will retain future

earnings and other cash resources for the operation and development of our business. Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion
of our board of directors after taking into account many factors, including our earnings, operating results, financial condition and current and
anticipated cash needs.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents could make an acquisition of us more difficult and may prevent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our corporate charter and our bylaws that will become effective upon the closing of this offering may discourage, delay or
prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of us that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which
stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to
pay in the future for shares of our Class 2 common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our Class 2 common stock. In addition, these
provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts
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by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board
of directors. Because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions could in turn
affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team. Among others, these provisions include the
following:
 

•  our board of directors is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms which may delay or prevent a change of our
management or a change in control;

 

•  our board of directors has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation,
death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

 

•  our stockholders may not act by written consent or call special stockholders’ meetings; as a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a
majority of our capital stock would not be able to take certain actions other than at annual stockholders’ meetings or special stockholders’
meetings called by the board of directors, the chairman of the board or the chief executive officer;

 

•  our certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect
director candidates;

 

•  stockholders must provide advance notice and additional disclosures in order to nominate individuals for election to the board of directors
or to propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company;
and

 

•  our board of directors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock; the ability to issue undesignated
preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could
impede the success of any attempt to acquire us.

Provisions under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our Class 2 common stock.

In addition to provisions in our corporate charter and our bylaws that will become effective upon the closing of this offering, because we are
incorporated in Delaware, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any holder of at least 15% of our capital stock for a
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became a 15% stockholder. See the section of this prospectus titled
“Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeover Provisions” for additional information.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal
district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our
stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors,
officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum
for:
 

•  any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;
 

•  any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;
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•  any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; and

 

•  any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal-affairs doctrine.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be
the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Act.

These exclusive-forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with
us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. If a
court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable
in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could seriously harm our business.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical
facts contained in this prospectus are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such
as “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,”
“should,” “will,” “would,” or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not
limited to, statements about:
 
•  our use of the net proceeds from this offering;
 

•  the development or continued existence of markets for our products;
 

•  the legalization of the adult-use market in Canada in 2018, and, if legalized, the regulatory framework of the adult-use market in Canada;
 

•  our ability to expand the addressable medical market;
 

•  industry trends in the markets in which we compete, including the demand for non-combustible products;
 

•  the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals;
 

•  the commercialization and pricing of our products;
 

•  the implementation and growth of our business model and strategic plans for our business and products;
 

•  the completion of our facilities in Portugal and Enniskillen, Ontario, our ability to obtain or maintain required licenses and permits for these
facilities and the effect of these facilites on the production of our products;

 

•  the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our products;
 

•  the outcomes of clinical trials and the ability of such trials to increase acceptance of cannabis in the medical community;
 

•  our ability to enter into strategic arrangements with distributors and retailers and the potential benefits of such arrangements;
 

•  the availability of wholesale distribution and other opportunities to expand our distribution channels and the potential benefits of such
opportunities;

 

•  our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
 

•  our financial performance; and
 

•  developments relating to our competitors and our industry.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in the section
titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new
risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our
business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances
discussed in this prospectus may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the
forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance or events and
circumstances reflected
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in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for
any reason after the date of this prospectus to conform these statements to new information, actual results or to changes in our expectations,
except as required by law.

You should read this prospectus and the documents that we reference in this prospectus and have filed with the SEC as exhibits to the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance and
events and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.

This prospectus also contains industry, market and competitive position data from our own internal estimates and research as well as
industry and general publications and research surveys and studies conducted by third parties. Industry publications, studies and surveys
generally state that they have been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or
completeness of such information. Our internal data and estimates are based upon information obtained from trade and business organizations
and other contacts in the markets in which we operate and our management’s understanding of industry conditions. While we believe that each
of these studies and publications is reliable, we have not independently verified market and industry data from third-party sources. While we
believe our internal company research is reliable and the market definitions are appropriate, neither such research nor these definitions have
been verified by any independent source. The industry in which we operate is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risks due to various
factors, including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors.”

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements
are based on information available to us as of the date of this prospectus, and although we believe such information forms a reasonable basis
for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted
an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors
are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of                     shares of Class 2 common stock in this offering will be approximately
$                    million, based on an assumed initial public offering price of $                    per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us. If the
underwriters exercise their over-allotment option to purchase additional shares of Class 2 common stock from us, we estimate that our net
proceeds will be approximately $                    million, after deducting underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Each $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $                per share would increase (decrease) our net
proceeds by $                    million, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the
same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us. Each increase (decrease) by
1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us would increase (decrease) the net proceeds from this offering by $                    million,
assuming the assumed initial public offering price remains the same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount. The information
discussed above is illustrative only and will adjust based on the actual initial public offering price and other terms of this offering determined at
pricing. Any increase or decrease in the net proceeds would not change our intended use of proceeds.

We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering to build and expand our cultivation and processing facilities, to expand our sales and
marketing capabilities and for working capital and general corporate purposes. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds from this offering
for the acquisition of, or investment in, products, licenses or businesses that complement our business, although we have no present
commitments or agreements to enter into any such acquisitions or investments.

The expected use of proceeds from this offering represent our intentions based upon our current plans and business conditions. The
amounts and timing of our actual expenditures may vary significantly depending on numerous factors and any unforeseen cash needs. As a
result, management will retain broad discretion over the allocation of the net proceeds from this offering.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid dividends on Class 2 common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future
earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business. We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends
on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of
directors subject to applicable laws and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, contractual
restrictions and capital requirements. Because a significant portion of our operations is conducted through our wholly owned subsidiaries, our
ability to pay dividends depends in part on our receipt of cash dividends from such subsidiaries, which may further restrict our ability to pay
dividends as a result of the laws of their jurisdiction of organization or covenants under any future outstanding indebtedness such subsidiaries
incur. Our future ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock may be limited by the terms of any future debt or preferred securities.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and capitalization as of December 31, 2017:
 
•  on an actual basis derived from our consolidated financial statements;
 

•  on a pro forma basis, to reflect: (1) the conversion of all outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock into an aggregate of
7,794,042 shares of our Class 2 common stock immediately prior to the closing of this offering and (2) the filing and effectiveness of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation in connection with the closing of this offering; and

 

•  on a pro forma as adjusted basis, to further reflect the sale by us of shares of our Class 2 common stock in this offering at an assumed
initial public offering price of $                per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after
deducting the estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

You should read the information in this table together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in
this prospectus and the sections titled “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”
 
  As of December 31, 2017

  Actual   Pro Forma   
Pro Forma

As Adjusted(1)
  (in thousands, except share and per share information)
Cash  $                    $                    $                  

              

Stockholders’ equity:      
Series A preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; no shares authorized,

issued or outstanding, actual, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted      
Ordinary shares, par value;              shares authorized, one share

issued and outstanding, actual, no shares authorized, issued, or
outstanding pro forma and pro forma as adjusted      

Class 1 common stock, $0.0001 par value; no shares issued and
outstanding, actual, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
75,000,000 shares outstanding pro forma and pro forma as adjusted      

Class 2 common stock, $0.0001 par value; no shares authorized,
issued, or outstanding, actual; 100,000,000 shares authorized,
7,794,042 shares issued and outstanding, pro forma;              shares
authorized,              shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as
adjusted  $                    $                    $                  

Additional paid-in capital      
Accumulated deficit      

              

Total stockholders’ equity      
              

Total capitalization      
               

(1) Each $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $         per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus, would increase
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(decrease) each of cash, additional paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity and total capitalization by $         million, assuming that the
number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same, after deducting the estimated
underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We may also increase or decrease the number of shares we are
offering. Each increase (decrease) of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us would increase (decrease) cash, additional
paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity, and total capitalization by $ million, assuming the assumed initial public offering price remains the
same, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount. The pro forma as adjusted information discussed above is illustrative only and
will be adjusted based on the actual initial public offering price and other terms of this offering determined at pricing.

The number of shares of common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on                shares of common stock outstanding as
of December 31, 2017 and excludes:
 
•                   shares of Class 2 common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2017, with a

weighted-average exercise price of $                per share; and
 

•                   shares of Class 2 common stock reserved for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan as
of December 31, 2017.
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Class 2 common stock in this offering, your interest will be diluted to the extent of the difference between the initial
public offering price per Class 2 common stock and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of Class 2 common stock after
the closing of the offering.

Our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2017 was $     million, or $     per share. Pro forma net tangible book value per
share is determined by subtracting our total liabilities from the total book value of our tangible assets and dividing the difference by the number
of Class 2 common stock deemed to be outstanding at that date, after giving effect to the conversion of all outstanding Series A preferred stock
into an aggregate of 7,794,042 shares of Class 2 common stock immediately prior to the closing of this offering.

After giving effect to the sale of             shares of Class 2 common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $     per
share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and
estimated offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value as of December 31, 2017, would have been $    
million, or $     per share. This represents an immediate increase in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value of $     per share to our
existing stockholders and immediate dilution of $     per share to new investors purchasing shares of Class 2 common stock in this offering.

The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share basis to new investors:
 
Assumed initial public offering price per share    $                 

Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2017  $                   
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors in this offering    

      

Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering    
      

Dilution in net tangible book value per share to new investors in this offering    $  
      

Each $1.00 increase in the assumed initial public offering price of $     per share would increase our pro forma as adjusted net tangible
book value per share after this offering by $     per share and the dilution to new investors by $     per share, assuming the number of shares
offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and
estimated offering expenses payable by us. Similarly, each $1.00 decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $     per share would
decrease our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering by $     per share and the dilution to new investors by
$     per share, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after
deducting the estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us. Each increase of 1,000,000 shares in the
number of shares of Class 2 common stock offered by us would increase the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value by $     per share
and decrease the dilution to new investors by $     per share, assuming the assumed initial public offering price remains the same and after
deducting the estimated underwriting discount. Similarly, each decrease of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares of Class 2 common stock
offered by us would decrease the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value by $     per share and increase the dilution to new investors by
$     per share, assuming the assumed initial public offering price remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discount.
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The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2017, on the pro forma as adjusted basis described above:
 
•  the total number of shares of Class 2 common stock purchased from us by our existing stockholders and by new investors purchasing

shares in this offering;
 

•  the total consideration paid to us by our existing stockholders and by new investors purchasing shares in this offering, assuming an initial
public offering price of $             per share, the midpoint of the range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, before deducting the
estimated underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses payable by us; and

 

•  the average price per share paid by existing stockholders and by new investors purchasing shares in this offering.
 
  Shares Purchased  Total Consideration  Average

Price Per
Share  Number  Percent  Amount  Percent  

Existing stockholders              %  $                     %  $          
New investors        

                      

Total     100.0%    $100.0%  
                      

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $         per share would increase (decrease) the total
consideration paid to us by new investors by $         million assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, remains the same and before deducting the estimated underwriting discount and estimated expenses payable by us.

The number of shares of common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on                shares of common stock outstanding as
of December 31, 2017 and excludes:
 
•                   shares of Class 2 common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2017, with a

weighted-average exercise price of $                per share; and
 

•                   shares of Class 2 common stock reserved for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan as
of December 31, 2017.

To the extent any outstanding options are exercised, new options are issued under our equity incentive plans, or we issue additional shares
of common stock in the future, there will be further dilution to investors participating in this offering. If all outstanding options as of
December 31, 2017 were exercised, then our existing stockholders, including the holders of these options, would own         % and new
investors would own         % of the total number of shares of common stock of outstanding upon the closing of this offering.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the selected consolidated financial data below in conjunction with the section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in
this prospectus. The selected consolidated financial data in this section are not intended to replace the consolidated financial statements and
are qualified in their entirety by the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of entities wholly owned by Tilray, Inc. The following table summarizes certain
selected consolidated financial data. The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016 and 2017 and consolidated statements of
net loss data for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our results in any future period. All financial data is
expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars except for per share data.
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016  2017

   
(in thousands, except

per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Net Loss Data:    
Revenue   $12,644  $20,538 
Cost of sales    9,974   9,161 

         

Gross margin    2,670   11,377 
         

Research and development expenses    1,136   3,171 
Sales and marketing expenses    3,599   7,164 
General and administrative expenses    4,984   8,540 

         

Operating loss    (7,049)   (7,498) 
         

Foreign exchange gain    (186)   (1,363) 
Interest expense    1,019   1,686 
Other (income) expense, net    1   (12) 

         

Net loss   $ (7,883)  $ (7,809) 
         

Pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted(1)    
Basic   $ –  $ (0.09) 
Diluted   $ –  $ (0.09) 

 
(1) Our unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share were calculated to give effect to the automatic conversion of all outstanding

shares of Series A preferred stock into Class 2 common stock in connection with a qualifying initial public offering. The liquidation and
dividend rights are identical among Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock, and all classes of common stock share equally in
our earnings and losses. Accordingly, net loss has been reallocated to Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock on a proportional
basis. For calculating basic and diluted net loss per share, the number of shares was 82,794,042. Since we were in a loss position for all
periods presented, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as diluted net loss per share for all periods as
the inclusion of all potential shares of common stock outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.
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   As of December 31,
   2016   2017
   (dollars in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:     
Cash   $ 7,531   $ 2,323 
Inventory    4,103    7,421 
Total assets    33,093    53,948 
Long-term debt    8,576    9,432 
Total liabilities    30,565    58,800 
Stockholder’s equity (deficit)    2,528    (4,852) 

 
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016  2017
   (dollars in thousands)
Adjusted EBITDA:    

Adjusted EBITDA(1)   $(5,002)  $(5,506) 
 
(1) To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we use Adjusted

EBITDA, as described below, to understand and evaluate our core operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA, which may be different than
similarly titled measures used by other companies, is presented to help investors’ overall understanding of our financial performance and
should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP. We
use the non-GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA, which is defined as net loss, excluding interest expense; other (income)
expense, net; foreign exchange gain; depreciation and amortization; and stock-based compensation expense.

For information on the calculation and limitations of Adjusted EBITDA, see the section titled “Summary Consolidated Financial Data.”
 

   
Year Ended

December 31
   2016  2017
   (dollars in thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation:   
Net loss   $(7,883)  $(7,809) 
Interest expense    1,019   1,686 
Other (income) expense, net    1   (12) 
Foreign exchange gain    (186)   (1,363) 
Depreciation and amortization    1,953   1,853 
Stock-based compensation expense    94   139 

         

Adjusted EBITDA   $(5,002)  $(5,506) 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the section titled
“Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.
Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this prospectus, including information with respect to
our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a
result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the section titled “Risk Factors,” our actual results could differ materially from the
results described in or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Overview
We are pioneering the future of medical cannabis research, cultivation, processing and distribution globally, and we intend to become a

leader in the adult-use cannabis market in Canada once legalized.

We aspire to lead, legitimize and define the future of our industry by building the world’s most trusted cannabis company.

We produce medical cannabis in Canada and Europe, and we have supplied high-quality cannabis products to tens of thousands of
patients in 10 countries spanning five continents through our subsidiaries in Australia, Canada and Germany and through agreements with
established pharmaceutical distributors. In Canada, we are also authorized to distribute certain products on a wholesale basis and to sell
certain products direct to patients through our e-commerce platform or over the phone.

We are witnessing a global paradigm shift with regard to cannabis, and as a result of this shift, the transformation of a multibillion dollar
industry from a state of prohibition to a state of legalization. Medical cannabis is now authorized at the national or federal level in 28 countries.
The legal market for medical cannabis is still in its early stages and we believe the number of countries with legalized regimes will continue to
increase. We believe that as this transformation occurs, trusted global brands with multinational supply chains will become market leaders by
earning the confidence of patients, doctors, governments and adult consumers around the world.

We expect to have a competitive advantage in the Canadian adult-use market pending the adoption of proposed federal legislation and
corresponding provincial legislation that is anticipated to legalize adult-use cannabis in Canada in 2018. In anticipation of adult-use legalization
in Canada, we have negotiated agreements to supply certain provinces and territories with our adult-use products for sale through the
distribution systems they are establishing, subject to the adoption of authorizing legislation.

We were formed as a subsidiary of Privateer Holdings, one of the first institutionally backed private investment firms to focus exclusively on
the cannabis industry. Privateer Holdings’ portfolio of brands also includes Leafly, Marley Natural and Goodship. Following this offering, we
expect that Privateer Holdings will own approximately       % of our equity interest and     % of the voting power in our capital stock. In addition,
we expect that our ongoing relationship with Privateer Holdings will continue to include the provision of certain management services, the
licensing of many of our anticipated adult-use brands and products and certain debt obligations.

For 2016 and 2017, our revenue was $12.6 million and $20.5 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of 62%. For 2016
and 2017, our net loss was $7.9 million and $7.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, our accumulated deficit was $40.5 million.
 

52



Table of Contents

Subsequent Events
In January 2018, the legal entity now holding our business was incorporated under the Delaware General Corporation Law and acquired

100% of the equity interests of Decatur Holdings, B.V., and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, through a contribution agreement with Privateer
Holdings.

In February and March 2018, we issued 7,794,042 shares of our Series A preferred stock in exchange for aggregate cash proceeds of
C$69.2 million.

In February 2018, we entered into a data licence agreement with Leafly, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Privateer Holdings.

In February 2018, we entered into a brand licensing agreement with a wholly owned subsidiary of Privateer Holdings. See the section titled
“Business—Our Adult-use Brands” for more detail.

In February 2018, we entered into a corporate services agreement with Privateer Holdings for the provision of certain general
administrative corporate services.

Key Operating Metrics
We use the following key operating metrics to evaluate our business and operations, measure our performance, identify trends affecting

our business, project our future performance and make strategic decisions.
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change
   2016   2017   Amount  %
Kilogram equivalents sold    2,216    3,024    808   36% 
Kilograms harvested    4,526    6,779    2,253   50 
Average net selling price per gram   $ 5.41   $ 6.48   $ 1.07   20 
Average cost per gram sold   $ 4.02   $ 2.84   $ (1.18)   (29) 

Kilogram equivalents sold. We sell two product categories: (1) dried cannabis, which includes whole flower and ground flower; and
(2) cannabis extracts, which includes full-spectrum and purified oil drops and capsules. The latter products are converted to flower equivalent
grams based on the type and number of dried cannabis grams required to produce extracted cannabis in the form of cannabis oils. This
conversion ratio is based on the amount of active cannabinoids in the products rather than the volume of oil. For example, our 40mL oil drops
are converted to five gram equivalents.

Total kilogram equivalents sold increased by 36% from 2016 to 2017 primarily due to increased patient demand and growth of our extract
products.

Kilograms harvested. Kilograms harvested represents the weight of dried whole plants post harvest, drying and curing. This operating
metric is used to measure the production efficiency of our facilities and production team.

Total kilograms harvested increased by 50% from 2016 to 2017 primarily due to reaching full utilization at Tilray Nanaimo by the end of
2016 and increased production yields per harvest. We will continue to test numerous environmental variables to optimize strain-specific
production yields.

Average net selling price per gram. The average net selling price per gram is an indicator that shows our pricing trends over time on a
gram equivalent basis. We deduct revenue associated with accessories and freight sales from revenue to arrive at cannabis-related revenue.
We calculate
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average net selling price per gram by dividing cannabis-related revenue by kilogram equivalents sold. Our dried flower products are sold in
Canada on a per gram basis from C$6.00 to C$14.00 and our oil drops and capsules are sold for C$35.00 to C$400.00. The prices of our
products vary according to a number of different factors, the most significant factor of which is potency. Premium pricing for our international
export products also contributed favorably to this metric.

The average net selling price per gram increased by 20% from 2016 to 2017, primarily due to the consistent production of high-potency
dried flower and growth in extract sales. According to data from Health Canada, over the past six quarters, dried cannabis sales had a
compound quarterly growth rate, or CQGR, of 8% and cannabis oils had a CQGR of 39%.

Average cost per gram sold. The average cost per gram sold measures the efficiency in our cultivation, manufacturing and fulfillment
operations. We deduct inventory adjustments and the cost of sales related to accessories from total cost of sales to arrive at cannabis-related
cost of sales. Cannabis-related cost of sales is then divided by total kilogram equivalents sold to calculate the average cost per gram sold.

The average cost per gram sold declined from $4.02 in 2016 to $2.84 in 2017, which represents an improvement of 29%. The decline in
average cost per gram sold was primarily due to Tilray Nanaimo reaching full capacity and increased production yields. We also drove
efficiencies through automation in our post-harvest processes across trimming, drying, extraction and fulfillment. Other companies, including
companies in our industry, may calculate key operating metrics with similar names differently which may reduce their usefulness as
comparative measures.

Factors Impacting our Business
We believe that our future success will primarily depend on the following factors.

Global medical market expansion. We believe that we have a significant opportunity to capitalize on cannabis markets globally as
medical cannabis becomes legal in more markets. Medical cannabis is now authorized at the national or federal level in 28 countries. Twenty-
four of these countries have legalized or introduced significant reforms to their cannabis use laws to broaden the scope of permitted use since
the beginning of 2015. Over the past two years, we have established regional offices in Germany and Australia and have invested significant
resources in personnel, partnerships and in-country sales and marketing to build the foundation for new and existing export channels. Our
products are currently available in 10 countries, and we will continue to explore market expansion opportunities as more countries legalize
medical cannabis.

Adult-use legalization in Canada. We believe that the legalization of adult-use cannabis in Canada, anticipated to occur in 2018,
represents a significant opportunity for us. We expect that our existing ACMPR license will allow us to immediately participate in the Canadian
adult-use market, and in anticipation of this, we have invested significant resources into production capacity, brand development, business
development and corporate infrastructure.

Expanding distribution channels. Historically, the vast majority of our revenue has been direct-to-patient, or DTP, in Canada through
sales under the ACMPR. We have also generated revenue through wholesale to other Licensed Producers in Canada. Going forward, we
believe there will be additional wholesale distribution opportunities in Canada in-line with the rest of the world, including finished, packaged
goods. This would drive potentially higher volumes but result in lower margins. In most medical cannabis markets globally, medical cannabis is
sold in traditional pharmacies and, in certain countries, the cost to the consumer is reimbursed by public and private insurance companies. We
expect that Canada ultimately will align with these practices.
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Expanding capacity. At this early stage of the industry, we believe that it is beneficial to be vertically integrated and control our entire
production process to generate consistency and quality on a large scale. As we expand into new and existing markets, we will need to invest
significant resources into cultivation and production facilities, which may require us to raise additional capital.

New product innovation. We believe there is a significant market opportunity for non-combustible products as global medical markets
mature. In certain developed cannabis markets, non-combustible products have surpassed dried flower on a market share basis. In 2016 and
2017, dried flower sales comprised 91% and 81% of cannabis-related revenue, respectively. We believe our success will depend on our ability
to continually develop, introduce and expand non-combustible products and brands, which we believe will have higher gross margins compared
to combustible products.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue
Revenue is comprised of sales to patients through the ACMPR program, bulk sales to other Licensed Producers under the ACMPR and

export sales to third-party distributors, governments, hospitals, pharmacies and patients. Our products currently include: whole flower, ground
flower, full-spectrum cannabis oils and capsules, purified cannabis oils and capsules and accessories. Revenue is net of incentives, after
discounts and allowances for our assurance program and veterans coverage program.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales is mainly comprised of three categories: pre-harvest, post-harvest and shipment and fulfillment. Pre-harvest costs include

labor and direct materials to grow cannabis, which includes water, electricity, nutrients, integrated pest management, growing supplies and
allocated overhead. Post-harvest costs include costs associated with drying, trimming, blending, extraction, purification, quality testing and
allocated overhead. Shipment and fulfillment costs include the costs of packaging, labelling, courier services and allocated overhead. Total cost
of sales also includes cost of sales associated with accessories and inventory adjustments.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist of new product development, clinical trial expenses, study drug production, patient studies

and surveys, pharmacokinetic studies, consultants and legal expenses. Research and development expenses also include process and
systems engineering in both production and manufacturing aspects.

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits, commissions for our employees

engaged in physician and patient support, customer service and public relations. Sales and marketing expenses also include business
development costs to support patient, physician, distributor, hospital, pharmacy and government relationships.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist of costs incurred in our corporate offices, primarily related to personnel costs, which include

salaries, variable compensation and benefits. General and administrative costs also include audit, legal, tax and professional fees and
Privateer Holdings management services fees. Other expenses in this category include general support services associated with the expansion
of our business from a single facility to multiple locations.
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Foreign Exchange Gains and Losses

Foreign exchange gains and losses represent the translation of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the consolidated statement of financial position dates are translated to the
U.S. dollar at the foreign exchange rate applicable as of those dates. Realized and unrealized exchange gains and losses are recognized in the
consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss.

Interest Expense
Interest expense is related to loans from a third-party mortgage on our Tilray Nanaimo property and Privateer Holdings debt facilities. See

the section titled “—Contractual Obligations and Commitments” for additional information.

Income Taxes
We are subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions where we operate or otherwise have a taxable presence. Consequently, income tax

expense is driven by the allocation of taxable income to those jurisdictions. Activities performed in each jurisdiction impact the magnitude and
timing of taxable events.

Discussion of Results of Operations
Financial data is expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars. The following table summarizes our historical consolidated statements of net loss

and comprehensive loss:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   

% of Revenue for
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016   2017   2016  2017
   (dollars in thousands)      

Consolidated Statements of Net Loss Data:        
Revenue   $12,644   $20,538    100%   100% 
Cost of sales    9,974    9,161    79   45 

                   

Gross margin    2,670    11,377    21   55 
                   

Research and development expenses    1,136    3,171    9   15 
Sales and marketing expenses    3,599    7,164    29   35 
General and administrative expenses    4,984    8,540    39   42 

                   

Operating loss    (7,049)    (7,498)    (56)   (37) 
                   

Foreign exchange gain    (186)    (1,363)    (1)   (7) 
Interest expense    1,019    1,686    8   8 
Other (income) expense, net    1    (12)    0   (0) 

                   

Net loss   $ (7,883)   $ (7,809)    (62)%   (38)% 
                   

Other Financial Data        
Adjusted EBITDA(1)   $ (5,002)   $ (5,506)    (40)%   (27)% 
 
(1) See the section titled “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” for more information and for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA.
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Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2017
Revenue

 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change
   2016   2017   Amount   %
   (dollars in thousands)    
Revenue   $12,644   $20,538   $7,894    62% 

Revenue for 2017 increased by $7.9 million, or 62%, compared to 2016.

Revenue growth was driven by increased patient demand, ramp-up of production, new product introductions, bulk sales to other Licensed
Producers and wholesale distribution in export markets. In 2017, we launched new extract products and formulations, including capsules, which
helped drive extract sales in Canada. Our extract products revenue was $1.2 million in 2016 compared to $4.0 million in 2017. On a percentage
of revenue basis, extract products accounted for 9% of revenue in 2016 and 19% of revenue in 2017.

Total kilogram equivalents sold in 2016 was 2,216 and 3,024 in 2017, respectively, representing period over period growth of 36%. The
average net selling price per gram increased from $5.41 to $6.48 over the same time period due to a greater proportion of higher potency dried
flower and extract sales, introduction of capsules and international export sales. We expect the average net selling price per gram to decline
going forward as we shift from primarily a DTP sales channel in ACMPR to wholesale channels serving the anticipated adult-use market in
Canada and developing international medical-use markets.

Cost of sales and gross margin
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,  Change
   2016  2017  Amount  %
   (dollars in thousands)   
Cost of sales   $9,974  $ 9,161  $ (813)   (8)% 
Gross margin    2,670   11,377   8,707   326 
Gross margin percentage    21%   55%   

Cost of sales in 2017 decreased by $0.8 million, or 8%, compared to 2016. Gross margin for 2017 increased by $8.7 million, or 326%,
compared to 2016. This represents a gross margin percentage of 55% in 2017 compared to 21% in 2016.

The improvement in gross margin was attributable to higher pricing per gram, efficiency gains on production costs and the implementation
of automation in post-harvest processes. The results can be seen in our pre-harvest, post-harvest and shipment and fulfillment per gram
metrics. Our pre-harvest cost per gram improved from $1.29 in 2016 to $0.58 in 2017 mainly due to Tilray Nanaimo reaching full utilization and
increased yields per harvest. Our post-harvest cost per gram improved from $1.57 in 2016 to $1.35 in 2017 due to automation efficiencies in oil
extraction, trimming and drying. Our shipment and fulfillment cost per gram improved from $1.16 in 2016 to $0.90 in 2017 due to changing
courier service providers with improved terms. We believe our average cost per gram metric will continue to decline as we bring on large-scale
greenhouse growing operations in Canada and Portugal in 2018.
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Research and development expenses
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change
   2016   2017   Amount   %
   (dollars in thousands)    
Research and development expenses   $1,136   $3,171   $2,035    179% 

Research and development expenses in 2017 increased by $2.0 million, or 179%, compared to 2016. Research and development
expenses were 15% of revenue in 2017 and 9% of revenue in 2016.

The increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.8 million in employee-related expenses and $0.8 million due to professional consulting
fees related to our clinical trials. We also incurred costs related to the production of the clinical study drug and new product development. We
expect our research and development expenses to increase as we pursue more clinical trial opportunities and continue to invest in developing
non-combustible delivery formats and formulations.

Sales and marketing expenses
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change
   2016   2017   Amount   %
   (dollars in thousands)    
Sales and marketing expenses   $3,599   $7,164   $3,565    99% 

Sales and marketing expenses in 2017 increased by $3.6 million, or 99%, compared to 2016. Sales and marketing expenses were 35% of
revenue in 2017 and 29% of revenue in 2016.

Growth in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase of $1.9 million in employee-related expenses and an increase of
$1.4 million due to professional services. We expanded our sales teams globally along with our patient care group, which works directly with
our patients to onboard them and find the right product and dosage. We expect our overall sales and marketing expenses to increase as we
expand into newly regulated federal cannabis markets.

General and administrative expenses
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change
   2016   2017   Amount   %
   (dollars in thousands)    
General and administrative expenses   $4,984   $8,540   $3,556    71% 

General and administrative expenses in 2017 increased by $3.6 million, or 71%, compared to 2016. General and administrative expenses
were 42% of revenue in 2017 and 39% of revenue in 2016.

General and administrative expenses increased due to our global efforts to commercialize and grow our business. Employee-related
expenses increased by $2.4 million due to head count growth. Our legal, tax and professional fees increased by $0.4 million to set up foreign
legal entities and our facilities related expense increased by $0.3 million due to the expansion of production capacity in Canada and Portugal.
Further, our information technology costs increased by $0.3 million due to the implementation of an ERP system. We will continue to pursue
international opportunities as part of our core strategy and invest in the governance and compliance resources necessary to operate in
countries that implement federally regulated medical cannabis frameworks.
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Foreign exchange gain
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 was $1.4 million compared to $0.2 million in 2016. The increase was related to foreign currency transaction

gains on our Privateer Holdings debt facilities.

Interest expense
Interest expense in 2017 was $1.7 million compared to $1.0 million in 2016. Interest expense is related to loans from a third-party

mortgage on Tilray Nanaimo and Privateer Holdings debt facilities.

Net loss and Adjusted EBITDA
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,  Change
   2016  2017  Amount  %
   (dollars in thousands)   
Net loss   $(7,883)  $(7,809)  $ 74   (1)% 
Adjusted EBITDA   $(5,002)  $(5,506)  $(504)   10% 

Net loss in 2017 was $7.8 million compared to $7.9 million in 2016. Adjusted EBITDA loss in 2017 was $5.5 million compared to $5.0
million in 2016. Net loss and Adjusted EBITDA remained relatively flat as the increase in gross profit was offset by the growth in operating
expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary need for liquidity is to fund working capital requirements, capital expenditures, debt service requirements and for general

corporate purposes. Our primary source of liquidity historically has been from funds received from Privateer Holdings and senior secured debt
financing. Our ability to fund operations, make planned capital expenditures and meet debt service requirements depends on future operating
performance and cash flows, which are subject to prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors.

The following table sets forth the major components of our consolidated statements of cash flows for the periods presented:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016   2017
   (in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (3,318)   $ (6,003) 
Net cash used in investing activities    (1,025)    (11,815) 
Net cash provided by financing activities    10,919    12,235 
Effect of foreign currency translation   $ 226   $ 375 

          

Increase (decrease) in cash   $ 6,802   $ (5,208) 
          

Cash, beginning of year   $ 729   $ 7,531 
Cash, ending of year   $ 7,531   $ 2,323 

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $6.0 million in 2017 compared to $3.3 million in 2016. Net loss in 2017 was $7.9 million

compared to $7.8 million in 2016. Other items included depreciation and amortization, which totaled $1.9 million and $2.0 million in 2017 and
2016, respectively. The cash provided by operating activities related to changes in working capital was $0.3 million in 2017 compared to $1.7
million in 2016.
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Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $11.8 million in 2017 compared to $1.0 million in 2016. The increase was primarily due to

expansion projects in Canada and Portugal.

Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $12.2 million in 2017 compared to $10.9 million in 2016. Our financing activities have

primarily consisted of advances on the Privateer Holdings debt facilities and our third-party mortgage. In 2016, net proceeds of the mortgage
were $6.5 million which included the extinguishment of the prior mortgage. In 2016 and 2017, we drew down $4.4 million and $12.4 million,
respectively, from the Privateer Holdings debt facilities.

The table below sets out the cash, inventory and contractual obligations and commitments:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,
   2016   2017
   (in thousands)
Cash   $ 7,531   $ 2,323 
Inventory   $ 4,103   $ 7,421 
Privateer Holdings debt facilities   $20,126   $32,826 
Long-term debt   $ 8,576   $ 9,432 

As of December 31, 2017, we had cash of $2.3 million and no short-term or long-term investments. We raised C$69.2 million, or
approximately $55.1 million, in aggregate gross proceeds in February and March 2018 in our Series A preferred stock financing. We believe
that our existing cash will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, our liquidity
assumptions may prove to be incorrect, and we could utilize our available financial resources sooner than we currently expect. Our future
capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including those set forth in the section titled “Risk
Factors.”

We manage our liquidity risk by preparing budgets and cash forecasts to ensure we have sufficient funds to meet obligations. In managing
working capital, we may limit the amount of our cash needs by: selling inventory at wholesale rates, pursuing additional financing sources and
managing the timing of capital expenditures. While we believe we have sufficient cash to meet working capital requirements in the short term,
we may need additional sources of capital and/or financing, including the proceeds from this offering, to meet planned growth requirements and
to fund construction activities at our cultivation and processing facilities.

As of December 31, 2017, our inventory balance was $7.4 million compared to $4.1 million as of December 31, 2016. As of December 31,
2017, our inventory quantities totaled 3,791 kilogram equivalents, which consisted of 1,961 kilograms of dried flower and 1,830 kilogram
equivalents of cannabis extracts and extract-ready byproduct. This compares to December 31, 2016, when our inventory quantities totaled
2,514 kilogram equivalents, comprised of 1,852 kilograms of dried flower and 662 kilogram equivalents of cannabis extracts and extract-ready
byproduct.

Contractual Obligations

Mortgage
In December 2016, we entered into a mortgage with a financial institution secured by our property at Tilray Nanaimo with Privateer

Holdings as the guarantor. The mortgage is an interest payment only loan of C$12.0 million, or $8.9 million at the time, bearing annual interest
at 11.5%, compounded and
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payable monthly, with an 18-month term, maturing in June 2018. The total amount was C$12.0 million, less deferred financing costs of
C$0.5 million. The outstanding principal and accrued interest on the mortgages originated in 2014 were both fully repaid. The balance of the
mortgage remained C$12.0 million, recorded as $9.4 million as of December 31, 2017.

Privateer Holdings Debt Facilities and Loans
Effective January 1, 2016, we entered into an agreement with Privateer Holdings for a demand revolving credit facility in an aggregate

principal amount not to exceed $25.0 million. As at December 31, 2017, the facility bears interest at a floating rate of 2.54%, reset annually
based on the mid-term applicable federal U.S. rate. As of December 31, 2017, $24.7 million remained outstanding against the facility.

Effective November 1, 2017, we entered into an agreement with Privateer Holdings for a demand revolving construction facility in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $10.0 million to be used for the construction of our High Park Processing Facility in Enniskillen,
Ontario, Canada. Beginning January 1, 2018, the facility bears interest at a floating rate of 2.54%, reset annually based on the mid-term
applicable federal U.S. rate. As of December 31, 2017, $6.4 million remained outstanding against the facility.

As part of our strategic initiative to expand into additional geographic locations, Privateer Holdings provided us with initial working capital
funding in the form of non-interest-bearing loans. The advances are repayable upon demand. As of December 31, 2017, our balance on the
Privateer Holdings non-interest-bearing loan was $1.7 million compared to $0.1 million as of December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2017,
the total balance on our Privateer Holdings debt facilities was $32.8 million compared to $20.1 million as of December 31, 2016.

A summary of our consolidated contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017, based on foreign exchange rates at December 31, 2017,
is as follows:
 
      Payments due by Period:

   

Total
(dollars in

thousands)  < 1 Year   1-3 Years  4-5 Years  > 5 Years
Long-term debt   $ 10,079   $10,079   $ –   $ –   $ – 
Privateer Holdings debt facilities    32,826    32,826    –    –    – 
Operating leases    2,247    481    1,535    231    – 
Capital leases    4,438    772    1,544    1,544    579 

                         

Total   $ 49,590   $44,158   $3,079   $1,775   $ 579 
                         

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements for any of the periods presented.

Corporate Structure
We have nine wholly owned direct and indirect subsidiaries. Tilray Canada, Ltd. was formed on September 6, 2013 under the British

Columbia Business Corporation Act, initially under the name Lafitte Ventures, Ltd., with a subsequent name change to Tilray Canada, Ltd. on
May 4, 2017. Dorada Ventures, Ltd. was formed on October 18, 2013 under the British Columbia Business Corporation Act as a wholly owned
subsidiary of Tilray Canada, Ltd. High Park Farms, Ltd. was formed on February 19, 2016 under the British Columbia Business Corporation
Act, initially under the name Bouchard Ventures Ltd., with a subsequent name change to High Park Farms, Ltd. on February 8, 2018. Decatur
was
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formed on March 8, 2016 as a Dutch private limited liability company (besloten vennootschap) and acquired 100% of the capital stock of Tilray
Canada, Ltd. and High Park Farms, Ltd. by way of a contribution agreement with Privateer Holdings. Tilray Deutschland GmbH was formed on
November 3, 2016 under the German Limited Liability Companies Act (GmbHG), initially under the name Pining Ventures GmbH, with a
subsequent name change to Tilray Deutschland GmbH on June 9, 2017. Tilray Australia New Zealand Pty. Ltd. was formed on May 9, 2017
under the Australian Corporations Act 2001. Tilray Portugal Unipoessal Lda. was formed on April 5, 2017 under Portugal’s Companies Code.
Pardal Holdings Lda. was formed on April 24, 2017 under Portugal’s Companies Code as a majority-owned subsidiary of Tilray Portugal
Unipoessal Lda., with Decatur as the minority shareholder. High Park was formed on February 8, 2018 under the British Columbia Business
Corporation Act. Each of Tilray Deutschland GmbH, Tilray Australia New Zealand Pty. Ltd., Tilray Portugal Unipoessal Lda., and High Park was
formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of Decatur Holdings BV.

The following chart illustrates, as of the date hereof, our corporate structure including details of the jurisdiction of formation of each
subsidiary.
 

Related-Party Transactions
See the section titled “—Contractual Obligations” for details on the Privateer Holdings debt facilities. In addition, see the section titled

“Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions.”

We accrue, but do not currently make cash payments for, management fees charged to us by Privateer Holdings for services performed.
Fees accrued for the provision of management and support services are at cost, whereas business development and research and
development services are charged at cost plus a 3.0% markup. The interest on the management services fee accrues at a floating rate of
2.54%, reset annually based on the mid-term applicable federal U.S. rate. Total Privateer Holdings management service fees in 2017 were
$4.2 million compared to $1.6 million in 2016.
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Contingencies
In the normal course of business, we may receive inquiries or become involved in legal disputes regarding various litigation matters. In the

opinion of management, any potential liabilities resulting from such claims would not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

Segment and Geographic Information
For segment and geographic information refer to Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments that we believe to have the most significant impact on our consolidated

financial statements are described below.

Basis of presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. To the extent relevant, the financial statements include

expense allocations for certain corporate functions historically provided by Privateer Holdings. The assumptions underlying the financial
statements, including the assumptions regarding allocated expenses, reasonably reflect the utilization of services provided to or the benefit
received by us during the periods presented.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared reflecting our historical operations, which was operated as Decatur prior to an

internal reorganization by Privateer Holdings under which Privateer Holdings contributed 100% ownership interest in Decatur to us in January
2018. The financial statements include the accounts of a number of entities wholly-owned by us. All intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Key estimates in these financial statements include the allowance for doubtful
accounts, inventory write-downs, capitalization of internally developed software costs, estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets, valuation allowance of deferred income tax assets, expected usage rate on customer loyalty awards and fair value of
stock options granted under Privateer Holdings stock-based compensation plan. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions
used to determine certain amounts that affect the financial statements are reasonable, based on information available at the time they are
made. To the extent there are differences between these estimates and actual results, our consolidated financial statements may be materially
affected.

Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue as earned when the following four criteria have been met: (i) when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,

(ii) the product has been delivered to a customer, (iii) the sales price is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenue is recognized net of sales incentives, after discounts and allowances for the assurance program and veterans coverage program.

Direct-to-patient sales to patients are recognized when the products are shipped to the customers. Bulk sales under wholesale agreements
are recognized based on the shipping terms of the
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agreements. Export sales under pharmaceutical distribution and pharmacy supply agreements are recognized when products are delivered to
the end customers or patients.

Customer loyalty awards are accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted. A portion of the
consideration received in a transaction that includes the issuance of an award is deferred until the awards are ultimately redeemed. The
allocation of the consideration to the award is based on an evaluation of the award’s estimated fair value at the date of the transaction. The
customer loyalty program was discontinued in September 2017 and all customer loyalty awards expired as at December 31, 2017.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales represents costs directly related to manufacturing and distribution of our products. Primary costs include raw materials,

packaging, direct labor, overhead, shipping and handling and the depreciation of manufacturing equipment and production facilities.
Manufacturing overhead and related expenses include salaries, wages, employee benefits, utilities, maintenance and property taxes. We
recognize the cost of sales as the associated revenues are recognized.

Inventory
Inventory is comprised of raw materials, finished goods and work-in-progress such as pre-harvested cannabis plants and by-products to be

extracted. The costs of growing cannabis including but not limited to labor, utilities, nutrition and irrigation, are capitalized into inventory until the
time of harvest.

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, determined using weighted average cost. Cost includes costs directly related
to manufacturing and distribution of the products. Primary costs include raw materials, packaging, direct labor, overhead, shipping and the
depreciation of manufacturing equipment and production facilities determined at normal capacity. Manufacturing overhead and related
expenses include salaries, wages, employee benefits, utilities, maintenance and property taxes.

Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal and transportation. At the end of each reporting period, we perform an assessment of inventory obsolescence and to
measure inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Factors considered in the determination of obsolescence include slow-moving or
non-marketable items.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Construction in progress includes direct and indirect expenditures for the construction and expansion of our High Park Farms in

Enniskillen, Ontario and is stated at its acquisition cost. Independent contractors perform substantially all of the construction and expansion
efforts of our facility.

Construction in progress includes construction progress payments, deposits, engineering costs, borrowing costs for long-term construction
projects and other costs directly related to the construction of the facilities. Expenditures are capitalized during the construction period and
construction in progress is transferred to the relevant class of property, plant and equipment when the assets are available for use, at which
point the depreciation of the asset commences.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets with the
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exception of land, which is not depreciated. Capital lease assets for which ownership is transferred at the end of the lease, or there is a bargain
purchase option, are amortized over the useful life that would be assigned if the asset were owned.

When assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any related
gain or loss is recognized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Significant expenditures, which extend the useful lives
of assets or increase productivity, are capitalized.

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may
not be recoverable.

Stock-Based Compensation
Our employees have historically participated in Privateer Holdings’ equity-based compensation plan. Equity-based compensation expense

has been allocated to us based on the awards and terms previously granted to the Privateer Holdings employees. We will continue to record
equity-based compensation expense based on Privateer Holdings’ equity-based awards granted to our employees.

We have adopted our own equity-based compensation plan under which all future equity-based awards will be made. The critical
assumptions and estimates used in determining the fair value of stock-based compensation on the grant date are: fair value of the Privateer
Holdings shares on the grant date; volatility of share price; expected forfeiture rate; and expected term. In the future as we make equity awards
under our Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, the fair value of share-based compensation on the grant date will be consistent
with the foregoing but will use the fair value of our Class 2 common stock on the grant date.

Foreign Currency
These financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is our reporting currency. Functional currencies for the entities in these

financial statements are their respective local currencies, including the Canadian dollar, Australian dollar and the Euro.

The assets and liabilities of each entity are translated to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Certain transactions affecting the stockholder’s equity (deficit) are translated at historical foreign exchange rates. The consolidated statements
of net loss and comprehensive loss and statements of cash flows are translated to U.S. dollars applying the average foreign exchange rate in
effect during the reporting period. The resulting translation adjustments are included in other comprehensive income.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency applying the foreign exchange
rate in effect at balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using the average foreign exchange rate for the reporting period.
Realized and unrealized foreign currency differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss.

Emerging Growth Company
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Exchange Act, as modified by the JOBS Act provides that an

emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, for complying
with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We have elected to take advantage of this extended transition period
and as a result of this election, our financial statements may not be
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comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates. We may take advantage of these exemptions up until the last day of
the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the IPO or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We would
cease to be an emerging growth company if we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue, have more than $700 million in market value of
our stock held by non-affiliates (and we have been a public company for at least 12 months, and have filed one annual report on Form 10-K), or
we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt securities over a three-year period.

Quantitative and Qualitative Risks

Interest Rate Risk
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our debt facility and investment in marketable securities. Our

current mortgage, which expires in June 2018, is at a fixed interest rate. We are currently in the process of refinancing the mortgage, which will
be used to repay the mortgage at a more favorable interest rate. However, the new interest rate can fluctuate based on our credit risk and
market conditions.

In February and March 2018, we sold shares of our Series A preferred stock for aggregate gross proceeds of C$69.2 million, or
approximately $55.1 million. A portion of the proceeds is invested within the guidelines of our investment policy, which requires investments to
be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss.

Foreign Currency Risk
Our consolidated financial statements are expressed in the U.S. dollar, but the majority of our net assets and liabilities are denominated in

the Canadian dollar through our operations in Canada. As a result, we are exposed to foreign currency translation gains and losses. Revenue
and expenses of all Canadian operations are translated into the U.S. dollar at the foreign currency exchange rates that approximate the rates in
effect at the dates when such items are recognized. Appreciating foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, including the Canadian dollar,
will adversely impact operating income and net earnings, while depreciating foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar will have positive
impact. In addition, our obligations under our credit facilities with Privateer Holdings are denominated in U.S. dollars. A weakening of the
Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would make it more difficult for us to meet our obligations under our credit facilities with Privateer
Holdings. We have not historically engaged in hedging transactions and do not currently contemplate engaging in hedging transactions to
mitigate foreign exchange risks. As we continue to recognize gains and losses in foreign currency transactions, depending upon changes in
future currency rates, such gains or losses could have a significant, and potentially adverse, effect on our results of operations.

In February and March 2018, we sold shares of our Series A preferred stock for aggregate gross proceeds of C$69.2 million, or
approximately $55.1 million. A portion of the proceeds is invested in U.S. dollars. A depreciating U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar will
negatively impact our cash position to fund Canadian operations, while an appreciating U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar will have the
opposite impact.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for recently adopted accounting

pronouncements and recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of the date of this prospectus.
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LETTER FROM OUR CEO

To Our Stockholders:

We founded Tilray with the goal of becoming the world’s most trusted cannabis company. From our earliest days, we set out to transform
how cannabis is produced, distributed and sold around the world. At each step in our journey, we have sought to define, lead and legitimize the
global potential of our industry.

Today, we are on the cusp of completing a major milestone by becoming the first federally-licensed cannabis company to complete an
initial public offering (IPO) on a major U.S. stock exchange. We believe the capital we raise from the IPO will accelerate our global growth
trajectory by allowing us to expand our multinational supply and distribution network to serve more patients in more countries.

Our accomplishments thus far would not have been possible without the foresight of our earliest investors and the contributions of our
expert team. Together, we are improving patients’ lives and methodically breaking down barriers to end cannabis prohibition and the harms it
causes. With every milestone, we erode the stigma associated with cannabis and raise the standard for cannabis products to a level trusted by
doctors, patients and mainstream adult consumers.

We are building a pioneering company at the forefront of a global paradigm shift. Looking ahead, as governments around the world
increase access to medical cannabis, and as Canada prepares to legalize and regulate cannabis for responsible adult consumption, we are
committed to shaping the future of our industry.

I feel honored to lead Tilray on this incredible journey. I am extremely proud of what our team has accomplished so far and grateful to our
visionary investors for their support in helping to get us to where we are today. I am looking forward to what comes next and I hope you will join
us.

Sincerely,
Brendan Kennedy
Chief Executive Officer
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BUSINESS

Our Vision
We are pioneering the future of medical cannabis research, cultivation, processing and distribution globally, and we intend to become a

leader in the adult-use cannabis market in Canada once legalized.

We aspire to lead, legitimize and define the future of our industry by building the world’s most trusted cannabis company.

Our Beliefs
Our founders started our company because they believe that patients suffering from a diverse range of conditions should be able to access

a safe and reliable supply of pure, precise and predictable cannabis products.

Our company is anchored around three core beliefs:
 
•  Medical cannabis is a mainstream medicine consumed by mainstream patients. Similarly, we believe adult-use cannabis is a mainstream

product consumed by mainstream consumers;
 

•  We are witnessing a global paradigm shift with regard to cannabis, and as a result of this shift, the transformation of a multibillion dollar
industry from a state of prohibition to a state of legalization; and

 

•  As this transformation occurs, trusted global brands with multinational supply chains will win the market by earning the confidence of
patients, doctors, governments and adult consumers around the world.

Our Company
We produce medical cannabis in Canada and Europe, and we have supplied high-quality cannabis products to tens of thousands of

patients in 10 countries spanning five continents through our subsidiaries in Australia, Canada and Germany and through agreements with
established pharmaceutical distributors.

We operate only in countries where cannabis is legal, by which we mean the activities in those countries are permitted under all applicable
federal and state or provincial laws. We do not produce, process or distribute cannabis in the United States, where it remains a controlled
substance under U.S. federal law despite being authorized for medical and adult use by many U.S. states.

We have been an early leader in the development of the global medical cannabis market. We were one of the first companies to be
licensed by Health Canada to cultivate and sell medical cannabis and to receive a Licensed Dealer designation under the NCR. These licenses
allow us to produce and sell medical cannabis in Canada, to develop new and innovative cannabis products and to export medical cannabis
products to other countries in accordance with applicable laws. We have moved quickly, becoming the first company to legally export medical
cannabis from North America to Africa, Australia, Europe and South America, and we were among the first companies to be licensed to
cultivate and process medical cannabis in two countries, Canada and Portugal. Our products are currently available in Argentina, Australia,
Canada, Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Germany, New Zealand and South Africa.

Our company is led by a team of visionary entrepreneurs, experienced operators and cannabis industry experts as well as PhD scientists,
horticulturists and extraction specialists who apply the latest scientific knowledge and technology to deliver quality-controlled, rigorously tested
cannabis products
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on a large scale. We have made significant investments to establish Tilray as a scientifically rigorous medical cannabis brand. Recognizing the
opportunity associated with growing cannabis on a large scale, we have invested capital to develop innovative cultivation practices, proprietary
product formulations and automated production processes. We have also invested in clinical trials and recruited a Medical Advisory Board
comprised of highly accomplished researchers and physicians. We were the first cannabis company with a North American production facility to
be GMP-certified in accordance with EMA standards. An internationally recognized standard, GMP certification is the primary quality standard
that pharmaceutical manufacturers must meet in their production processes.

We believe that our growth to date is a result of our global strategy, our multinational supply chain and distribution network and our
methodical commitment to research, innovation, quality and operational excellence. We believe that recognized and trusted brands distributed
through multinational supply chains will be best-positioned to become global market leaders. Our strategy is to build these brands by
consistently producing high-quality, differentiated products on a large scale.

We expect to have a competitive advantage in the Canadian adult-use market pending the adoption of proposed federal legislation and
corresponding provincial legislation that is anticipated to legalize adult-use cannabis in Canada in 2018. Based on the currently proposed
legislation, we believe our existing medical licenses under the ACMPR will grant us the ability to produce and sell cannabis for the adult-use
market. To capitalize on this opportunity, we have secured the exclusive rights to produce and distribute a broad-based portfolio of adult-use
brands and products in Canada. The brand licensing agreement includes the rights to recognized brands and proprietary formulations for a
wide range of products.

We were formed as a subsidiary of Privateer Holdings, one of the first institutionally backed private investment firms to focus exclusively on
the cannabis industry. Privateer Holdings’ portfolio of brands also includes Leafly, Marley Natural and Goodship. Following this offering, we
expect that Privateer Holdings will own approximately         % of our equity interest and         % of the voting power in our capital stock. In
addition, our ongoing relationship with Privateer Holdings will continue to include the provision of certain management services, the licensing of
many of our anticipated adult-use brands and products and certain debt obligations.

Our Industry
While we believe we are witnessing a global paradigm shift transforming the multibillion dollar cannabis industry from a state of prohibition

to a state of legalization, the legal market is still in its early stages. Moreover, we expect the number of countries with legalized regimes to
continue to increase, creating numerous and sizable opportunities for market participants, including us. According to the United Nations, the
global cannabis market, including the illicit market, is estimated to be $150 billion annually, and approximately 3.8% of the adult population are
estimated to be cannabis users.
 

69



Table of Contents

Global Medical Market
Although cannabis is still heavily regulated, medical use is now authorized at the national or federal level in 28 countries. The pace of

regulatory change globally has been rapid, with more than 24 countries having introduced significant reforms to their cannabis use laws to
broaden the scope of permitted use since the beginning of 2015. Given many countries have only recently legalized medical cannabis and, in
many cases, only within narrowly defined parameters, we expect significant growth of cannabis products within these countries as these
parameters are broadened and adoption increases.

Canada
The Canadian medical cannabis industry has experienced extensive growth since 2014. According to data published by Health Canada,

there were 7,914 patients registered to use cannabis in Canada under the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes, or the ACMPR, in June
2014, which had increased to 235,621 registered patients as of September 2017. Health Canada projects the Canadian medical cannabis
market will reach 450,000 registered patients and C$1.3 billion in annual value by 2024.
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European Union
With a population of more than 500 million and the largest regional economy in the world, we expect the European Union to eventually

become the largest medical cannabis market. This is expected to be driven by the availability of medical cannabis through government-
subsidized health care systems. Currently, 10 of the 28 countries in the European Union have authorized medical cannabis use with an
additional two countries, Denmark and Luxembourg, having authorized multi-year pilot programs in advance of permanent authorization. Some
of these countries allow the import of only small quantities of cannabis for patient use, while others, such as the Czech Republic, Italy and the
Netherlands, have developed regulations governing limited domestic cultivation for medical use. We expect the European market to grow as
established medical programs are expanded, as adoption by physicians and patients increases and as more countries introduce medical
programs. Prohibition Partners projects a €36 billion annual medical cannabis market in Europe based on a fully legal and regulated market.

We believe that Germany, which legalized medical cannabis in March 2017, presents the largest market opportunity in the European Union
in the near term. While the German market is still in its early stages, its population, GDP and regulatory framework, which enables insurance
company coverage of medical cannabis claims for certain conditions, lead us to believe there is substantial market potential. Prohibition
Partners projects a €10 billion annual medical cannabis market in Germany based on a fully legal and regulated market.

Rest of World
While Canada and the European Union represent the largest near-term opportunities with regard to medical sales, many other countries

around the world are also legalizing medical cannabis at a rapid pace. Australia, Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Chile, New Zealand and South
Africa are among countries that have legalized medical cannabis for certain accepted uses.
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Adult Use
In 2018, Canada is expected to become the first major industrialized nation to legalize adult-use cannabis at both the federal and provincial

levels. With legalization, we expect most illicit cannabis consumption to transition to the legal market. In the 2016 publication by Deloitte
Insights and Opportunities, Recreational Marijuana, the projected size of the Canadian adult-use market ranged from C$4.9 billion to
C$8.7 billion annually.

Our Opportunity
We are approaching our industry from a long-term, global perspective and see opportunities to:

Build global brands that lead, legitimize and define the future of cannabis. Historically, cannabis has been an unbranded product. As
the legal cannabis industry emerges in more countries around the world, we see an opportunity to create a broad-based portfolio of
differentiated professional brands that appeal to a diverse set of patients and consumers. We believe that we have the ability to develop
dominant global brands and that as we develop these brands, we will expand the addressable market for our products.

Develop innovative products and form factors that change the way the world consumes cannabis. We believe the future of the
cannabis industry lies primarily in non-combustible products that will offer patients and consumers alternatives to smoking. We see an
opportunity to partner with established pharmaceutical, food, beverage and consumer product companies to develop new non-combustible
form factors that will appeal to consumers who are not interested in smoking cannabis. By developing these products, we believe we will
expand the addressable market for our products.

Expand the availability of pure, precise and predictable medical cannabis products for patients in need around the world. Over
the past four years we have seen significant increases in demand from patients and governments for pharmaceutical-grade cannabis products.
We believe we are well-positioned to expand availability of these products to more patients in more countries as medical cannabis is
increasingly recognized as a viable treatment option for patients suffering from a variety of diseases and conditions. Importantly, most
European countries have required that all medical products sold be sourced from GMP-certified facilities. As such, GMP-certified producers,
such as us, are well-positioned to establish market share in the European medical cannabis market.

Foster mainstream acceptance of the therapeutic potential of medical cannabis and cannabinoid-based medicines. We see an
opportunity to significantly expand the global market for medical cannabis products by conducting clinical research into the safety and efficacy
of medical cannabis for a diverse range of conditions. By generating clinical data demonstrating the safety and efficacy of medical cannabis
and cannabinoid-based medicines for various conditions, we see an opportunity to significantly expand and dominate the global medical
cannabis market.

Our Strengths
We are a global pioneer with a multinational supply chain and distribution network. In a fragmented industry, we believe we are one

of the only cannabis companies to establish a global footprint. We were the first cannabis producer to export medical cannabis from North
America and legally import cannabis into the European Union. We have licenses to cultivate cannabis in Canada and Portugal. Today, our
products are available in 10 countries spanning five continents. To distribute our medical products today and in the future, we have signed
agreements or binding letters of intent with established pharmaceutical distributors and retailers including Sandoz Canada Inc., a division of
Novartis, Shoppers Drug Mart Inc., or Shoppers, Canada’s largest pharmacy chain, Pharmasave Drugs (National) Ltd., or Pharmasave, one of
Canada’s leading independent pharmacy chains, and
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Noweda, one of Germany’s largest pharmaceutical distributors. We have also signed letters of intent to supply adult-use cannabis to two
provinces when legalization occurs in Canada, and we intend to sign similar agreements to supply crown corporations and private retailers in
other provinces and territories later this year.

We have a scientifically rigorous medical cannabis brand approved by governments to supply patients and researchers on five
continents. Governments in 10 countries have issued permits allowing our medical cannabis products to be imported for distribution to
patients. We believe governments have approved the importation of our products in part because of our reputation for being a scientifically
rigorous medical cannabis company known for delivering safe, high-quality products. We are committed to advancing scientific knowledge
about the therapeutic potential of cannabis, as demonstrated by our success receiving federal authorizations to supply cannabinoid products to
clinical trials in Australia and Canada and by recruiting a Medical Advisory Board comprised of highly accomplished researchers and physicians
specializing in autism, epilepsy, cancer, dermatology and neuropathic pain.

We have secured the exclusive rights to bring a broad-based portfolio of adult-use brands and products to Canadian consumers
when adult-use legalization occurs. The brand licensing agreement between a wholly owned subsidiary of ours and a wholly owned
subsidiary of Privateer Holdings provides us with intellectual property that we believe will give us a competitive advantage when the adult-use
market launches in Canada. The brand licensing agreement includes the rights to recognized brand names and proprietary product
formulations for a wide range of products.

We have a track record for pioneering research and innovation within our industry. We believe our commitment to research and
innovation at this early stage of our industry’s development differentiates us and gives us a competitive advantage. We have invested
significant capital to develop innovative cultivation practices and facilities and proprietary product formulations. Our Licensed Dealer
designation under the NCR gives us a competitive advantage because it allows us to access a global marketplace for product formulations and
form factors that are currently not approved for sale under the ACMPR.

We have developed a rigorous, proprietary production process to ensure consistency and quality as we increase the scale of our
operations globally. We pride ourselves on consistently delivering high-quality products with precise chemical compositions. We were the first
cannabis company with a North American production facility to be GMP certified in accordance with EMA standards. We believe GMP
certification provides regulators and health care providers in countries new to medical cannabis with confidence that our products are a safe,
high-quality choice.

We have a highly experienced management team. We believe our management team is one of the most knowledgeable and
experienced in the cannabis industry. We recognize that our industry is in the early stages of its development and that we are taking a long-
term, global view towards its development. Our management team has significant experience evaluating potential transactions, partnerships
and other growth opportunities, and we pride ourselves on making investment decisions that we believe will allow us to grow our business over
the long term.

Our Growth Strategy
We aspire to build the world’s most trusted global cannabis company through the following key strategies:

Expanding our production capacity in North America and Europe to meet current and expected long-term demand growth. To
capitalize on the market opportunity in Canada and globally,
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we are investing aggressively to expand our production capacity and to automate certain cultivation, processing and packaging processes to
gain efficiencies as we increase the scale of our operations.

Partnering with established distributors and retailers. As the industry evolves, we believe that the distribution of medical cannabis will
increasingly mirror the distribution of other pharmaceutical products. Likewise, we believe the distribution of adult-use cannabis will increasingly
mirror the distribution of other consumer packaged goods for adult use such as alcohol. In order to efficiently and rapidly increase our scale, we
are partnering with established pharmaceutical distributors, pharmacy retailers and other organizations expected to become authorized
adult-use retailers.

Developing a differentiated portfolio of brands and products to appeal to diverse sets of patients and consumers. We have
established Tilray as a global pioneer shaping the future of the medical cannabis industry by developing a portfolio of high-quality medical
cannabis and cannabinoid-based products ranging from dried flower to capsules to oils to well-defined clinical preparations. We will continue to
invest in a differentiated portfolio of brands and products to appeal to a wide variety of patients and consumers. We will prioritize the
development of non-combustible products that offer an alternative to smoking, which we believe will account for the majority of products on the
market over the long term.

Expanding the addressable medical market by investing in clinical research and winning the trust of regulators, researchers and
physicians in countries new to medical cannabis. We are expanding our addressable medical market by working collaboratively with
regulators to implement safe access programs for patients. We provide clinical data to physicians and researchers on the safety and efficacy of
medical cannabis in order to foster mainstream acceptance and enhance our reputation.

Maintaining a rigorous and relentless focus on operational excellence and product quality. We have strategically invested ahead of
our growth in our operations, including cultivation, manufacturing and multi-channel distribution. In doing so, we have developed a quality
management system that enables us to meet the requirements of regulatory agencies in the markets where we export products, while
consistently delivering high-quality products. As we continue to grow, we have the opportunity to leverage these investments while maintaining
the highest level of safety and quality.

Pioneering innovation within our industry. We have filed three patents in the fields of cannabis processing technology, grinding
technology, formulations and treatment methods. Currently, we have exclusive rights to at least 22 issued or pending patents, several of which
allow for a process aimed at significantly shortening the drying and curing periods. We have also developed a number of innovative and
proprietary programs designed to improve efficiency and overall product quality, and we are partnering with established pharmaceutical
companies and distributors to create co-branded products. We believe our industry is ripe for innovation and that investments in innovation in
partnership with established companies will differentiate us and position us to become a dominant leader in our industry over the long term. Our
clinical strategy is designed to establish partnerships with leading research institutions to generate safety and efficacy data that can inform
treatment decisions, lead to the development of new products, to position us to register medicines for market authorization and to enable us to
obtain insurance reimbursement where feasible.

Our Brands and Products
Our brand and product strategy centers on developing a broad-based portfolio of differentiated cannabis brands and products designed to

appeal to diverse sets of patients and consumers. Since 2010, members of our management team have been conducting research in more
than a dozen countries by consulting third-party industry databases with market and consumer insights data
 

74



Table of Contents

available in various cannabis markets around the world, by commissioning proprietary third-party research and by licensing intellectual property
from established cannabis brands. In particular, our data licensing agreement with Leafly gives us insight into which brands and products
cannabis patients and consumers desire in Canada.

Our Medical Brand: Tilray
The Tilray brand is designed to target the global medical market by offering a wide range of high-quality medical cannabis and

cannabinoid-based products. We offer our products to patients, physicians, pharmacies, governments, hospitals and researchers for
commercial purposes, compassionate access and clinical research.

We believe patients choose Tilray because we are a scientifically rigorous brand known for producing pure, precise and predictable
medical-grade products. We have successfully grown over 50 strains of cannabis and developed a wide variety of extract products and
formulations. Our portfolio of medical cannabis products includes the following form factor platforms:
 
•  Whole flower (available in 5 or 15 gram containers)
 

•  Ground flower (available in 15 gram containers)
 

•  Full-spectrum oil drops and capsules (oil drops are available in 25mL and 40mL sizes and capsules are available in 25, 40 or 50 unit
packages)

 

•  Purified oil drops and capsules (oil drops are available in 25mL and 40mL sizes and capsules are available in 25, 40 or 50 unit packages)
 

•  Clinical compounds (packaging and quantities customized based on application)

Each form factor platform is divided into three different product categories that correspond with the particular chemical composition of each
product based on the concentration of two active ingredients: THC and CBD. The categories are THC-Dominant, CBD-Dominant and THC and
CBD Balanced.

Our product line focuses on active ingredients and standardized, well-defined preparation methods. We use formulations and delivery
formats that are intended to allow for consistent and measured dosing, and we test all of our products for potency and purity. Each of our
commercial products are developed with comprehensive analysis and thorough documentation, including stability profiles, certificates of
analysis, monographs and drug master files. We follow detailed and rigorous documentation standards not only for our own internal purposes
but also because this type of documentation is required by researchers, regulators, importers and distributors.

We take a scientific approach to our medical-use product development, which we believe gives us credibility and respect in the medical
community. We produce products that are characterized by well-defined and reproducible cannabinoid and terpene, the fragrant oil, content,
formulated for stable pharmacokinetic profiles, which are customizable in a variety of formulations and available in capsule or liquid forms. We
continue to conduct extensive research and development activities as well as develop and promote new products for medical use. We are also
currently working with established pharmaceutical companies, such as Sandoz Canada, a division of Novartis, to develop non-combustible,
co-branded products for sale in pharmacies when regulations permit.

Our Adult-Use Brands
In anticipation of adult-use legalization in Canada, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours secured the exclusive rights from a wholly owned

subsidiary of Privateer Holdings to produce and distribute a broad-based portfolio of adult-use brands and products in Canada. The brand
licensing agreement includes the rights to recognized brands and proprietary product formulations for a wide range of products.
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When proposed Canadian federal legislation and corresponding provincial legislation authorizing the adult use of cannabis comes into
effect, we intend to produce and distribute these brands and products to Canadian consumers through High Park. Edibles are not anticipated to
be permitted under Canadian adult-use regulations initially, but we anticipate that they will be allowed within 12 months of implementation of
federal legalization.

Although the products and form factors that will be authorized under Canadian legislation are yet to be determined, we believe that the
brands and products we have licensed to bring to Canada through High Park will give us a competitive advantage in the market.
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These brands include:
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Our Operations
We are building a multinational supply chain and distribution network in order to capitalize on the global medical cannabis market and the

anticipated adult-use market in Canada.
 
•  Tilray Head Office – Toronto, Ontario. Our global head office is located in Toronto where the majority of our senior leadership team is

based, along with our finance, sales and marketing functions.
 

•  Tilray European Union Regional Office – Berlin, Germany. Our executive, finance, sales, marketing, operations and regulatory support
staff for Europe are located in Germany.

 

•  Tilray Australia and New Zealand Regional Office – Sydney, Australia. Our sales, marketing and operations team focused on Australia
and New Zealand are based in Sydney.

 

•  Tilray North America Campus – Nanaimo, British Columbia. We believe that Tilray Nanaimo is one of the world’s most sophisticated,
technologically advanced licensed cannabis production facilities. Tilray Nanaimo is a 60,000-square foot facility. It houses approximately
40,000 plants in 33 cultivation rooms, five manufacturing and processing rooms and three laboratories, including an advanced extraction
laboratory, all of which allow us to produce more than 50 distinct cannabis strains and various cannabis extract products. The primary
purpose of Tilray Nanaimo is to continue to serve the Canadian medical market and the global medical export market for the near term.
Tilray Nanaimo is licensed by Health Canada and is GMP certified by multiple EU Competent Authorities. It also features a patient and
physician service center that is open 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

 

•  Tilray European Union Campus – Cantanhede, Portugal. In July 2017, we were awarded a federal license by Portugal’s National
Authority of Medicines and Health Products to cultivate, import and export medical cannabis at Tilray Portugal. Tilray Portugal will serve as
our primary supply source for patients in the European Union that have access to cannabis-derived products. Locating cultivation and
manufacturing operations in the European Union results in easier and more cost-effective product shipping from one EU country to another.
Although each EU member state has its own health and drugs regulatory body, these entities have ongoing cooperation mechanisms that
promote similar, though not equal, treatment for medical cannabis, which we believe will facilitate cannabis product sales from Portugal into
other EU countries.
We purchased 10 acres of land and are in the process of building a 109,000 square foot greenhouse, a 65,000 square foot outdoor grow
plot and a 40,000 square foot processing facility on this property with an expected completion date in the third quarter of 2018. We are
leasing 2,800 square feet of laboratory space in an adjacent biotechnology park, where we are currently cultivating cannabis plants for
further propagation into the greenhouse. We expect our first harvest at Tilray Portugal to occur in fall 2018.

 

•  High Park Farms – Enniskillen, Ontario. We are in the process of repurposing 13 acres of existing non-cannabis greenhouses on a
100-acre site in Enniskillen, Ontario, to serve as High Park Farms. We have a three-year lease with an option to extend for another three
years. We also have a purchase option on the property, which is exercisable at any time during the term of the lease, including the renewal
term. We expect the construction of the initial greenhouse to be completed by April 2018. We expect the facility to be licensed under the
ACMPR and to primarily serve the Canadian adult-use market. The first harvest is expected to be completed before the adult-use
implementation in Canada. The maximum capacity for this parcel is a 20-acre greenhouse.

 

•  High Park Processing Facility – London, Ontario. We entered into a 10-year lease in February 2018 for a 56,000-square foot
processing facility in London, Ontario. We have two five-year extension options. We also have a purchase option on the property, which is
exercisable in 2022 or 2027. This facility will handle all post-harvest production from cannabis harvested at the High Park
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 Farms. We expect the High Park Processing Facility to be licensed and operational during the third quarter of 2018.

Total Global Production and Processing Capacity
Once we complete the initial development of the additional production facilities described above and have obtained the required

amendments to our licenses as Licensed Producer to operate at those facilities, we believe that our total production space across all facilities
worldwide will total approximately 886,000 square feet by the end of 2018. We believe our current facilities together with the maximum potential
development of the parcels we currently own would be more than 1.9 million square feet by the end of 2019. The table below summarizes our
production and processing space upon completion of the initial development described above, as well as potential maximum development.
 

Sales and Distribution
Pharmaceutical distribution and pharmacy supply agreements. We work with established pharmaceutical distributors and pharmacy

suppliers to sell our products around the world.
 
•  In Canada, we have entered into a definitive agreement to supply Shoppers, the largest pharmacy chain in Canada, with our cannabis

products, pending approval of Shoppers’ application to become a Licensed Producer. We believe we are one of four Licensed Producers
who have entered into supply agreements with Shoppers. We have also signed a binding letter of intent to be a preferred supplier of
cannabis products to Pharmasave, one of the largest independent pharmacy chains in Canada. We have also signed an exclusive, binding
letter of intent with Sandoz Canada, a division of Novartis, to market our non-combustible products to health care practitioners and
pharmacists and to co-develop new cannabis products.

 

•  In Germany, we have partnered with Noweda, a cooperative comprised of approximately 9,000 pharmacists with a network of 16,000
pharmacies throughout Germany and one of the largest wholesalers of pharmaceutical products in Germany, to fulfill prescriptions of our
medical cannabis products across Germany.

 

•  Elsewhere around the world, we have agreements with distributors in Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech
Republic, New Zealand, Peru and South Africa.
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Adult-use supply agreements. In anticipation of adult-use legalization in Canada in 2018, we have negotiated agreements to supply
certain provinces and territories with cannabis products, subject to the adoption of authorizing legislation. We anticipate signing additional
agreements in other provinces as well.
 
•  In Quebec, we have signed a letter of intent to supply Quebec’s Société des alcools du Quebec, or SAQ, with initially up to 5,000 kilograms

of cannabis products per year for three years, subject to the execution of a definitive agreement. We believe that we are one of only six
Licensed Producers selected to supply SAQ.

 

•  In Manitoba, we have signed a binding letter of intent with National Access Cannabis Corp., or NAC, one of four retailers conditionally
approved to operate retail cannabis stores in the province of Manitoba, to supply up to 3,000 kilograms of cannabis flower and 4,000 liters
of cannabis oil annually for five years.

 

•  We expect to announce additional supply agreements with crown corporations or private entities in Alberta, British Columbia and Ontario,
as well as provinces in Atlantic Canada.

Direct-to-patient. In Canada, ACMPR-registered medical cannabis patients order from us primarily through our e-commerce platform or
over the phone. In Canada, medical cannabis is and will continue to be delivered by secured courier or other methods permitted by the
ACMPR. The DTP channel accounts for the majority of our medical sales.

We anticipate DTC will also be an component of our adult-use sales that are not made under supply agreements with crown corporations
and private retailers, to the extent permitted by applicable provincial legislation to be adopted governing the distribution of adult-use cannabis.

Wholesale. In Canada, we are also authorized to wholesale bulk dried cannabis flower and bulk formulated and unformulated oil to other
Licensed Producers under the ACMPR. The wholesale sales and distribution channel requires minimal selling, general, administrative and
fulfillment costs. We
 

80



Table of Contents

believe there is the potential to wholesale finished, packaged products to other Licensed Producers over time.

Our Commitment to Research and Innovation
We believe that our strength as a medical brand is rooted in our commitment to research and development. Our research and development

program focuses on developing innovative products, including novel delivery systems and precisely formulated cannabinoid products, and on
the creation and improvement of methods, processes and technologies that allow us to efficiently manufacture such products on a large scale.

Patents and proprietary programs. Our commitment to innovation is a core tenet. We have filed three patents in the fields of cannabis
processing technology, cannabis grinding technology, cannabis formulations and treatment methods. We have exclusive rights to at least
22 issued or pending patents, several of which allow for a process aimed at significantly shortening the drying and curing periods. We have
developed a number of innovative and proprietary programs designed to improve efficiency and overall product quality, including: a micro-
propagation program that allows for the mass production of disease-free cannabis plants; methods and formulations to improve cannabinoid
bioavailability and stability; preservation methods that allow for improved smell, texture and flavor of cannabis products; an integrated pest
management system; proprietary plant trimming machines to minimize manufacturing waste; and software improvements to optimize
manufacturing, inventory and distribution processes.

Trademarks and trade dress. We invest heavily in our growing trademark portfolio and hold 19 trademark registrations in a variety of
countries, including Canada, the United States, the European Union, Australia, Israel and several countries in South America and Asia. In
addition, as a result of our wholly owned subsidiary’s brand licensing agreement with a wholly owned subsidiary of Privateer Holdings, we have
exclusive access in Canada to a number of strong marks, both registered and applied-for, including Marley Natural and Goodship.

Clinical trials. Participation in clinical trials is a differentiating element of our research and development program. We believe that the
development of scientific data surrounding medical cannabis will increase mainstream acceptance within the medical community. As such, we
have developed techniques that achieve clinical grade isolates in order to facilitate participation in clinical trials conducted by select research
partners. Our participation in clinical studies includes supplying the study drug as well as regulatory documentation for the study drug and
providing assistance in designing the protocol and determining the formulation of the study drug. In some cases, we provide funding for the
study itself and/or pharmacokinetic data on the specific study drug. Although some trials, such as the chemotherapy-induced nausea and
vomiting, or CINV, trial described below, are undertaken with an aim toward market authorization, most of the trials we participate in serve to
generate early phase data that can be used to support patent filings, basic prescribing data for physicians and signals of efficacy to narrow our
focus for future investigational drug products. We leverage our research by educating physicians about the unique benefits of cannabis in
various treatments, which we believe helps to promote the Tilray brand as the most trusted brand in the industry and increases physical
referrals. Our Medical Advisory Board, consisting of experts in a variety of areas, participates in the clinical trial selection process and provides
us with additional credibility as a clinical trial participant.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in phases, with Phase I confirming the safety of the drug, Phase II further analyzing the drug’s efficacy
and Phase III comparing the new drug against the standard treatment for the disease being studied. Below is a list of the clinical trials with
which we are
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currently involved. In addition, we are currently awaiting regulatory approval for the initiation of additional clinical trials targeting essential tremor
and glioblastoma.
 

Regulatory Environment

Canadian Medical Use
Medical cannabis in Canada is regulated by the federal government under the ACMPR, which was adopted in 2016, superseding earlier

regulations that were adopted in 2013. Under the ACMPR, individuals with a valid medical authorization may, among other things, purchase
cannabis from a Licensed Producer such as us. Licensed Producers are required to obtain and maintain a license from Health Canada for the
cultivation and sale of cannabis and comply with the production, security, recordkeeping, reporting and other requirements of the ACMPR.

In addition to the ACMPR, the NCR was also enacted under the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, or the CDSA. Within these
regulations are the processes, descriptions and limitations relating to the licensing of dealers pursuant to the CDSA. As a Licensed Dealer we
are authorized to engage in additional activities that involve a narcotic, which currently includes cannabis, and are beyond the scope of the
ACMPR. For example, the ACMPR allows for importation and exportation of limited forms (e.g. dried cannabis, seeds and plants), while a
Licensed Dealer is able to import and export a wider variety of forms (e.g. concentrates, oils and other forms of extracts).

Canadian Adult-Use
In April 2017, the Government of Canada introduced the Cannabis Act. The following are the highlights of the proposed legislation:

 
•  Allows individuals over the age of 18 to purchase, possess and cultivate limited amounts of cannabis for recreational purposes. Each

province will also be permitted to adopt its own laws governing the distribution, sale and consumption of cannabis and cannabis accessory
products, such as vaporizers, within the province, and those laws may set lower maximum permitted quantities for individuals and higher
age requirements.
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•  Existing licenses issued to Licensed Producers for medical cannabis production and sale under the ACMPR are deemed a license issued
under the Cannabis Act. This will provide existing Licensed Producers with a significant advantage in entering the Canadian adult-use
market upon legalization.

 

•  Promotion, packaging and labelling of cannabis will be strictly regulated. For example, promotion is largely restricted to the place of sale,
and promotions that appeal to underage individuals are prohibited.

 

•  Dried cannabis and oils are permitted for retail sale. Currently edibles will not be permitted for retail sale, although the Government of
Canada has indicated that they will be permitted no later than 12 months after the legislation comes into force.

 

•  Export is restricted to medical cannabis, cannabis for scientific purposes and industrial hemp.

The Cannabis Act was passed by the House of Commons in November 2017, is currently being reviewed by Senate and is expected to
become law in 2018.

Provincial and territorial governments have announced plans for the distribution and retail of adult-use cannabis and are working to ensure
these respective systems are in place by the time federal legalization occurs. The retail-distribution models vary nationwide: Ontario, Quebec,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island have adopted a government-run model for retail and distribution; British Columbia,
Alberta, Manitoba and Newfoundland have adopted a hybrid model with some aspects, including stores, distribution and online retail being
government-run while allowing for private retail; Saskatchewan has announced a fully private system; and the three northern territories of
Yukon, Northwest Territories and Nunavut have adopted a model that mirrors their government-run liquor distribution model.

All provinces and territories are actively working to secure supply agreements from existing Licensed Producers for their respective
markets. Quebec, Manitoba, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Prince Edward Island have already announced letters of intent with certain
Licensed Producers. We expect that the other provinces and territories will be seeking proposals. We expect the DTC mail order system to be a
critical component of the adult-use market, to the extent permitted under the provincial laws governing distribution that are adopted.

European Union Medical Use
While each country in the European Union has its own laws and regulations, there are many commonalities in how the medical cannabis

markets for EU countries are developing. For example, in order to ensure quality and safe products for patients, many EU countries only permit
the import and sale of medical cannabis when the manufacturer can demonstrate certification by a recognized health regulator, or Competent
Authority, of compliance with GMP standards. The European Union requires adherence to GMP standards for the manufacture of active
substances and medicinal products, including cannabis products. Under the system for certification of GMP adopted in the European Union, a
Competent Authority of any EU member state may conduct an inspection at a drug manufacturing site and, if satisfied that the GMP standards
are met, issue a certificate of GMP compliance to the manufacturer for specified elements of the manufacturing process being carried on at that
site. Each country in the European Union will generally recognize a GMP certificate issued by any Competent Authority within the European
Union as evidence of compliance with GMP standards. Certificates of GMP compliance issued by a Competent Authority in another country
outside of the European Union will also be recognized if that country has a mutual recognition agreement with the European Union.

Competitive Conditions

As of March 11, 2018, 91 licenses were issued by Health Canada. To our knowledge, only a limited number of licenses are issued by
Health Canada on a monthly basis, although Health Canada
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has recently streamlined its license review process and accelerated its rate of approvals in anticipation of adult-use legalization. Health Canada
licenses are limited to individual properties and are for specified maximum production levels. As such, if a Licensed Producer has reached its
maximum authorized production level at its licensed site or seeks to commence production at a new site, it must apply to Health Canada for a
new license.

As the demand for medical cannabis increases and the application backlog with Health Canada is processed, we believe that new
competitors will enter the market. The principal competitive factors on which we compete with other Licensed Producers are the quality and
variety of cannabis products, brand recognition and physician familiarity.

Employees

As of February 28, 2018, we employed 245 total employees, 241 of which are full-time employees, and engaged contractors located in
Canada, Germany, Portugal, Ireland, the United States, Australia and the Czech Republic, including 170 employees in research, product
development, engineering and operations and logistics, 38 employees in general and administrative and 37 employees in sales and marketing.
We consider relations with our employees to be good and have never experienced a work stoppage. None of our employees are either
represented by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently a
party to any legal proceedings the outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.
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MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors
Prior to the effectiveness of this registration statement, we will disclose, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC,

information about the persons whom we expect to serve as our directors and other executive officers following this offering.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our current executive officers and directors as of February 28, 2018:
 
Name       Age      Position(s)
Brendan Kennedy   45   President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Edward Wood Pastorius, Jr.   50   Chief Revenue Officer
Mark Castaneda   53   Chief Financial Officer
Michael Auerbach   42   Director
 
(1) Member of the compensation committee.
(2) Member of the audit committee.
(3) Member of the nominating and corporate governance committee.

Executive Officers
Brendan Kennedy has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and member of our board of directors since January 2018 and

has served as the Chief Executive Officer and member of the board of directors of our subsidiary, Tilray Canada Ltd., since 2016. Mr. Kennedy
also serves as the Chief Executive Officer and member of the board of directors of Privateer Holdings, a private investment firm focused
exclusively on the cannabis industry, since he founded it in October 2011. Prior to founding Privateer Holdings, Mr. Kennedy served as the
Chief Operating Officer of Silicon Valley Bank Analytics from 2010 to 2011 and Managing Director from 2006 to 2010. Mr. Kennedy holds a BA
from the University of California, Berkeley, an MS in Engineering from the University of Washington and an MBA from the Yale School of
Management. We believe Mr. Kennedy is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his role as a founder of our company, his deep
knowledge of our company and his extensive background in our industry.

Edward Wood Pastorius, Jr. has served as our Chief Revenue Officer since March 2018 and has served as the President, North America
of our subsidiary, Tilray Canada Ltd., since November 2016. Mr. Pastorius is also the co-owner of Upstart Advisers, a business consulting
company, and Elevation Partners, a specialty sales training company. Mr. Pastorius served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of
mywedding.com, a Meredith Corp. Company, from October 2009 to June 2016. Mr. Pastorius holds a BA from Colorado State University and an
MBA from the New York Institute of Technology–Old Westbury.

Mark Castaneda has served as our Chief Financial Officer since March 2018. Mr. Castaneda previously served as the Chief Financial
Officer and Assistant Treasurer of Primo Water Corporation, a publically traded water marketing and distribution company, from March 2008 to
January 2018. From October 2007 to March 2008, Mr. Castaneda served as the Chief Financial Officer for Tecta America, Inc., a private
national roofing contractor, and from October 2004 to August 2006, he served as Chief Financial Officer for Pike Electric Corporation, a
publicly-traded energy solutions provider, where he helped lead its initial public offering in July 2005. Mr. Castaneda also served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Blue Rhino Corporation from November 1997 to October 2004 and as a member of the board of directors of Blue Rhino
Corporation from September 1998 to April 2004. Mr. Castaneda helped lead
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Blue Rhino’s initial public offering in May 1998. Mr. Castaneda began his career with Deloitte & Touche in 1988 and is a certified public
accountant. Mr. Castaneda has served on the Audit Committee of Ranir Global Holdings, LLC since August 2016. Mr. Castaneda holds a BS in
Accountancy and a Masters, Taxation from DePaul University.

Non-Employee Directors
Prior to the effectiveness of this registration statement, we will disclose, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC,

information about the persons whom we expect to serve as our non-employee directors following this offering.

Michael Auerbach has served as a member of our board of directors since February 2018 and as a member of the board of directors of our
wholly owned subsidiary, Tilray Canada Ltd. since November 2013. He has served on the board of directors of Privateer Holdings since
January 2014. Mr. Auerbach has served as Senior Vice President at the Albright Stonebridge Group, a commercial diplomacy and global
strategy group, since July of 2012. Mr. Auerbach previously served as the Vice President, Social Risk Consulting at Control Risks Group
Limited from September 2009 to July 2012. Mr. Auerbach also served as the Associate Director, Prospects for Peace Initiative at The Century
Foundation and Center for American Progress from August 2005 to July 2007. Mr. Auerbach also served as a term member at the Council on
Foreign Relations from 2011 to 2016 and as a national security fellow at the Truman National Security Project since 2005. Mr. Auerbach holds
an MS in International Relations from Columbia University and a BA in Critical Theory and Post-Colonial Studies from the New School for
Social Research. We believe Mr. Auerbach is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his extensive knowledge of our company and
industry.

Family Relationships
There are no family relationships among any of the directors or executive officers.

Board Composition
Our business and affairs are managed under the direction of our board of directors, which currently consists of                members.

Our board of directors will consist of                members upon the closing of this offering. Upon completion of this offering, our directors will
be divided among three classes with staggered three-year terms as follows:
 
•  Class I, whose members will be             and             . The terms of the Class I directors will expire at our 2019 annual meeting of

stockholders;
 

•  Class II, whose members will be             and             . The terms of the Class II directors will expire at our 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders; and

 

•  Class III, whose members will be             and             . The terms of the Class III directors will expire at our 2021 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Controlled Company Exception
After the completion of this offering, Privateer Holdings will continue to beneficially own shares representing more than 50% of the voting

power of our capital stock eligible to vote in the election of directors. As a result, we will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of the
listing rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. Under these rules a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an
individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance standards,
including the requirements (1) that a majority
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of its board of directors consist of independent directors, (2) that its board of directors have a compensation committee that is comprised
entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities, (3) that its board of directors
have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is comprised entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing
the committee’s purpose and responsibilities, and (4) for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and
compensation committees. For at least some period following this offering, we intend to utilize these exemptions because our board has not yet
made a determination with respect to the independence of any directors other than                . In the future, we expect that our board will make
a determination as to whether other directors, including directors associated with Privateer Holdings, are independent for purposes of the
corporate governance standards described above.

As a result, you may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of these corporate
governance requirements. In the event that we cease to be a “controlled company” and our common stock continues to be listed on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market, we will be required to comply with these standards and, depending on the board’s independence determination with
respect to our then-current directors, we may be required to add additional directors to our board in order to achieve such compliance within the
applicable transition periods.

Committees of the Board of Directors
Our board of directors has the authority to appoint committees to perform certain management and administration functions. Our board of

directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee. The
composition and responsibilities of each committee are described below. Members will serve on these committees until their resignation or until
otherwise determined by the board of directors. Following the closing of this offering, the charters for each of these committees will be available
on our website at www.tilray.com. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not a part of this prospectus, and the inclusion
of our website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only. The composition of all of our committees will comply with all
applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations.

Audit Committee
Our audit committee will consist of             ,             and             . Our board of directors has determined each of             and             to be

independent under the listing standards and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. The chairperson of
our audit committee is             . Our board of directors has determined that             is an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of
SEC regulations. Our board of directors has also determined that each member of our audit committee has the requisite financial expertise
required under the applicable requirements of Nasdaq. In arriving at this determination, the board of directors has examined each audit
committee member’s scope of experience and the nature of their employment in the corporate finance sector.

The primary purpose of the audit committee is to discharge the responsibilities of our board of directors with respect to our accounting,
financial and other reporting and internal control practices and to oversee our independent registered accounting firm. Specific responsibilities
of our audit committee include:
 
•  selecting a qualified firm to serve as the independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements;
 

87



Table of Contents

•  helping to ensure the independence and performance of the independent registered public accounting firm;
 

•  discussing the scope and results of the audit with the independent registered public accounting firm and reviewing, with management and
the independent accountants, our interim and year-end operating results;

 

•  developing procedures for employees to submit concerns anonymously about questionable accounting or audit matters;
 

•  reviewing our policies on risk assessment and risk management;
 

•  reviewing related-party transactions;
 

•  obtaining and reviewing a report by the independent registered public accounting firm, at least annually, that describes our internal quality-
control procedures, any material issues with such procedures and any steps taken to deal with such issues when required by applicable
law; and

 

•  approving (or, as permitted, pre-approving) all audit and all permissible non-audit service to be performed by the independent registered
public accounting firm.

Compensation Committee
Our compensation committee will consist of              and            . Our board of directors has determined each of             and             to be a

“non-employee director” as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The chairperson of our compensation committee
is             . As a controlled company, we intend to rely upon the exemption for the requirement that we have a compensation committee
comprised entirely of independent directors.

The primary purpose of our compensation committee is to discharge the responsibilities of our board of directors to oversee our
compensation policies, plans and programs and to review and determine the compensation to be paid to our executive officers, directors and
other senior management, as appropriate. Specific responsibilities of our compensation committee include:
 
•  reviewing and approving, or recommending that our board of directors approve, the compensation of our executive officers;
 

•  reviewing and recommending to our board of directors the compensation of our directors;
 

•  reviewing and approving, or recommending that our board of directors approve, the terms of compensatory arrangements with our
executive officers;

 

•  administering our stock and equity incentive plans;
 

•  selecting independent compensation consultants and assessing whether there are any conflicts of interest with any of the committee’s
compensation advisors;

 

•  reviewing and approving, or recommending that our board of directors approve, incentive compensation and equity plans, severance
agreements, change-of-control protections and any other compensatory arrangements for our executive officers and other senior
management, as appropriate;

 

•  reviewing and establishing general policies relating to compensation and benefits of our employees; and
 

•  reviewing our overall compensation philosophy.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Our nominating and corporate governance committee will consist of                  and            . Our board of directors has determined each of

                and                 to be independent under the listing standards. The chairperson of our nominating and corporate governance
committee is             . As a controlled company, we intend to rely upon the exemption for the requirement that we have a nominating and
corporate governance committee comprised entirely of independent directors.
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Specific responsibilities of our nominating and corporate governance committee include:
 
•  reviewing periodically and evaluating director performance on our board of directors and its applicable committees and recommending to

our board of directors and management areas for improvement;
 

•  interviewing, evaluating, nominating and recommending individuals for membership on our board of directors;
 

•  reviewing developments in corporate governance practices;
 

•  overseeing and reviewing our processes and procedures to provide information to our board of directors and its committees;
 

•  reviewing and recommending to our board of directors any amendments to our corporate governance policies; and
 

•  reviewing and assessing, at least annually, the performance of the nominating and corporate governance committee and the adequacy of
its charter.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
We will adopt a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including those officers

responsible for financial reporting. Following the closing of this offering, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be available on our
website at www.tilray.com. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not a part of this prospectus, and the inclusion of our
website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only. We intend to disclose any amendments to the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics, or any waivers of its requirements, on our website to the extent required by the applicable rules and exchange
requirements.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
No member of our compensation committee has ever been an officer or employee of our company. None of our executive officers serve, or

have served during the last year, as a member of the board of directors, compensation committee or other board committee performing
equivalent functions of any other entity that has one or more executive officers serving as one of our directors or on our compensation
committee.

2017 Non-Employee Director Compensation
We were formed in January 2018. No obligations with respect to compensation for our directors were accrued or paid during fiscal year

2017. Prior to our incorporation in January 2018, we operated our business under Decatur. There were no non-employee directors on the board
of directors of Decatur during fiscal year 2017.

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy
We expect to adopt a non-employee director compensation policy, pursuant to which our non-employee directors will be eligible to receive

compensation for service on our board of directors and committees of our board of directors.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Our named executive officers, consisting of our principal executive officer and the next two most highly compensated executive officers, as
of December 31, 2017, were:
 
•  Brendan Kennedy, President and Chief Executive Officer; and
 

•  Edward Wood Pastorius, Jr., Chief Revenue Officer.

2017 Summary Compensation Table
The following table presents all of the compensation paid or awarded to or earned by our named executive officers during 2017 from us or

any of our affiliates:
 

Name and Principal Position   Year   Salary   
Option

Awards(1)  

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Compensation(2)  
All Other

Compensation(3)  Total  
Brendan Kennedy
President and Chief Executive Officer   

 2017 
 

$         
 

$          
 

$          
 

$          
 

$         

Edward Wood Pastorius, Jr.    2017      
Chief Revenue Officer        
 
(1) The amounts reported do not reflect the amounts actually received by our executive officers. Instead, these amounts reflect the aggregate

grant date fair value of each stock option granted to our executive officers during 2017, as computed in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, 718. Assumptions used in the calculation of these
amounts are included in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus. As required by SEC rules, the
amounts shown exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. Our executive officers who have
received options will only realize compensation with regard to these options to the extent the trading price of our common stock is greater
than the exercise price of such options.

 

(2) Amount represent cash bonuses earned for the 12-month period from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 and exclude payments made
in 2017 for 2016 bonuses.

 

(3) Includes the dollar value of life insurance premiums paid by the company for the benefit of such executive.

Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2017
There were no outstanding equity awards held under our equity incentive plans by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2017.

Pension Benefits
Our named executive officers did not participate in, or otherwise receive any benefits under, any pension or defined benefit retirement plan

sponsored by us in 2017.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Our named executive officers did not participate in, or earn any benefits under, a nonqualified deferred compensation plan sponsored by us

during 2017.

Emerging Growth Company Status
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. As an emerging growth company we will be exempt from certain

requirements related to executive compensation, including,
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but not limited to, the Nasdaq requirements to hold a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and to provide information relating
to the ratio of total compensation of our Chief Executive Officer to the median of the annual total compensation of all of our employees, each as
required by the Investor Protection and Securities Reform Act of 2010, which is part of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act.

Employment, Severance and Change in Control Arrangements
We have entered into offer letters with each of our named executive officers. The offer letters generally provide for at-will employment and

set forth the executive’s initial base salary, target variable compensation, eligibility for employee benefits, the terms of initial equity grants and in
some cases severance benefits on a qualifying termination. Each of our named executive officers has also executed our standard form of
proprietary information agreement. Any potential payments and benefits due upon a termination of employment or a change of control of us are
further described below.

Brendan Kennedy
Mr. Kennedy serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer.

Edward Wood Pastorius, Jr.
Mr. Pastorius serves as our Chief Revenue Officer.

Equity Incentive Plans
We believe that our ability to grant equity-based awards is a valuable and necessary compensation tool that aligns the long-term financial

interests of our employees, consultants and directors with the financial interests of our stockholders. In addition, we believe that our ability to
grant options and other equity-based awards helps us to attract, retain and motivate employees, consultants and directors and encourages
them to devote their best efforts to our business and financial success. The principal features of our equity incentive plans are summarized
below. These summaries are qualified in their entirety by reference to the actual text of the plans, which are filed as exhibits to the registration
statement of which this prospectus is a part.

Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Our board of directors originally adopted the Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2018 Plan, in January 2018 and

amended and restated it in March 2018, and our stockholders approved the 2018 Plan in                2018.

Authorized awards. The 2018 Plan authorizes the award of incentive stock options that may qualify for favorable tax treatment under U.S.
tax laws to their recipients under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1906, or the Code, or ISOs, nonstatutory stock options, or
NSOs, stock appreciation rights, or SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock units, or RSUs, performance-based awards and other stock awards,
which are collectively referred to as awards. We may grant awards under the 2018 Plan to our employees, including our officers, our
non-employee directors and consultants and the employees and consultants of our affiliates. We may grant ISOs to our employees and
employees of a subsidiary corporation or parent corporation (within the meaning of Sections 424(e) and 424(f) of the Code).

Share reserve. 6,711,621 shares of Class 2 common stock were reserved for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2018
Equity Incentive Plan as of the date of this offering. Additionally, the number of shares of our Class 2 common stock reserved for issuance
under our 2018 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year for ten years, starting on
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January 1, 2019 and ending on and including                 , 2028, in an amount equal to             % of the total number of shares of our common
stock outstanding on December 31 of the prior calendar year, or a lesser number of shares determined by our board of directors. The maximum
number of shares of our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of ISOs under the 2018 Plan is equal to                 .

Shares subject to awards granted under the 2018 Plan that expire or terminate without being exercised in full, or that are paid out in cash
rather than in shares, do not reduce the number of shares available for issuance under the 2018 Plan. Additionally, shares become available
for future grant under the 2018 Plan if they were issued under awards under the 2018 Plan if we repurchase them or they are forfeited. This
includes shares used to pay the exercise price of an award or to satisfy the tax withholding obligations related to an award.

The maximum number of shares of common stock subject to stock awards granted under the 2018 Plan or otherwise during any one
calendar year to any non-employee director, taken together with any cash fees paid by us to such non-employee director during such calendar
year for service on the board of directors, will not exceed $             in total value (calculating the value of any such stock awards based on the
grant date fair value of such stock awards for financial reporting purposes), or, with respect to the calendar year in which a non-employee
director is first appointed or elected to our board of directors, $                .

Plan administration. The 2018 Plan will be administered by our compensation committee, or by our board of directors or another duly
authorized committee, acting in place of our compensation committee. Our board of directors or our compensation committee may also
delegate to one or more of our officers the authority to designate employees (other than officers) to receive specified stock awards and
determine the number of shares subject to such stock awards.

Our compensation committee will have the authority to construe and interpret the 2018 Plan, grant and amend awards, determine the
terms of such awards and make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the plan, including, but not limited to,
repricing options or SARs without prior stockholder approval. Awards granted under the 2018 Plan may vest over time based on the holder’s
continued service with us or following the achievement of certain pre-established performance goals.

Options. Options represent the right to purchase shares of our Class 2 common stock on the date of exercise at a stated exercise price.
The exercise price of an option generally must be at least equal to the fair market value of our shares of Class 2 common stock on the date of
grant. Our compensation committee may provide for options to be exercised only as they vest or to be immediately exercisable with any shares
issued on exercise being subject to our right of repurchase that lapses as the shares vest. The maximum term of options granted under the
2018 Plan is ten years.

Restricted stock awards. Restricted stock awards represent an offer by us to issue or sell shares of our Class 2 common stock subject to
vesting restrictions, which may lapse based on time or achievement of performance conditions. The price (if any) of a restricted stock award will
be determined by our compensation committee. Unless otherwise determined by our compensation committee at the time of grant, vesting will
cease on the date the participant no longer provides services to us and unvested shares will be forfeited to or repurchased by us.

Restricted stock unit awards. RSUs represent the right to receive shares of our Class 2 common stock at a specified date in the future,
subject to forfeiture of that right because of termination of employment or failure to achieve certain performance conditions. If an RSU award
has not been
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forfeited, then on the date specified in the RSU agreement, we will deliver to the holder a number of whole shares of Class 2 common stock,
cash or a combination of shares of our Class 2 common stock and cash. Additionally, dividend equivalents may be credited in respect of shares
covered by an RSU award.

Stock appreciation rights. SARs provide for a payment, or payments, in cash or shares of Class 2 common stock to the holder based upon
the difference between the fair market value of shares of our Class 2 common stock on the date of exercise and the stated exercise price. The
maximum term of SARs granted under the 2018 Plan is ten years.

Performance Awards. The 2018 Plan permits the grant of performance-based stock and cash awards. The performance goals that may be
selected include one or more of the following: (1) earnings (including earnings per share and net earnings); (2) earnings before interest, taxes
and depreciation; (3) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization; (4) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization and legal settlements; (5) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, legal settlements and other (income)
expense; (6) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, legal settlements, other (income) expense and stock-based
compensation; (7) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, legal settlements, other (income) expense, stock-based
compensation and changes in deferred revenue; (8) total stockholder return; (9) return on equity or average stockholder’s equity; (10) return on
assets, investment or capital employed; (11) stock price; (12) margin (including gross margin); (13) income (before or after taxes); (14)
operating income; (15) operating income after taxes; (16) pre-tax profit; (17) operating cash flow; (18) sales or revenue targets; (19) increases
in revenue or product revenue; (20) expenses and cost reduction goals; (21) improvement in or attainment of working capital levels; (22)
economic value added (or an equivalent metric); (23) market share; (24) cash flow; (25) cash flow per share; (26) share price performance; (27)
debt reduction; (28) implementation or completion of projects or processes (including, without limitation, clinical trial initiation, clinical trial
enrollment, clinical trial results, new and supplemental indications for existing products, regulatory filing submissions, regulatory filing
acceptances, regulatory or advisory committee interactions, regulatory approvals and product supply); (29) stockholders’ equity; (30) capital
expenditures; (31) debt levels; (32) operating profit or net operating profit; (33) workforce diversity; (34) growth of net income or operating
income; (35) billings; (36) bookings; (37) employee retention; (38) initiation of phases of clinical trials and/or studies by specific dates; (39)
patient enrollment rates; (40) budget management; (41) submission to, or approval by, a regulatory body (including, but not limited to the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration) of an applicable filing or a product candidate; (42) regulatory milestones; (43) progress of internal research or
clinical programs; (44) progress of partnered programs; (45) partner satisfaction; (46) timely completion of clinical trials; (47) research progress,
including the development of programs; (48) strategic partnerships or transactions (including in-licensing and out-licensing of intellectual
property; (49) customer satisfaction; and (50) other measures of performance selected by our board of directors or a committee thereof.

The performance goals may be based on company-wide performance or performance of one or more business units, divisions, affiliates or
business segments and may be either absolute or relative to the performance of one or more comparable companies or the performance of
one or more relevant indices. Unless specified otherwise in the award agreement at the time the award is granted or in such other document
setting forth the performance goals at the time the goals are established, we will appropriately make adjustments in the method of calculating
the attainment of performance goals as follows: (1) to exclude restructuring and/or other nonrecurring charges; (2) to exclude exchange rate
effects; (3) to exclude the effects of changes to generally accepted accounting principles; (4) to exclude the effects of any statutory adjustments
to corporate tax rates; (5) to exclude the effects of any items that are unusual in nature or occur infrequently as determined under generally
accepted
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accounting principles; (6) to exclude the dilutive effects of acquisitions or joint ventures; (7) to assume that any business divested by the
Company achieved performance objectives at targeted levels during the balance of a Performance Period following such divestiture; (8) to
exclude the effect of any change in the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company by reason of any stock dividend or split, stock
repurchase, reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, spin-off, combination or exchange of shares or other similar corporate
change, or any distributions to common stockholders other than regular cash dividends; (9) to exclude the effects of stock based compensation
and the award of bonuses under the Company’s bonus plans; (10) to exclude costs incurred in connection with potential acquisitions or
divestitures that are required to be expensed under generally accepted accounting principles; (11) to exclude the goodwill and intangible asset
impairment charges that are required to be recorded under generally accepted accounting principles; and (12) to exclude the effect of any other
unusual, nonrecurring gain or loss or other extraordinary item. In addition, we retain the discretion to adjust or eliminate the compensation or
economic benefit due upon attainment of the goals. The performance goals may differ from participant to participant and from award to award.

Other stock awards. Our compensation committee may grant other awards based in whole or in part by reference to shares of our Class 2
common stock. Our compensation committee will determine the number of shares under such award and all other terms and conditions of such
awards.

Transferability. Awards granted under the 2018 Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution or as otherwise determined by our compensation committee or under the terms of the 2018 Plan or an applicable award agreement.

Changes to capital structure. In the event that there is a specified type of change in our capital structure, such as a share split or
recapitalization, appropriate adjustments will be made to (1) the class and the maximum number of shares reserved for issuance under the
2018 Plan, (2) the class and the maximum number of shares by which the share reserve may increase automatically each year, (3) the class
and the maximum number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of ISOs, and (4) the class and the number of shares and exercise
price, strike price, or purchase price, if applicable, of all outstanding awards.

Corporate transactions. The 2018 Plan provides that in the event of certain specified significant corporate transactions, each outstanding
award will be treated as the determined by our board of directors unless otherwise provided in an award agreement or other written agreement
between us and the award holder. The board of directors may take one of the following actions with respect to such awards:
 
•  Arrange for the assumption, continuation or substitution of an award by a successor corporation;
 

•  Arrange for the assignment of any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by us to a successor corporation;
 

•  Accelerate the vesting, in whole or in part, of the award and provide for its termination prior to the transaction;
 

•  Arrange for the lapse, in whole or in part, of any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by us;
 

•  Cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the award, to the extent not vested or not exercised prior to the closing of the transaction, in
exchange for a cash payment or no payment, as determined by our board of directors; and

 

•  Cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the award to the extent not vested but not exercised prior to the closing of the transaction, in
exchange for a payment, in the form determined by our board of directors, equal to the excess, if any, of (A) the per share amount payable
to holders of our Class 2 common stock in the transaction over (B) any exercise price payable by the participant in connection with the
award, multiplied by the number of shares subject to the award.
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A corporate transaction generally will be deemed to occur in the event of: (1) a sale of all or substantially all of our assets, (2) the sale or
disposition of more than 50% of our outstanding securities, (3) the consummation of a merger or consolidation where we do not survive the
transaction, and (4) the consummation of a merger or consolidation where we do survive the transaction but the shares of our common stock
outstanding prior to such transaction are converted or exchanged into other property by virtue of the transaction.

The board of directors is not obligated to treat all awards or portions of stock awards, even those that are of the same type, in the same
manner.

Amendment and termination. Our board of directors or another duly authorized committee has the authority to amend, suspend or
terminate the 2018 Plan, provided that such action does not materially impair the existing rights of any participant without such participant’s
written consent. Certain material amendments also require the approval of our stockholders. No ISOs may be granted after the tenth
anniversary of the date our board of directors adopted the 2018 Plan, and no awards may be granted under the 2018 Plan while it is
suspended or after it is terminated.

Health and Welfare Benefits
All of our named executive officers are eligible to participate in our employee benefit plans, including our medical, dental and vision

insurance plans as well as our 401(k) plans, in each case on the same basis as all of our other full-time employees.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Upon the closing of this offering, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will contain provisions that limit the liability of our

current and former executive officers and directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law
provides that directors of a corporation will not be personally liable for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except
liability:
 
•  for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit;
 
•  for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
 
•  under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares); or
 
•  for any breach of a director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders.

Such limitation of liability does not apply to liabilities arising under federal securities laws and does not affect the availability of equitable
remedies, such as injunctive relief or rescission.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws will provide that we are required to indemnify our executive officers
and directors to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Our bylaws will also provide that, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, we shall
advance expenses incurred by an executive officer and director in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding and permit us to
secure insurance on behalf of any officer, director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of his or her actions in that capacity
regardless of whether we would otherwise be permitted to indemnify him or her under the provisions of Delaware law. Our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws will also provide our board of directors with discretion to indemnify our other officers, employees
and other agents when determined appropriate by the board. We have entered and expect to continue to enter into agreements to indemnify
our directors
 

95



Table of Contents

and executive officers. With certain exceptions, these agreements provide for indemnification for related expenses including, among other
things, attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by any of these individuals in any action or proceeding. We believe
that these bylaw provisions and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers. We
also maintain customary directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage
stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative
litigation against our directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and other stockholders. Furthermore, a
stockholder’s investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and
officers as required by these indemnification provisions. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors,
officers or employees for which indemnification is sought and we are not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for
indemnification.

Rule 10b5-1 Plans
Our directors and officers may adopt written plans, known as Rule 10b5-1 plans, in which they will contract with a broker to buy or sell

shares of our Class 2 common stock on a periodic basis. Under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, a broker executes trades pursuant to parameters
established by the director or officer when entering into the plan, without further direction from them. The director or officer may amend a Rule
10b5-1 plan in some circumstances and may terminate a plan at any time. Our directors and executive officers also may buy or sell additional
shares outside of a Rule 10b5-1 plan when they are not in possession of material nonpublic information, subject to compliance with the terms
of our insider trading policy. Prior to 180 days after the date of this offering, the sale of any shares under such plan would be subject to the
lock-up agreement that the director or officer has entered into with the underwriters.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following is a summary of transactions since January 1, 2015 to which we have been a participant, in which:
 
•  the amount involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000; and
 

•  any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any member of the immediate family of the
foregoing persons, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than compensation and other arrangements that are
described in the section titled “Executive Compensation” or that were approved by our compensation committee.

We believe the terms obtained or consideration that we paid or received, as applicable, in connection with the transactions described
below were comparable to terms available or the amounts that would be paid or received, as applicable in arm’s-length transactions.

Sales of Common Stock
In January 2018, we issued an aggregate of 75,000,000 shares of our Class 1 common stock to Privateer Holdings in exchange for the

contribution of 100% of the outstanding equity interests of Decatur to us. Decatur owns all of the outstanding equity interests of our direct and
indirect subsidiaries through which we operate our business and, prior to the above mentioned transaction, was a wholly owned direct
subsidiary of Privateer Holdings.

Investor Rights Agreement
In February 2018, we entered into an investor rights agreement with holders of our preferred stock and common stock, including certain

holders of more than 5% of our capital stock and entities affiliated with certain of our directors. After the closing of this offering, these holders
will be entitled to certain registration rights, including the right to demand that we file a registration statement or request that their shares be
covered by a registration statement that we are otherwise filing. For a more detailed description of these registration rights, see the section
titled “Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights.” In addition, this agreement gives the stockholders that are parties thereto the right to
participate in new issuances of equity securities by us, subject to certain exceptions. This right to participate in new issuances of equity
securities will terminate by its terms upon the completion of our initial public offering.

Indebtedness
In January 2016, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours entered into a revolving credit facility with Privateer Holdings for up to $25.0 million,

which loan is payable on demand and bears interest at a rate of 2.4 times the mid-term Applicable Federal Rate, compounded annually for
advances made under this agreement prior to January 1, 2017. Advances made under this agreement following January 1, 2017 bear interest
at 1.2 times the mid-term Applicable Federal Rate for the year, which was 2.54% for 2017. As of December 31, 2017, $24.7 million remained
outstanding under this agreement.

In November 2017, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours entered into a demand revolving construction facility with Privateer Holdings for up to
$10.0 million, which loan is payable on demand and bears a variable interest rate of 1.2 times the mid-term Applicable Federal Rate, which was
2.54% in 2017. As of December 31, 2017, $6.4 million remained outstanding under this agreement.

In December 2017, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours entered into an intercompany loan agreement with Privateer Holdings pursuant to
which Privateer Holdings agreed to loan us up to
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$1 million, which loan bears a variable interest rate of 1.2 times the Applicable Federal Rate as of January 1 of each year the loan is
outstanding. The term of the loan is two years with options to renew the loan for two year periods.

In December 2017, Privateer Holdings loaned certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries an aggregate of $1.7 million pursuant to loan
agreements, which loans are non-interest bearing and are payable upon demand. As of December 31, 2017, all $1.7 million remained
outstanding under these loans.

Corporate Services Agreement
In February 2018, we entered into an agreement with Privateer Holdings, pursuant to which Privateer Holdings provides us with certain

general administrative and corporate services on an as-requested basis. Pursuant to this agreement, we pay Privateer Holdings a monthly
services fee that is based on our proportional share of the actual costs incurred by Privateer Holdings in performing the requested services.
Personnel compensation is charged at cost plus a 3.0% markup and other services provided are charged at cost. This agreement will remain in
effect until terminated by us or Privateer Holdings on 90 days’ notice.

License Agreements
In February 2018, one of our wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a brand licensing agreement with a wholly owned subsidiary of

Privateer Holdings, pursuant to which we obtained exclusive rights in Canada for adult use for the following brands: Marley Natural, Irisa,
Goodship, Grail, Dutchy, Wallops and Head Light. Pursuant to the brand licensing agreement, we will pay to Privateer Holdings’ subsidiary
royalties between 2.5% and 7.5% of the net revenue generated by the licensed products.

In February 2018, we entered into a data license agreement with a wholly owned subsidiary of Privateer Holdings. Pursuant to this
agreement, we received a non-exclusive, perpetual license to use data on Canadian customers’ engagement of Leafly Holdings, Inc.’s website.
We pay an annual license fee of C$9,000. This agreement will remain in effect until terminated by us or Leafly Holdings, Inc. on 90 days’ notice.

Indemnification Agreements
We intend to enter into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers. These agreements, among other things, require

us to indemnify an indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, including indemnification of expenses such as attorneys’ fees,
judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by the indemnitee in any action or proceeding, including any action or proceeding by us or in
our right, arising out of the person’s services as a director or officer.

Related-Party Transaction Policy
We will adopt a formal written policy in connection with this offering that our executive officers, directors, key employees, holders of more

than 5% of any class of our voting securities, and any member of the immediate family of and any entity affiliated with any of the foregoing
persons, are not permitted to enter into a related-party transaction with us without the prior consent of our audit committee, or other
independent body of our board of directors in the event it is inappropriate for our audit committee to review such transaction due to a conflict of
interest. Any request for us to enter into a transaction with an executive officer, director, principal stockholder or any of their immediate family
members or affiliates in which the amount involved exceeds $120,000 will be required to first be presented to our audit committee for review,
consideration and approval. In approving or rejecting any such proposal, our audit committee will consider the relevant facts and circumstances
available and deemed relevant to our audit committee, including, but not limited to, whether the transaction will be on
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terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of
the related party’s interest in the transaction.

All of the transactions described in this section were entered into prior to the adoption of this policy. Although we have not had a written
policy for the review and approval of transactions with related persons, our board of directors has historically reviewed and approved any
transaction where a director or officer had a financial interest, including the transactions described above. Prior to approving such a transaction,
the material facts as to a director’s or officer’s relationship or interest in the agreement or transaction were disclosed to our board of directors.
Our board of directors took this information into account when evaluating the transaction and in determining whether such transaction was fair
to us and in the best interest of all our stockholders.
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PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our capital stock as of February 28, 2018, after giving
effect to the conversion of all of our Series A preferred stock into Class 2 common stock, by:
 
•  each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our capital stock;
 

•  each of our named executive officers;
 

•  each of our directors; and
 

•  all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

The percentage of shares beneficially owned before the offering shown in the table is based on shares of common stock outstanding as of
February 28, 2018, after giving effect to the conversion of all of our Series A preferred stock into Class 2 common stock. The percentage of
shares beneficially owned after this offering assumes the sale by us of                 shares of Class 2 common stock in this offering.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC and generally means that a person has beneficial ownership of a
security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power of that security, including stock options that are exercisable within
60 days of February 28, 2018. Our shares of Class 2 common stock issuable pursuant to stock options are deemed outstanding for computing
the percentage of the person holding such options and the percentage of any group of which the person is a member but are not deemed
outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the
information furnished to us, that the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of
common stock shown that they beneficially own, subject to community property laws where applicable. The information does not necessarily
indicate beneficial ownership for any other purpose, including for purposes of Section 13(d) and 13(g) of the Securities Act.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Tilray, Inc., 1920 Eastlake Avenue E.,
Seattle, WA 98102.
 

  

Shares Beneficially
Owned

Prior to Offering      

Shares Beneficially
Owned After the

Offering     

  Class 1   Class 2   
%of
Total

Voting 
Power+ 

 Class 1   Class 2   
%of
Total

Voting
Power+ Name of Beneficial Owner  Number   Percent  Number  Percent   Number   Percent  Number  Percent  

Greater than 5% stockholders:           
Privateer Holdings,

Inc.   75,000,000       %      75,000,000       %    
Directors and Named Executive Officers:           
Brendan Kennedy(1)           
Edward Wood Pastorius, Jr.           
Michael Auerbach           
All current executive officers and directors as

a group           
 
* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent
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+ Represents the voting power with respect to all shares of our Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock, voting as a single class.
Each share of Class 1 common stock will be entitled to three votes per share, and each share of Class 2 common stock will be entitled to
three votes per share. The holders of Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock will vote together on all matters (including the
election of directors) submitted to a vote of stockholders, except under limited circumstances described in the section titled “Description of
Capital Stock—Common Stock—Voting Rights.”

 

(1) Mr. Kennedy, an executive officer and member of our board, is the President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the board of
directors of Privateer Holdings. The address for Privateer Holdings is 1920 Eastlake Avenue E., Seattle, WA 98102.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following is a summary of some of the terms of our capital stock and certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, each to be in effect immediately after the closing of the offering are summaries and are
qualified by reference to these documents. Copies of these documents will be filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part.

Except as otherwise specified below, references to voting by our stockholders contained in this Description of Capital Stock are references
to voting by holders of capital stock entitled to attend and vote generally at general meetings of our stockholders.

Organization
We are a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. We were incorporated in Delaware on January 25, 2018 under

the name Tilray, Inc. Our affairs are governed by our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, each
of which will come into effect immediately prior to the completion of this offering.

Capital Stock
Immediately after the completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will be                     , divided into:

 
•                      shares of Class 1 common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share;
 

•                      shares of Class 2 common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share; and
 

•                      undesignated shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share.

Upon the completion of this offering, and the use of proceeds therefrom, we expect to have 75,000,000 shares of Class 1 common stock
outstanding and            shares of Class 2 common stock outstanding.

The rights and restrictions to which the Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock will be prescribed in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation entitle our board of directors, without stockholder approval, to
determine the terms of the undesignated shares of preferred stock issued by us.

Common Stock

Voting Rights
Holders of our Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock have identical rights, provided that, except as otherwise expressly

provided in our certificate of incorporation or required by applicable law, on any matter that is submitted to a vote of our stockholders, each
holder of Class 1 common stock is entitled to three votes for each share of Class 1 common stock held by such holder and each holder of
Class 2 common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of Class 2 common stock held by such holder.

Holders of shares of Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common stock will vote together as a single class on all matters (including the
election of directors) submitted to a vote of stockholders, except that there will be a separate vote of our Class 1 common stock and Class 2
common stock in the following circumstances:
 
•  if we propose to treat the shares of a class of our common stock differently with respect to any dividend or distribution of cash, property or

shares of our stock paid or distributed by us;
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•  if we propose to treat the shares of a class of our common stock differently with respect to any subdivision or combination of the shares of
a class of our common stock; or

 
•  if we propose to treat the shares of a class of our common stock differently in connection with a liquidation, dissolution or change in control

(by merger, asset sale or other similar transaction) with respect to any consideration into which the shares are converted or any
consideration paid or otherwise distributed to our stockholders.

In addition, there will be a separate vote of and approval requirement for our Class 1 common stock in order for us to, directly or indirectly,
take action in the following circumstances:
 
•  if we propose to amend, waive, alter or repeal any provision of our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws that modifies the voting,

conversion or other powers, preferences or other special rights or privileges or restrictions of the Class 1 common stock; or
 
•  if we reclassify any outstanding shares of Class 2 common stock into shares having rights as to dividends or liquidation that are senior to

the Class 1 common stock or the right to more than one vote for each share thereof.

Cumulative voting for the election of directors is not provided for in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which means
that, following the closing of this offering, the holders of                      shares of Class 1 common stock can elect all of the directors then
standing for election.

Dividends and Distributions
Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding shares of Class

1 common stock and Class 2 common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally available at the times and in the amounts that
our board of directors may determine. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Liquidation Rights
Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably

among the holders of common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time after payment of liquidation preferences, on
any outstanding shares of preferred stock and payment of other claims of creditors.

The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of holders of
shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

Conversion Rights
Each share of Class 1 common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class 2 common stock. In

addition, each share of Class 1 common stock will automatically convert into one share of Class 2 common stock upon any transfer, whether or
not for value and whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law, except for certain transfers described in our certificate of
incorporation, including, without limitation, certain transfers for tax and estate planning purposes. In addition, upon the date on which the
outstanding shares of Class 1 common stock represent less than 10% of the aggregate number of Class 1 common stock and Class 2 common
stock then outstanding, all outstanding shares of Class 1 common stock shall convert automatically into Class 2 common stock, and no
additional shares of Class 1 common stock will be issued.

Rights of Repurchase
We currently have no rights to repurchase shares of our common stock.
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Preemptive or Similar Rights
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights and is not subject redemption.

Options
As of December 31, 2017, no shares of Class 2 common stock were issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options. Pursuant to

the terms of our standard option agreement, we have a right to repurchase shares of our common stock issued upon the exercise of options
granted under the 2018 Plan if the holder of such shares ceases providing services for us for any reason. For additional information regarding
the terms of these plans, see the section titled “Executive Compensation—Equity Incentive Plans.”

Registration Rights
In February 2018, we entered into an investor rights agreement which provides certain holders of our Class 2 common stock, including

certain holders of 5% of our capital stock, certain registration rights, as set forth below. The registration of shares of our Class 2 common stock
pursuant to the exercise of registration rights described below would enable the holders to sell these shares without restriction under the
Securities Act when the applicable registration statement is declared effective. We will pay the registration expenses, other than underwriting
discounts and selling commissions, of the shares registered pursuant to the demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registrations described below.

Generally, in an underwritten offering, the managing underwriter or underwriter(s), if any, have the right, subject to specific conditions, to
limit the number of shares such holders may include. The demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registration rights described below will expire five
years after the effective date of the registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part, or with respect to any particular stockholder,
such time as that stockholder can sell all of its shares under Rule 144 of the Securities Act during any three month period.

Demand Registration Rights
The holders of 7,794,042 shares of Class 2 common stock will be entitled to certain demand registration rights. At any time beginning 180

days after the closing of this offering, the holders of a majority of these shares may, on not more than two occasions, request that we file a
registration to register the offer and sale of all or a portion of their shares.

Piggyback Registration Rights
If we propose to register the offer and sale of any of our securities under the Securities Act either for our own account or for the account of

other security holders following this offering, the holders of 7,794,042 shares of Class 2 common stock will be entitled to certain “piggyback”
registration rights allowing them to include their shares in such registration, subject to certain marketing and other limitations. As a result,
whenever we propose to file a registration statement under the Securities Act including a registration statement on Form S-3 as discussed
below, other than with respect to a demand registration, a registration statement on Forms S-4 or S-8 or a registration in which the only shares
of common stock are registered are shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of debt securities that are also being registered, the
holders of these shares are entitled to notice of the registration and have the right, subject to limitations that the underwriters may impose on
the number of shares included in the registration, to include their shares in the registration.

Form S-3 Registration Rights
The holders of 7,794,042 shares of Class 2 common stock will be entitled to certain Form S-3 registration rights. Any holder of such shares

may make a request that we register their shares on Form S-3 if we are qualified to file a registration statement on Form S-3 so long as the
anticipated aggregate price to the public is not less than C$1,000,000.
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Anti-Takeover Provisions

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws
Among other things, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws will:

 
•  permit our board of directors to issue up to                shares of preferred stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may

designate, including the right to approve an acquisition or other change of control;
 

•  provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;
 

•  provide that, subject to the rights of any series of preferred stock to elect directors, directors may be removed with or without cause, by the
holders of at least a majority of our then-outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally at an election of directors for so long
as Privateer Holdings holds at least a majority of our then-outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally at an election of
directors, or otherwise by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of all of our then-outstanding shares of the capital stock entitled to vote generally
at an election of directors;

 

•  provide that all vacancies, including newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote
of a majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

 

•  provide that any action to be taken by our stockholders may be taken by written consent or electronic transmission pursuant to Section 228
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, so long as Privateer Holdings holds a majority of our then-outstanding capital stock entitled to
vote generally at an election of directors;

 

•  provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors
at a meeting of stockholders must provide advance notice in writing and also specify requirements as to the form and content of a
stockholder’s notice;

 

•  provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called by the chairperson of our board of directors, our chief executive officer, by
our board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors or, for so long as Privateer
Holdings holds a majority of our then-outstanding capital stock entitled to vote generally at an election of directors, one or more
stockholders that in the aggregate represent at least 50% of the total votes entitled to be cast at the meeting;

 

•  provide that our board of directors will be divided into three classes of directors, with the classes to be as nearly equal as possible and with
the directors serving three-year terms (see the section titled “Management”), therefore making it more difficult for stockholders to change
the composition of our board of directors; and

 

•  not provide for cumulative voting rights, therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any
election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose.

For so long as Privateer Holdings holds a majority of our then-outstanding capital stock entitled to vote generally at an election of directors,
the amendment of any of these provisions would require approval of the holders of a majority of all of our then-outstanding capital stock entitled
to vote generally in the election of directors; otherwise, the amendment of any of these provisions would require approval by the holders of at
least 66 2/3% of all of our then-outstanding capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.

The combination of these provisions will make it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our board of directors as well as for
another party to obtain control of us by replacing our board
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of directors. Because our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult
for existing stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization of undesignated preferred stock
makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of
any attempt to change our control.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our board of directors and its policies
and to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to
hostile takeovers and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of
discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of delaying changes in our control or management. As a
consequence, these provisions may also inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Law
We will opt out of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. However, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation

will contain similar provisions providing that we may not engage in certain “business combinations” with any “interested stockholder” for a three-
year period following the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:
 
•  prior to the date of the transaction, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the

stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
 

•  the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of our voting stock outstanding upon consummation of the transaction, excluding for
purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (1) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (2) shares
owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held
subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

 

•  on or subsequent to the consummation of the transaction, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and authorized
at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding
voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the
interested stockholder. An interested stockholder is a person who, together with its affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to
the determination of interested stockholder status, did own 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These provisions may encourage
companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with our board of directors because the stockholder approval requirement would
be avoided if our board of directors approves either the business combination or the transaction which results in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder. These provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in our board of directors and may make it more
difficult to accomplish transactions which stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that Privateer Holdings and its affiliates and any of their direct or indirect
transferees and any group as to which such persons are a party do not constitute “interested stockholders” for purposes of this provision.

Choice of Forum
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive

forum for: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our
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behalf; (ii) any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; (iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware General
Corporation Law; (iv) any action regarding our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; or
(v) any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Limitations of Liability and Indemnification
See the section titled “Executive Compensation—Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our Class 2 common stock is            .

Listing
We intend to apply to list our Class 2 common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “TLRY.”
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Prior to this offering, no public market for our shares of Class 2 common stock existed, and a liquid trading market for our shares of Class 2
common stock may not develop or be sustained after this offering. Future sales of our Class 2 common stock in the public market could
adversely affect prevailing market prices of our Class 2 common stock from time to time and could impair our future ability to raise equity capital
in the future. As described below, only a limited number of shares will be available for sale shortly after this offering due to contractual and legal
restrictions on resale. Nevertheless, sales of our shares of Class 2 common stock in the public market after such restrictions lapse, or the
perception that those sales may occur, could adversely affect the prevailing market price at such time and our ability to raise equity capital in
the future.

Based upon the number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2017, upon the closing of this offering 75,000,000 shares of our Class 1
common stock and              shares of our Class 2 common stock will be outstanding, assuming no exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment
option to purchase additional ordinary shares from us and no exercise of outstanding options. All of the shares sold in this offering will be freely
tradable, except that any shares held by our affiliates, as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, may only be sold in
compliance with the limitations described below.

The 75,000,000 shares of our Class 1 common stock and the remaining 7,794,042 shares of Class 2 common stock outstanding after this
offering are restricted securities as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act or are subject to lock-up agreements with us as described
below. Following the expiration of the lock-up period, restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if the offer and sale is registered
or if the offer and sale qualifies for an exemption from registration, including under Rule 144 or 701 promulgated under the Securities Act,
described in greater detail below. These remaining shares will generally become available for sale in the public market as follows:
 
•  no shares will be eligible for sale in the public market on the date of this prospectus; and
 

•  approximately shares will be eligible for sale in the public market upon the expiration of lock-up agreements 180 days after the date of this
prospectus, subject in certain circumstances to the volume, manner of sale and other limitations of Rule 144 and Rule 701.

As of December 31, 2017, of the              shares of Class 2 common stock issuable upon exercise of options outstanding, approximately
                shares will be vested and eligible for sale 180 days after the date of this prospectus.

We may issue shares of Class 2 common stock from time to time as consideration for future acquisitions, investments or other corporate
purposes. In the event that any such acquisition, investment or other transaction is significant, the number of shares of Class 2 common stock
that we may issue may in turn be significant. We may also grant registration rights covering those shares of Class 2 common stock issued in
connection with any such acquisition and investment.

In addition, the shares of Class 2 common stock reserved for future issuance under the 2018 Plan will become eligible for sale in the public
market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules, the lock-up agreements, a registration statement under the
Securities Act or an exemption from registration, including Rule 144 and Rule 701.

Rule 144
In general, after we have been a public company for 90 days, persons who have beneficially owned restricted shares of our common stock

for at least six months, and any affiliate of the company
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who owns either restricted or unrestricted shares of our common stock, are entitled to sell their securities without registration with the SEC
under an exemption from registration provided by Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

Persons who have beneficially owned shares of our restricted common stock for at least six months would be entitled to sell their securities
provided that (1) such person is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates at the time of, or at any time during the 90 days preceding, a
sale and (2) we are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act for at least 90 days before the sale and (3) we are
current in our Exchange Act reporting at the time of sale.

Persons who have beneficially owned shares of our restricted common stock for at least six months but who are our affiliates at the time of,
or any time during the 90 days preceding, a sale, would be subject to additional restrictions, by which such person would be entitled to sell
within any three-month period only a number of securities that does not exceed the greater of either of the following:
 
•  1% of the number of shares of Class 2 common stock outstanding after this offering, which will equal approximately                 shares

immediately after the closing of this offering, based on the number of ordinary shares outstanding as of December 31, 2017; or
 

•  the average weekly trading volume of our shares of Class 2 common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice
on Form 144 with respect to the sale; provided, in each case, that we are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange
Act for at least 90 days before the sale.

Such sales by affiliates must also comply with the manner of sale, current public information and notice provisions of Rule 144.

Rule 701
Rule 701 under the Securities Act, as in effect on the date of this prospectus, permits resales of stock acquired pursuant to Rule 701 in

reliance upon Rule 144 but without compliance with certain restrictions of Rule 144, including the holding period requirement. Most of our
employees, executive officers or directors who purchased or may purchase prior to the closing of this offering stock under a written
compensatory plan or contract may be entitled to rely on the resale provisions of Rule 701, but all holders of Rule 701 shares are required to
wait until 90 days after the date of this prospectus before selling their shares of stock. However, substantially all shares of Rule 701 stock are
subject to lock-up agreements as described below and in the section titled “Underwriting” and will become eligible for sale upon the expiration
of the restrictions set forth in those agreements.

Form S-8 Registration Statements
As soon as practicable after the closing of this offering, we intend to file a Form S-8 registration statement under the Securities Act to

register the issuance of our Class 2 common stock under our equity compensation plans and agreements. This registration statement will
become effective immediately upon filing, and shares covered by such registration statement will be eligible for sale in the public markets,
subject to vesting restrictions, the lock-up agreements described above and Rule 144 limitations applicable to affiliates. For a more complete
discussion of our equity compensation plans, see the section titled “Executive Compensation—Equity Incentive Plans.”

Lock-Up Arrangements
Our executive officers, directors and our other stockholders have agreed with the underwriters that for a period of 180 days following the

date of this prospectus, subject to certain exceptions, that they will not (a) offer, sell, assign, transfer, pledge, contract to sell or otherwise
dispose of, or announce the
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intention to otherwise dispose of, or enter into any swap, hedge or similar agreement or arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, the
economic consequence of ownership of, directly or indirectly, or (b) engage in any short selling of, any of our Class 2 common stock or
securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any of our Class 2 common stock without the prior written consent of Cowen and
Company, LLC. Cowen and Company, LLC may, in its sole discretion, at any time, release all or any portion of the shares from the restrictions
in this agreement. See the section titled “Underwriting—Lock-up Agreements.”

In addition to the restrictions contained in the lock-up agreement described above, we have entered into agreements with certain
securityholders, including the investor rights agreement and our standard form option agreement, that contain market stand-off provisions
imposing restrictions on the ability of such securityholders to offer, sell or transfer our equity securities for a period of 180 days following the
date of this prospectus.

Registration Rights
Upon the closing of this offering, the holders of 7,794,042 shares of Class 2 common stock or their transferees, will be entitled to certain

rights with respect to the registration of those shares under the Securities Act. If the offer and sale of these shares are registered, they will be
freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act immediately upon the effectiveness of the registration. For a description of these
registration rights, see the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights.”
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS FOR CERTAIN NON-U.S. HOLDERS

The following is a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences to non-U.S. holders (as defined below) of the
acquisition, ownership and disposition of our Class 2 common stock issued pursuant to this offering. This discussion is not a complete analysis
of all potential U.S. federal income tax consequences relating thereto, does not address the potential application of the Medicare contribution
tax on net investment income, and does not address any estate or gift tax consequences or any tax consequences arising under any state,
local or foreign tax laws, or any other U.S. federal tax laws. This discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or
the Code, and applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial decisions and published rulings and administrative
pronouncements of the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, all as in effect as of the date hereof. These authorities are subject to differing
interpretations and may change, possibly retroactively, resulting in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below.
We have not requested a ruling from the IRS with respect to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the following summary, and
there can be no assurance that the IRS or a court will agree with such statements and conclusions.

This discussion is limited to non-U.S. holders who purchase our Class 2 common stock pursuant to this offering and who hold our Class 2
common stock as a “capital asset” within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment). This discussion
does not address all of the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to a particular holder in light of such holder’s particular
circumstances. This discussion also does not consider any specific facts or circumstances that may be relevant to holders subject to special
rules under the U.S. federal income tax laws, including:
 
•  certain former citizens or long-term residents of the United States;
 

•  partnerships or other pass-through entities (and investors therein);
 

•  “controlled foreign corporations”;
 

•  “passive foreign investment companies”;
 

•  corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;
 

•  banks, financial institutions, investment funds, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts,
brokers, dealers or traders in securities;

 

•  tax-exempt organizations and governmental organizations;
 

•  tax-qualified retirement plans;
 

•  persons subject to the alternative minimum tax;
 

•  persons who hold or receive our Class 2 common stock pursuant to the exercise of any employee stock option or otherwise as
compensation;

 

•  persons that own, or have owned, actually or constructively, more than 5% of our Class 2 common stock;
 

•  accrual-method taxpayers subject to special tax accounting rules under Section 451(b) of the Code;
 

•  persons who have elected to mark securities to market; and
 

•  persons holding our Class 2 common stock as part of a hedging or conversion transaction or straddle, or a constructive sale, or other risk
reduction strategy or integrated investment.

If an entity or arrangement that is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our Class 2 common stock, the
U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the
partnership. Partnerships holding our Class 2 common stock and the partners in such partnerships are urged to consult their tax
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advisors about the particular U.S. federal income tax consequences to them of acquiring, holding and disposing of our Class 2 common stock.

THIS DISCUSSION IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TAX ADVICE. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD
CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF
ACQUIRING, OWNING AND DISPOSING OF OUR CLASS 2 COMMON STOCK, AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING
UNDER ANY STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAWS AND ANY OTHER U.S. FEDERAL TAX LAWS. IN ADDITION, SIGNIFICANT
CHANGES IN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAWS WERE RECENTLY ENACTED. YOU SHOULD ALSO CONSULT WITH YOUR TAX
ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO SUCH CHANGES IN U.S. TAX LAW AS WELL AS POTENTIAL CONFORMING CHANGES IN STATE TAX
LAWS.

Definition of Non-U.S. Holder
For purposes of this discussion, a non-U.S. holder is any beneficial owner of our Class 2 common stock that is not a “U.S. person” or a

partnership (including any entity or arrangement treated as a partnership) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A U.S. person is any person
that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is or is treated as any of the following:
 
•  an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;
 

•  a corporation (or entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized under the laws of the United
States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

 

•  an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or
 

•  a trust (1) whose administration is subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court and which has one or more U.S. persons who have the
authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) that has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be
treated as a U.S. person.

Distributions on Our Class 2 Common Stock
As described in the section titled “Dividend Policy,” we have not paid and do not anticipate paying dividends. However, if we make cash or

other property distributions on our Class 2 common stock, such distributions will constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to
the extent paid from our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. To the extent
those distributions exceed both our current and accumulated earnings and profits, they will first constitute a non-taxable return of capital and
will be applied against and reduce a holder’s tax basis in our Class 2 common stock, but not below zero. Any remaining excess will be treated
as gain realized on the sale or other disposition of our Class 2 common stock and will be treated as described in the section titled “—Gain On
Disposition of our Class 2 Common Stock” below.

Subject to the discussions below regarding effectively connected income, backup withholding and FATCA, dividends paid to a non-U.S.
holder of our Class 2 common stock generally will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a rate of 30% of the gross amount of the
dividends or such lower rate specified by an applicable income tax treaty. Except to the extent that we elect (or the paying agent or other
intermediary through which the non-U.S. holder holds common stock elects) otherwise, we (or intermediary) must generally withhold on the
entire distribution, in which case the non-U.S. holder would be entitled to a refund from the IRS for the withholding tax on the portion of the
distribution that exceeded our current and accumulated earnings and profits. To receive the benefit of a reduced treaty rate, a non-U.S. holder
must furnish us or our paying agent with a valid IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E (or applicable successor form) including an
applicable taxpayer identification number and certifying such holder’s qualification for the reduced rate. This certification must be provided to us
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or our paying agent before the payment of dividends and must be updated periodically. If the non-U.S. holder holds the stock through a
financial institution or other agent acting on the non-U.S. holder’s behalf, the non-U.S. holder will be required to provide appropriate
documentation to the agent, which then will be required to provide certification to us or our paying agent, either directly or through other
intermediaries. Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors regarding their entitlement to benefits under an applicable income tax treaty
and the manner of claiming the benefits of such treaty.

Non-U.S. holders that do not provide the required certification on a timely basis, but that qualify for a reduced treaty rate, may obtain a
refund of any excess amounts withheld by timely filing an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS.

If a non-U.S. holder holds our Class 2 common stock in connection with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, and
dividends paid on our Class 2 common stock are effectively connected with such holder’s U.S. trade or business (and are attributable to such
holder’s permanent establishment in the United States if required by an applicable tax treaty), the non-U.S. holder will be exempt from U.S.
federal withholding tax described above. To claim the exemption, the non-U.S. holder must generally furnish a valid IRS Form W-8ECI (or
applicable successor form) to the applicable withholding agent, certifying that the dividends are effectively connected with the non-U.S. holders’
conduct of a trade or business within the United States. This certification must be provided to us or our paying agent before the payment of
dividends and must be updated periodically.

However, any such effectively connected dividends paid on our Class 2 common stock generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax
on a net income basis at the regular graduated U.S. federal income tax rates in the same manner as if such holder were a resident of the
United States. A non-U.S. holder that is a foreign corporation also may be subject to an additional branch profits tax equal to 30% (or such
lower rate specified by an applicable income tax treaty) of its effectively connected earnings and profits for the taxable year, as adjusted for
certain items. Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors regarding any applicable income tax treaties that may provide for different
rules.

Gain on Disposition of Our Class 2 Common Stock
Subject to the discussions below regarding backup withholding and FATCA, a non-U.S. holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal

income tax on any gain realized on the sale or other disposition of our Class 2 common stock, unless:
 
•  the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States and, if required by an

applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the non-U.S. holder in the United States;
 

•  the non-U.S. holder is a nonresident alien individual present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year of the
disposition, and certain other requirements are met; or

 

•  our Class 2 common stock constitutes a “United States real property interest” by reason of our status as a United States real property
holding corporation, or USRPHC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes at any time within the shorter of the five-year period preceding the
disposition or the non-U.S. holder’s holding period for our Class 2 common stock, and our Class 2 common stock is not regularly traded on
an established securities market during the calendar year in which the sale or other disposition occurs.

Determining whether we are a USRPHC depends on the fair market value of our U.S. real property interests relative to the fair market
value of our other trade or business assets and our foreign real property interests. We believe that we are not currently and do not anticipate
becoming a USRPHC for
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U.S. federal income tax purposes, although there can be no assurance we will not in the future become a USRPHC.

Gain described in the first bullet point above generally will be subject to United States federal income tax on a net income basis at the
regular graduated U.S. federal income tax rates in the same manner as if such holder were a resident of the United States. A non-U.S. holder
that is a foreign corporation also may be subject to an additional branch profits tax equal to 30% (or such lower rate specified by an applicable
income tax treaty) of its effectively connected earnings and profits for the taxable year, as adjusted for certain items. Gain described in the
second bullet point above will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at a flat 30% rate (or such lower rate specified by an applicable income tax
treaty), but may be offset by certain U.S.-source capital losses (even though the individual is not considered a resident of the United States),
provided that the non-U.S. holder has timely filed U.S. federal income tax returns with respect to such losses. Non-U.S. holders should consult
their tax advisors regarding any applicable income tax treaties that may provide for different rules.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
Annual reports are required to be filed with the IRS and provided to each non-U.S. holder indicating the amount of dividends on our Class 2

common stock paid to such holder and the amount of any tax withheld with respect to those dividends. These information reporting
requirements apply even if no withholding was required because the dividends were effectively connected with the holder’s conduct of a U.S.
trade or business, or withholding was reduced or eliminated by an applicable income tax treaty. In addition, in certain circumstances, the
payment of the proceeds from a sale or of disposition of our Class 2 common stock may be subject to information reporting. Copies of
information returns that are filed with the IRS may be made available under a specific treaty or agreement with the tax authorities in the country
in which the non-U.S. holder resides or is established. Backup withholding, currently at a 24% rate, generally will not apply to payments to a
non-U.S. holder of dividends on or the gross proceeds of a disposition of our Class 2 common stock provided the non-U.S. holder furnishes the
required certification for its non-U.S. status, such as by providing a valid IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E or IRS Form W-8ECI, or
certain other requirements are met. Backup withholding may apply if the payor has actual knowledge, or reason to know, that the holder is a
U.S. person who is not an exempt recipient. Non-U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors on the application of information reporting
and backup withholding in light of their particular circumstances.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. If any amount is withheld under the backup withholding rules, the non-U.S. holder should
consult with a U.S. tax advisor regarding the possibility of and procedure for obtaining a refund or a credit against the non-U.S. holder’s U.S.
federal income tax liability, if any.

Withholding on Foreign Entities
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (commonly referred to as FATCA) impose a U.S. federal withholding tax of 30% on certain

payments made to a “foreign financial institution” (as specially defined under these rules) unless such institution enters into an agreement with
the U.S. government to withhold on certain payments and to collect and provide to the U.S. tax authorities substantial information regarding
certain U.S. account holders of such institution (which includes certain equity and debt holders of such institution, as well as certain account
holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners) or an exemption applies. FATCA also generally will impose a U.S. federal withholding tax of
30% on certain payments made to a non-financial foreign entity unless such entity provides the withholding agent a certification identifying
certain direct and indirect U.S. owners of the entity or an exemption applies. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and
an applicable
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foreign country may modify these requirements. Under certain circumstances, a non-U.S. holder might be eligible for refunds or credits of such
taxes. FATCA currently applies to dividends paid on our Class 2 common stock. FATCA will also apply to gross proceeds from sales or other
dispositions of our Class 2 common stock after December 31, 2018.

Prospective investors are encouraged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA and other U.S.
federal, state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of our Class 2 common stock.
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UNDERWRITING

We and the underwriters for the offering named below have entered into an underwriting agreement with respect to the shares of our
Class 2 common stock being offered. Subject to the terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, each underwriter has severally
agreed to purchase from us the number of shares of our Class 2 common stock set forth opposite its name below. Cowen and Company, LLC
is the sole representative of the underwriters.
 

Underwriter   
Number of

Shares  
Cowen and Company, LLC   

  
    

 

Total   
    

 

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters are subject to certain conditions precedent and that the
underwriters have agreed, severally and not jointly, to purchase all of the shares of our Class 2 common stock sold under the underwriting
agreement if any of these shares are purchased, other than those shares covered by the over-allotment option described below. If an
underwriter defaults, the underwriting agreement provides that the purchase commitments of the non-defaulting underwriters may be increased
or the underwriting agreement may be terminated.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and to contribute to
payments the underwriters may be required to make in respect thereof.

The underwriters are offering the shares of our Class 2 common stock, subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued to and accepted by
them, subject to approval of legal matters by their counsel and other conditions specified in the underwriting agreement. The underwriters
reserve the right to withdraw, cancel or modify offers to the public and to reject orders in whole or in part.

Over-allotment Option to Purchase Additional Shares
We have granted to the underwriters an option to purchase up to                additional shares of our Class 2 common stock at the public

offering price, less the underwriting discount. This option is exercisable for a period of 30 days. The underwriters may exercise this option solely
for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, made in connection with the sale of our Class 2 common stock offered hereby. To the extent
that the underwriters exercise this option, the underwriters will purchase additional shares from us in approximately the same proportion as
shown in the table above.

Discount
The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discount and proceeds, before expenses, to us. These amounts are shown

assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our Class 2 common stock.

We estimate that the total expenses of the offering, excluding underwriting discount, will be approximately $                and are payable by
us. We also have agreed to reimburse the underwriters for expense relating to clearance of this offering with the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority, Inc. up to $                .
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   Total  

   Per Share   
Without Over-

Allotment    
With Over-
Allotment  

Public offering price       
Underwriting discount       
Proceeds, before expenses, to us       

The underwriters propose to offer the shares of our Class 2 common stock to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover of
this prospectus. The underwriters may offer the shares of our Class 2 common stock to securities dealers at the public offering price less a
concession not in excess of $                per share. If all of the shares are not sold at the public offering price, the underwriters may change the
offering price and other selling terms.

Discretionary Accounts
The underwriters do not intend to confirm sales of the shares of our Class 2 common stock to any accounts over which they have

discretionary authority.

Market Information
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for shares of our Class 2 common stock. The initial public offering price will be

determined by negotiations between us and the representative of the underwriters. In addition to prevailing market conditions, the factors to be
considered in these negotiations will include:
 
•  the history of, and prospects for, our company and the industry in which we compete;
 

•  our past and present financial information;
 

•  an assessment of our management;
 

•  our past and present operations, and the prospects for, and timing of, our future revenue;
 

•  the present state of our development; and
 

•  the above factors in relation to market values and various valuation measures of other companies engaged in activities similar to ours.

An active trading market for our Class 2 common stock may not develop, or if such a market develops, may not be sustained. It is also
possible that after the offering the shares will not trade in the public market at or above the initial public offering price.

We intend to apply to list our Class 2 common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “TLRY.”

Stabilization
In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in stabilizing transactions, over-allotment transactions, syndicate covering

transactions, penalty bids and purchases to cover positions created by short sales.
 
•  Stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase shares of our Class 2 common stock so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a

specified maximum, and are engaged in for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our Class 2 common
stock while the offering is in progress.

 

•  Over-allotment transactions involve sales by the underwriters of shares of our Class 2 common stock in excess of the number of shares the
underwriters are obligated to purchase. This creates a
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syndicate short position which may be either a covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the number of
shares over-allotted by the underwriters is not greater than the number of shares that they may purchase in the over-allotment option. In a
naked short position, the number of shares involved is greater than the number of shares in the over-allotment option. The underwriters
may close out any short position by exercising their over-allotment option and/or purchasing shares of our Class 2 common stock in the
open market.

 

•  Syndicate covering transactions involve purchases of our Class 2 common stock in the open market after the distribution has been
completed in order to cover syndicate short positions. In determining the source of shares to close out the short position, the underwriters
will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared with the price at which they
may purchase shares through exercise of the over-allotment option. If the underwriters sell more shares than could be covered by exercise
of the over-allotment option and, therefore, have a naked short position, the position can be closed out only by buying shares in the open
market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that after pricing there could be downward
pressure on the price of the shares of our Class 2 common stock in the open market that could adversely affect investors who purchase in
the offering.

 

•  Penalty bids permit the representative to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the shares of our Class 2 common
stock originally sold by that syndicate member are purchased in stabilizing or syndicate covering transactions to cover syndicate short
positions.

These stabilizing transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market
price of our Class 2 common stock or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our Class 2 common stock. As a result, the price
of our Class 2 common stock in the open market may be higher than it would otherwise be in the absence of these transactions. Neither we nor
the underwriters make any representation or prediction as to the effect that the transactions described above may have on the price of our
Class 2 common stock. These transactions may be effected on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise
and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

Passive Market Making
In connection with this offering, underwriters and selling group members may engage in passive market making transactions in our Class 2

common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market in accordance with Rule 103 of Regulation M under the Exchange Act during a period
before the commencement of offers or sales of our Class 2 common stock and extending through the completion of the distribution. A passive
market maker must display its bid at a price not in excess of the highest independent bid of that security. However, if all independent bids are
lowered below the passive market maker’s bid, such bid must then be lowered when specified purchase limits are exceeded.

Lock-Up Agreements
Pursuant to certain “lock-up” agreements, we and our executive officers, directors and our other stockholders, have agreed, subject to

certain exceptions, not to (a) offer, sell, assign, transfer, pledge, contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of, or announce the intention to otherwise
dispose of, or enter into any swap, hedge or similar agreement or arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, the economic consequence of
ownership of, directly or indirectly, (b) make any demand or request or exercise any right with respect to the registration of, or file with the SEC
a registration statement under the Securities Act relating to, or (c) engage in any short selling of, any of our Class 2 common stock or securities
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any of our Class 2 common stock without the prior written consent of Cowen and Company,
LLC, for a period of 180 days after the date of the pricing of the offering.
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This lock-up provision applies to our Class 2 common stock and to securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for our Class
2 common stock. It also applies to our Class 2 common stock owned now or acquired later by the person executing the agreement or for which
the person executing the agreement later acquires the power of disposition. The exceptions permit us, among other things and subject to
restrictions, to: (i) issue our Class 2 common stock as contemplated in the underwriting agreement, (ii) issue our Class 2 common stock or
options pursuant to employee benefit plans, (iii) issue our Class 2 common stock upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants, (iv) make
withholdings with respect to shares of our class 2 common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations pursuant to our equity incentive plans or
arrangements disclosed in this prospectus or (v) file registration statements on Form S-8. The exceptions permit parties to the “lock-up”
agreements, among other things and subject to restrictions, to: (1) make certain gifts, charitable contributions or transfers pursuant to a
domestic relations order, (2) if the party is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other business entity, make transfers to any
stockholders, partners, members of, or owners of similar equity interests in, the party, if such transfer is not for value, (3) if the party is a
corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other business entity, make transfers in connection with the sale or bona fide transfer of all
or substantially all of the party’s capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests or other similar equity interests, as the case may be,
or all or substantially all of the party’s assets, in any such case not undertaken for the purpose of avoiding the restrictions imposed by the “lock-
up” agreement or to another corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other business entity so long as the transferee is an affiliate
and such transfer is not for value, (4) engage in transactions relating to our Class 2 common stock or other securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for our Class 2 common stock acquired in this offering or in open market transactions after completion of this
offering, provided that no such transaction is required to be, or is, publicly announced during the lock-up period; (5) enter, at any time on or
after the date of the underwriting agreement, into any trading plan providing for the sale of our Class 2 common stock by the party, which
trading plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act, provided, however, that such plan does not provide for, or
permit, the sale of any of our Class 2 common stock during the lock-up period and no public announcement or filing is voluntarily made or
required regarding such plan during the lock-up period; (6) transfer to us shares of our Class 2 common stock to satisfy tax withholding
obligations pursuant to our equity incentive plans or arrangements disclosed in this prospectus; (7) if the party is a trust, transfer or distribute
shares of our Class 2 common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our Class 2 common stock to a
trustor or beneficiary of the trust or to the estate of a beneficiary of such trust; (8) transfer shares of our Class 2 common stock to us in
connection with the repurchase of such Class 2 common stock in connection with the termination of the party’s employment with us pursuant to
contractual agreements with us; (9) exercise a stock option, or any other equity-based award, granted under a stock incentive plan or stock
purchase plan described in this prospectus, and receive from us of shares of our Class 2 common stock upon such exercise; (10) transfer
shares of our Class 2 common stock in connection with a merger, consolidation or other similar transactions involving a change of control of us
and approved by our board of directors; (11) transfer shares of our Class 2 common stock pursuant to the underwriting agreement for this
offering; and (12) convert outstanding shares of our Series A Preferred Stock into our Class 2 common stock. In addition, the lock-up provision
will not restrict broker-dealers from engaging in market making and similar activities conducted in the ordinary course of their business.

Cowen and Company, LLC, in its sole discretion, may release our Class 2 common stock and other securities subject to the lock-up
agreements described above in whole or in part at any time. When determining whether to release our Class 2 common stock and other
securities from lock-up agreements, Cowen and Company, LLC will consider, among other factors, the holder’s reasons for requesting the
release, the number of shares for which the release is being requested and market conditions at the time of the request. In the event of such a
release or waiver for one of our directors or
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officers, Cowen and Company, LLC shall provide us with notice of the impending release or waiver at least three business days before the
effective date of such release or waiver and we will announce the impending release or waiver by issuing a press release at least two business
days before the effective date of the release or waiver.

Selling Restrictions

United Kingdom
Each of the underwriters has represented and agreed that:

 
•  it has not made or will not make an offer of the securities to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of section 102B of the

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended), or the FSMA, except to legal entities which are authorized or regulated to operate
in the financial markets or, if not so authorized or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities or otherwise in
circumstances which do not require the publication by us of a prospectus pursuant to the Prospectus Rules of the Financial Services
Authority;

 

•  it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or
inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of FSMA) to persons who have professional experience in
matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005
or in circumstances in which section 21 of FSMA does not apply to us; and

 

•  it has complied with and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the securities in,
from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

European Economic Area
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area, or the EEA, which has implemented the European Prospectus Directive,

each, a Relevant Member State, an offer of shares of our Class 2 common stock may not be made to the public in a Relevant Member State
other than:
 
•  to any legal entity which is a qualified investor, as defined in the European Prospectus Directive;
 

•  to fewer 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the European Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining
the prior consent of the relevant dealer or dealers nominated by us for any such offer, or;

 

•  in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the European Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of shares of our Class 2 common stock shall require us or any underwriter to publish a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3 of the European Prospectus Directive or supplement prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the European Prospectus Directive and each
person who initially acquires any shares or to whom any offer is made will be deemed to have represented, acknowledged and agreed to and
with each of the underwriters and with us that it is a “qualified investor” within the meaning of the law in that Relevant Member State
implementing Article 2(1)(e) of the European Prospectus Directive.

In the case of any shares being offered to a financial intermediary as that term is used in Article 3(2) of the European Prospectus Directive,
each such financial intermediary will be deemed to have represented, acknowledged and agreed that the shares acquired by it in the offer have
not been acquired on a non-discretionary basis on behalf of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, persons in
circumstances which may give rise to an offer or any shares to the public other than their offer or resale in a Relevant Member State to qualified
investors as so defined or in circumstances in which the prior consent of the representative has been obtained to each such proposed offer or
resale.
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For the purposes of this description, the expression an “offer to the public” in relation to the securities in any Relevant Member State
means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the securities to be offered so
as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the securities, as the expression may be varied in that Relevant Member State
by any measure implementing the European Prospectus Directive in that member state, and the expression “European Prospectus Directive’’
means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments hereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant
Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State. The expression 2010 PD Amending
Directive means Directive 2010/73/EU.

Germany
This prospectus has not been prepared in accordance with the requirements for a securities or sales prospectus under the German

Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpapierprospektgesetz), the German Sales Prospectus Act (Verkaufsprospektgesetz), or the German Investment
Act (Investmentgesetz). Neither the German Federal Financial Services Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht
—BaFin) nor any other German authority has been notified of the intention to distribute the shares of our Class 2 common stock in Germany.
Consequently, the shares of our Class 2 common stock may not be distributed in Germany by way of public offering, public advertisement or in
any similar manner and this prospectus and any other document relating to this offering, as well as information or statements contained therein,
may not be supplied to the public in Germany or used in connection with any offer for subscription of the shares of our Class 2 common stock
to the public in Germany or any other means of public marketing. The shares of our Class 2 common stock are being offered and sold in
Germany only to qualified investors which are referred to in Section 3, paragraph 2 no. 1, in connection with Section 2, no. 6, of the German
Securities Prospectus Act, Section 8f paragraph 2 no. 4 of the German Sales Prospectus Act, and in Section 2 paragraph 11 sentence 2 no. 1
of the German Investment Act. This prospectus is strictly for use of the person who has received it. It may not be forwarded to other persons or
published in Germany.

Electronic Offer, Sale and Distribution of Shares
A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the websites maintained by one or more of the underwriters or selling group

members, if any, participating in this offering and one or more of the underwriters participating in this offering may distribute prospectuses
electronically. The representative may agree to allocate a number of shares of our Class 2 common stock to underwriters and selling group
members for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the underwriters and selling group
members that will make internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations. Other than the prospectus in electronic format, the
information on these websites is not part of this prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, has not been
approved or endorsed by us or any underwriter in its capacity as underwriter, and should not be relied upon by investors.

Other Relationships
Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates have provided, and may in the future provide, various investment banking, commercial

banking and other financial services for us and our affiliates for which they have received, and may in the future receive, customary fees.
Cowen and Company, LLC served as the placement agent in connection with our Series A preferred stock financing in February and March
2018. Cowen TR LLC purchased 169,055 shares of our Series A preferred stock during our Series A preferred stock financing. Cowen TR LLC
is an affiliate of Cowen and Company, LLC.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of Class 2 common stock being offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Cooley LLP, Seattle,
Washington. Certain legal matters in connection with this offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP,
New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements included in this Registration Statement and the related consolidated financial statement schedules
included elsewhere in this Registration Statement have been audited by Deloitte LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report appearing herein and elsewhere in this Registration Statement. Such consolidated financial statements and consolidated
financial statement schedules are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and
auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have submitted with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1, including exhibits and schedules, under the Securities Act, with
respect to the shares of Class 2 common stock being offered by this prospectus. This prospectus, which constitutes part of the registration
statement, does not contain all of the information in the registration statement and its exhibits. For further information with respect to us and the
shares of Class 2 common stock offered by this prospectus, we refer you to the registration statement and its exhibits. Statements contained in
this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or any other document referred to are not necessarily complete, and in each instance, we
refer you to the copy of the contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. Each of these statements is qualified in
all respects by this reference.

You can read our SEC filings, including the registration statement, over the internet at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. You may also
read and copy any document we file with the SEC at its public reference facilities at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also
obtain copies of these documents at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 100 F Street, NE, Washington,
D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facilities. You may also
request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing us at 1920 Eastlake Avenue E., Seattle, WA 98102.

Upon the closing of this offering, we will be subject to the information reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
we will file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These reports, proxy statements and other information will be
available for inspection and copying at the public reference room and web site of the SEC referred to above. We also maintain a website at
www.tilray.com, at which, following the closing of this offering, you may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not a
part of this prospectus, and the inclusion of our website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Tilray, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tilray, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the

related consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss, stockholder’s equity (deficit), and cash flows, for each of the two years in
the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits,
we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
 
 

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
March 16, 2018

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
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TILRAY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for per share data)

 

  

As of
December 31,

2016   

As of
December 31,

2017  
Assets   

Current Assets   
Cash  $ 7,531  $ 2,323 
Accounts receivable, net   423   983 
Other receivables   –   1,131 
Inventory   4,103   7,421 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   71   545 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets   12,128   12,403 
   

 
   

 

Other Assets   
Property, plant and equipment, net   19,945   39,985 
Intangible assets, net   822   934 
Deposits and other assets   198   626 

   
 

   
 

Total assets  $ 33,093  $ 53,948 
   

 

   

 

Liabilities   
Current Liabilities   

Accounts payable  $ 757  $ 5,563 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   1,106   2,021 
Accrued obligations under capital lease   –   379 
Current portion of long-term debt   –   9,432 
Privateer Holdings debt facilities   20,126   32,826 

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities   21,989   50,221 
   

 
   

 

Accrued obligations under capital lease   –   8,579 
Long-term debt   8,576   – 

   
 

   
 

Total liabilities  $ 30,565  $ 58,800 
   

 

   

 

Commitments and contingencies   

Stockholder’s equity (deficit)   
Capital stock (1 share authorized, issued and outstanding)  $ –  $ – 
Additional paid-in capital   31,589   31,736 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   3,584   3,866 
Accumulated deficit   (32,645)   (40,454) 

   
 

   
 

Total stockholder’s equity (deficit)   2,528   (4,852) 
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity  $ 33,093  $ 53,948 
   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TILRAY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET LOSS
AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands of U.S. dollars except for per share data)

 

   

Year Ended
December 31,

2016   

Year Ended
December 31,

2017  
Revenue   $ 12,644  $ 20,538 
Cost of sales    9,974   9,161 

    
 

   
 

Gross margin    2,670   11,377 
    

 
   

 

Research and development expenses    1,136   3,171 
Sales and marketing expenses    3,599   7,164 
General and administrative expenses    4,984   8,540 

    
 

   
 

Operating loss    (7,049)   (7,498) 
    

 
   

 

Foreign exchange gain    (186)   (1,363) 
Interest expense    1,019   1,686 
Other (income) expense, net    1   (12) 

    
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (7,883)   (7,809) 
    

 
   

 

Income tax expense (recovery)    –   – 
    

 
   

 

Net loss   $ (7,883)  $ (7,809) 
    

 
   

 

Basic and diluted net loss per share    (7,883)   (7,809) 

Net loss   $ (7,883)  $ (7,809) 
Foreign currency translation gain    418   282 

    
 

   
 

Comprehensive loss   $ (7,465)  $ (7,527) 
    

 

   

 

 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TILRAY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands of U.S. dollars except for per share data)

 

   
Capital
stock    

Additional
paid-in capital   

Accumulated other
comprehensive

income    
Accumulated

deficit   

Total
equity

(deficit)  
Balance at January 1, 2016(1)    –    31,495   $ 3,166   $ (24,762)  $ 9,899 

Contributions    –    –    –    –   – 
Stock-based compensation    –    94    –    –   94 
Foreign currency translation gain    –    –    418    –   418 
Net loss    –    –    –    (7,883)   (7,883) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Balance at December 31, 2016    –    31,589    3,584    (32,645)   2,528 
Contributions    –    8    –    –   8 
Stock-based compensation    –    139    –    –   139 
Foreign currency translation gain    –    –    282    –   282 
Net loss    –    –    –    (7,809)   (7,809) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Balance at December 31, 2017    –   $ 31,736   $ 3,866   $ (40,454)  $(4,852) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

 
(1) Refer to Note 1 to these consolidated financial statements

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

F-5



Table of Contents

TILRAY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands of U.S. dollars except for per share data)

 

   

Year Ended
December 31,

2016   

Year Ended
December 31,

2017  
Operating activities    

Net loss   $ (7,883)  $ (7,809) 
Adjusted for the following items:    

Foreign currency gains    (187)   (1,363) 
Provision for doubtful accounts    9   – 
Inventory write-downs    234   204 
Depreciation and amortization    1,953   1,853 
Stock-based compensation expense    94   139 
Non-cash interest expense    772   693 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    2   11 

Changes in non-cash working capital:    
Accounts receivable    317   (507) 
Other receivable    (1)   (1,187) 
Inventory    693   (3,295) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (8)   (433) 
Accounts payable    122   4,728 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    565   963 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (3,318)   (6,503) 
    

 
   

 

Investing activities    
Decrease (increase) in deposits and other assets    6   (397) 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (488)   (10,910) 
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment    –   23 
Purchases of intangible assets    (543)   (531) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (1,025)   (11,815) 
    

 
   

 

Financing activities    
Advances under Privateer Holdings credit facility    4,406   6,039 
Advances under Privateer Holdings construction facility    –   6,395 
Minimum lease payments under capital lease    –   (199) 
Proceeds from long-term debt    9,062   – 
Payments on long-term debt    (2,190)   – 
Long-term debt financing costs    (359)   – 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    10,919   12,235 
    

 
   

 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash    226   375 
    

 
   

 

Cash    
Increase (decrease) in cash    6,802   (5,208) 

    
 

   
 

Cash, beginning of year    729   7,531 
    

 
   

 

Cash, end of year   $ 7,531   2,323 
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information    
Cash paid for interest   $ 295  $ 1,157 

    

 

   

 

Non-cash financing activities    
Capital lease obligation   $ –  $ 8,958 

    

 

   

 

Non-cash investing activities    
Addition to property, plant and equipment under capital lease   $ –  $ 8,958 

    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TILRAY, INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of U.S. dollars $, except for per share data)

1. Organization and Business
Tilray, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on January 24, 2018 and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Privateer Holdings, Inc.

(“Privateer Holdings”). On January 25, 2018, Privateer Holdings transferred the equity interest in Decatur Holdings, B.V. (“Decatur”) to Tilray,
Inc.

Prior to the incorporation of Decatur on March 8, 2016, the six wholly owned subsidiaries of Privateer Holdings consisted of Tilray Canada,
Ltd., Dorada Ventures, Ltd., Dilidente Development, Ltd., Sapris Capital, Ltd., Gatenhielm Group, CV, and High Park Farms, Ltd. and were
capitalized with a nominal amount for each capital stock. In 2015, Privateer Holdings made capital contributions to Tilray Canada, Ltd. in the
aggregate amount of $31,495. The equity interests of the six wholly owned subsidiaries were transferred to Decatur upon incorporation in 2016.

Subsequent to its formation, Decatur incorporated Tilray Deutschland GmbH, Tilray Portugal Unipessoal, Lda., Pardel Holdings, Lda. and
Tilray Australia New Zealand Pty. Ltd. and dissolved Dilidente Development, Ltd. and Sapris Capital, Ltd.

The transfers of the equity interests described above were between entities under common control and were recorded at their carrying
amounts. The consolidated financial statements of the Company (the “financial statements”) reflect the historical operations of Tilray, Inc.

The principal activities of the Company are the production and sale of medical cannabis as regulated by the Access to Cannabis for
Medical Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”) in Canada. On March 24, 2014, the Company received its license from Health Canada to operate as
a licensed producer of medical cannabis pursuant to the provisions of the ACMPR and the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada).
Subsequently, the Company received a Licensed Dealer designation under Canada’s Narcotic Control Regulations (“NCR”) from Health
Canada, allowing the Company to sell medical cannabis in Canada and export medical cannabis products to other countries in accordance with
applicable laws.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). To the

extent relevant, the financial statements include expense allocations for certain corporate functions historically provided by Privateer Holdings.
The assumptions underlying the financial statements, including the assumptions regarding allocated expenses, reasonably reflect the utilization
of services provided to or the benefit received by the Company during the periods presented. The allocations may not however reflect the
expenses the Company has incurred or will incur as a stand-alone company for the periods presented. Actual costs that may have been
incurred if the Company had been a stand-alone company would depend on a number of factors, including the chosen organizational structure,
which functions were outsourced or performed by employees and strategic decisions made in areas such as treasury, information technology,
financial reporting and oversight.

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as modified by the
Jumpstart Our Business Start-ups Act of 2012, (the “JOBS Act”). Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can
take advantage of
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the extended transition period provided in Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for complying with new or
revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. In other words, an emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain
accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The Company has elected to take advantage of this
extended transition period. As a result of this election, the Company’s financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply
with public company effective dates for such new or revised standards.

Basis of consolidation

These financial statements include the accounts of the following entities wholly owned by the Company:
 
Name of entity  Date of formation   Place of incorporation
Tilray Canada, Ltd.  September 6, 2013   British Columbia, Canada
Dorada Ventures, Ltd.  October 18, 2013   British Columbia, Canada
Dilidente Development, Ltd. (dissolved October 6, 2016)  May 8, 2014   British Columbia, Canada
Sapris Capital, Ltd. (dissolved October 6, 2016)
Gatenhielm Group, CV (dissolved January 25, 2018)  

May 8, 2014
January 2, 2016   

British Columbia, Canada
Netherlands

High Park Farms, Ltd.  February 19, 2016   British Columbia, Canada
Tilray Deutschland GmbH
Tilray Portugal Unipessoal, Lda.
Pardal Holdings, Lda.
Tilray Australia New Zealand Pty. Ltd.  

November 3, 2016
April 5, 2017
April 24, 2017
May 9, 2017   

Germany
Portugal
Portugal
Australia

Decatur was incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands on March 8, 2016 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Privateer Holdings to hold
a 100% ownership interest in the underlying entities included above. These entities are wholly owned by the Company and have been formed
to support the intended operations of the Company and all intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in the financial
statements of the Company.

Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Key estimates in these financial statements include the allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory write-downs, capitalization of
internally developed software costs, estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, valuation allowance on
deferred income tax assets, expected usage rate on customer loyalty awards and fair value of stock options granted under Privateer Holdings’
stock-based compensation plan.

Foreign currency
These financial statements are presented in the United States dollar (“USD”), which is the Company’s reporting currency. Functional

currencies for the entities in these financial statements are their respective local currencies, including the Canadian dollar (“CAD”), Australian
dollar, and the Euro.
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The assets and liabilities of each entity are translated to USD at the exchange rate in effect at December 31, 2017 and 2016. Certain

transactions affecting the stockholder’s equity (deficit) are translated at historical foreign exchange rates. The consolidated statements of net
loss and comprehensive loss and statements of cash flows are translated to USD applying the average foreign exchange rate in effect during
the reporting period. The resulting translation adjustments are included in other comprehensive income.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency applying the foreign exchange
rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using the average foreign exchange rate for the reporting
period. Realized and unrealized foreign currency differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss.

Fair value measurements
The carrying value of the Company’s accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current

liabilities and Privateer Holdings company debt facilities approximate their fair value due to their short-term nature.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

Other receivables
The Company is subject to Canadian harmonized sales tax (“HST”). The amount of HST asset is determined by applying the applicable tax

rate to HST accrued on purchases of materials and services less the amount of goods sold. The net amount of HST recoverable from or
payable to the taxation authority is included within other receivables or accrued expenses and other current liabilities depending on the net
position.

Inventory
Inventory is comprised of raw materials, finished goods and work-in-progress such as pre-harvested cannabis plants and by-products to be

extracted. The costs of growing cannabis including but not limited to labor, utilities, nutrition and irrigation, are capitalized into inventory until the
time of harvest.

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, determined using weighted average cost. Cost includes costs directly related
to manufacturing and distribution of the products. Primary costs include raw materials, packaging, direct labor, overhead, shipping and the
depreciation of manufacturing equipment and production facilities determined at normal capacity. Manufacturing overhead and related
expenses include salaries, wages, employee benefits, utilities, maintenance and property taxes.

Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal and transportation. At the end of each
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reporting period, the Company performs an assessment of inventory obsolescence to measure inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. Factors considered in the determination of obsolescence include slow-moving or non-marketable items.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Assets held under capital leases are capitalized at the

commencement of the lease at the lower of the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease or fair value.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful life of buildings is
20 years and the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment, other than buildings, ranges from three to seven years. Land is not
depreciated. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the asset’s estimated useful life or the remaining lease term. Assets
under capital lease are currently under construction are available for commercial use.

When assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any related
gain or loss is recognized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Significant expenditures, which extend the useful lives
of assets or increase productivity, are capitalized. When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives,
they are accounted for as separate items or components of property, plant and equipment.

Construction in progress includes construction progress payments, deposits, engineering costs, borrowing costs for long-term construction
projects and other costs directly related to the construction of the facilities. Expenditures are capitalized during the construction period and
construction in progress is transferred to the relevant class of property, plant and equipment when the assets are available for use, at which
point the depreciation of the asset commences.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are comprised of internally developed software which is recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Capitalization of

costs incurred in connection with internally developed software commences when both the preliminary project stage is completed and
management has authorized further funding for the project, based on a determination that it is probable the project will be completed and used
to perform the function intended. Capitalization of costs ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially complete and ready
for its intended use. All other costs are expensed as incurred. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over three years. Costs
incurred for enhancements that are expected to result in additional functionalities are capitalized.

The estimated useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Impairment of long-lived assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an

asset may not be recoverable. In order to determine if assets have been impaired, assets are grouped and tested at the lowest level for which
identifiable independent cash flows are available (“asset group”). An impairment loss is recognized when the sum of projected undiscounted
cash flows are less than the carrying value of the asset
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group. The measurement of the impairment loss to be recognized is based on the difference between the fair value and the carrying value of
the asset group. Fair value can be determined using a market approach, income approach or cost approach. The reversal of impairment losses
is prohibited.

Capitalization of interest
Interest incurred relating to the construction or expansion of facilities is capitalized to the construction in progress. The Company ceases

the capitalization of interest when construction activities are substantially completed and the facility is available for commercial use.

Leases
The Company enters into various leases in conducting its business. At the inception of each lease, the Company evaluates the lease

agreement to determine whether the lease is an operating or capital lease. A capital lease is a lease in which 1) ownership of the property
transfers to the lessee by the end of the lease term; 2) the lease contains a bargain purchase option; 3) the lease term is equal to 75% or more
of the economic life of the leased property; or 4) the present value of the minimum lease payment at the inception of the lease term equals or
exceeds 90% of the fair value of the leased property.

An asset and a corresponding liability are established at inception for capital leases. The capital lease assets are included in property, plant
and equipment and the capital lease obligations are included in accrued obligations under capital lease. Operating lease payments are
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Revenue recognition
The Company recognizes revenue as earned when the following four criteria have been met: (i) when persuasive evidence of an

arrangement exists, (ii) the product has been delivered to a customer, (iii) the sales price is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collection is
reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized net of sales incentives, after discounts for the assurance program and veterans coverage program.

Direct-to-patient sales are recognized when the products are shipped to the customers. Bulk sales under wholesale agreements are
recognized based on the shipping terms of the agreements. Export sales under pharmaceutical distribution and pharmacy supply agreements
are recognized when products are delivered to the end customers or patients.

Customer loyalty awards are accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted. A portion of the
consideration received in a transaction that includes the issuance of an award is deferred until the awards are ultimately redeemed. The
allocation of the consideration to the award is based on an evaluation of the award’s estimated fair value at the date of the transaction. The
customer loyalty program was discontinued in September 2017 and all customer loyalty awards expired as at December 31, 2017.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales represents costs directly related to manufacturing and distribution of the Company’s products. Primary costs include raw

materials, packaging, direct labor, overhead, shipping and handling and the depreciation of manufacturing equipment and production facilities.
Manufacturing
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overhead and related expenses include salaries, wages, employee benefits, utilities, maintenance and property taxes. The Company
recognizes the cost of sales as the associated revenues are recognized.

Stock-based compensation
The Company’s employees have historically participated in Privateer Holdings’ equity-based compensation plan. Equity-based

compensation expense has been allocated to these financial statements based on the awards and terms previously granted to Privateer
Holdings’ employees. The Company will continue to participate in Privateer Holdings’ equity-based compensation plan and record equity-based
compensation expense based on the equity-based awards granted to the Company’s employees until its own equity-based compensation plan
is established.

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for stock options on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on
their grant date fair values. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The fair value of Privateer Holdings’ common stock at the date of grant was determined by the Board of Directors of Privateer Holdings
with assistance from third-party valuation specialists. The Company estimates forfeitures at the time of grant and revises these estimates in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

The critical assumptions and estimates used in determining the fair value of stock-based compensation on the grant date are: fair value of
Privateer Holdings’ common shares on the grant date, risk-free interest rate, volatility of comparable company share price, and the expected
term.

Income taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are

determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Management makes an assessment of the
likelihood that the resulting deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positions at the largest amount that is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit by
the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained.
Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which judgment occurs.

Related party transactions
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into related party transactions with Privateer Holdings, including certain debt

facilities and charge for services provided by executives and employees of Privateer Holdings. The related party transactions are measured at
the exchange amounts.

New Accounting Pronouncements not yet adopted
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from

Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), a new standard on revenue recognition. Further, the FASB has issued a number of additional ASUs
regarding the new
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revenue recognition standard. The new standard, as amended, will supersede existing revenue recognition guidance and apply to all entities
that enter into contracts to provide goods or services to customers. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers – Deferral of the Effective Date, which amends ASU 2014-09 to defer the effective date by one year. The new standard is
effective for annual and interim periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. Entities are allowed to use either the full or modified
retrospective approach when transitioning to the ASU. The Company expects to implement the provisions of ASU 2014-09 as of January 1,
2019 and has not yet selected a transition method. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10) – Recognition and Measurement of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. ASU 2016-01 is intended to enhance the reporting model for financial instruments to provide users of
financial statements with more decision-useful information. ASU 2016-01 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018,
and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which supersedes the current accounting for leases and while retaining two
distinct types of leases, finance and operating, (1) requires lessees to record a right of use asset and a related liability for the rights and
obligations associated with a lease, regardless of lease classification, and recognize lease expense in a manner similar to current accounting,
(2) eliminates most real estate specific lease provisions, and, (3) aligns many of the underlying lessor model principles with those in the new
revenue standard. Leases with a term of 12 months or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases today. The
ASU is effective for annual and interim periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Entities are required to use a modified
retrospective approach when transitioning to the ASU for leases that exist as of or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the financial statements. The Company expects to implement the provisions of ASU 2016-02 as of January 1,
2020 The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new standard on its financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify the
accounting for share-based payment transactions, including income tax consequences, classification of awards as either assets or liabilities
and classification on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim
periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Company expects to implement the
provisions of ASU 2016-09 as of January 1, 2018. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments. ASU 2016-13 requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date
based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Adoption of ASU 2016-13 will require financial
institutions and other organizations to use forward-looking information to better formulate their credit loss estimates. In addition, the ASU
amends the accounting for credit losses on available for sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. This
update will be effective for
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fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company
expects to implement the provisions of ASU 2016-13 as of January 1, 2022. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material effect
on the Company’s financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718). ASU 2017-09 is intended to provide
clarity and reduce both (1) diversity in practice and (2) cost and complexity when applying the guidance in Topic 718, Compensation – Stock
Compensation, to a change in the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award. ASU 2017-09 is effective for annual periods, and
interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. The Company expects to
implement the provisions of ASU 2017-09 as of January 1, 2018. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s financial statements.

3. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is comprised of the following items:
 

   
As of

December 31, 2016  
As of

December 31, 2017 
Accounts receivable   $ 431  $ 983 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ (8)  $ – 

    
 

   
 

Total   $ 423  $ 983 
    

 

   

 

As at December 31, 2017, no allowance for doubtful accounts has been recognized as collections are reasonably assured on all
outstanding customer and patient accounts.

The following table outlines the movement for the allowance for doubtful accounts:
 

   

Balance at
beginning of

year    

Change due to
expense and

foreign
exchange    Write-off  

Balance at
end of year 

Year ended December 31, 2017   $ 8   $ –   $ (8)  $ – 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Year ended December 31, 2016   $ –   $ 8   $ –  $ 8 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

4. Inventory

Inventory is comprised of the following items:
 

   

As of
December 31,

2016    

As of
December 31,

2017  
Raw materials   $ 78   $ 163 
Work-in-process – dry cannabis    774    1,396 
Work-in-process – cannabis extracts    680    30 
Finished goods – dry cannabis    2,249    3,501 
Finished goods – cannabis extracts    252    2,158 
Finished goods – accessories    70    173 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 4,103   $ 7,421 
    

 

    

 

Inventory is written down for any obsolescence or when the net realizable value of inventories is less than the carrying value. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded write-downs of $204 (2016 – $234) in cost of sales.
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is comprised of the following:
 

  Land   

Buildings and
leasehold

improvements  

Laboratory
and

manufacturing
equipment   

Office and
computer
equipment  

Assets
under
capital
lease   

Construction
in process   Total  

As of December 31, 2017        
Cost        

Balance, beginning of year  $1,977  $ 18,084  $ 2,224  $ 498  $ –  $ 90  $22,873 
Additions   431   –   66   38   8,971   10,397   19,859 
Additions, acquisitions   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Disposals   –   (3)   (41)   –   –   –   (44) 
Impairment   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Other movements and transfers   –   213   409   –   –   (622)   – 
Foreign currency exchange adjustment   139   1,275   157   35   220   7   1,877 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, end of year   2,547   19,569   2,815   571   9,191   9,872   44,565 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Accumulated depreciation        
Balance, beginning of year   –   2,229   562   135   –   –   2,926 
Depreciation   –   979   364   114   –   –   1,457 
Disposals   –   –   (9)   –   –   –   (9) 
Impairment   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Other movements and transfers   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Foreign currency exchange adjustment   –   156   40   10   –   –   206 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, end of year   –   3,364   957   259   –   –   4,580 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net carrying value, end of year  $2,547  $ 16,205  $ 1,858  $ 312  $9,191  $ 9,872  $39,985 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

As of December 31, 2016        
Cost        

Balance, beginning of year  $1,920  $ 17,512  $ 1,927  $ 395  $ –  $ –  $21,754 
Additions   –   57   240   92   –   90   479 
Disposals   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Impairment   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Other movements and transfers   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Foreign currency exchange adjustment   55   515   57   11   –   –   638 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, end of year   1,975   18,084   2,224   498   –   90   22,871 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Accumulated depreciation        
Balance, beginning of year   –   1,275   254   41   –   –   1,570 
Depreciation   –   920   316   97   –   –   1,333 
Disposals   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Impairment   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Other movements and transfers   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Foreign currency exchange adjustment   –   34   (8)   (3)   –   –   23 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance, end of year   –   2,229   562   135   –   –   2,926 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net carrying value, end of year  $1,975  $ 15,855  $ 1,662  $ 363  $ –  $ 90  $19,945 
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, depreciation on property, plant and equipment was $1,457 (2016 – $1,333). Depreciation expense

included in cost of sales relating to manufacturing equipment and production facilities is $1,303 (2016 – $1,247). Depreciation expense
included in general administrative expenses related to general office space and equipment is $95 (2016 – $92). The remaining depreciation is
included in inventory.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, there is $34 (2016 – $0) of capitalized interest included in construction-in-progress.

6. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are comprised of the following items:

 

   

For year ended
December 31,

2016    

For year ended
December 31,

2017  
Cost     

Balance, beginning of year   $ 1,572   $ 2,152 
Additions    534    509 
Disposals    –    – 
Impairment    –    – 
Other movements and transfers    –    – 
Foreign currency exchange adjustment    46    152 

    
 

    
 

Balance, end of year    2,152    2,813 
    

 
    

 

Accumulated amortization     
Balance, beginning of year    696    1,330 
Amortization    614    455 
Disposals    –    – 
Impairment    –    – 
Other movements and transfers    –    – 
Foreign currency exchange adjustment    20    94 

    
 

    
 

Balance, end of year    1,330    1,879 
    

 
    

 

Net carrying value, end of year   $ 822   $ 934 
    

 

    

 

Intangible assets include internally developed patient portal for online orders. For the year ended December 31, 2017, amortization
expense on intangible assets was $455 (2016 – $614) and is included in general and administrative expenses. The net carrying value of
intangible assets include $381 (2016 – $0) of intangible assets under construction, relating to expenditures incurred to develop additional
functionalities for the patient portal.

The amortization expense for the next five years on intangible assets in use is: 2018 – $307; 2019 – $246; thereafter – $0.
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7. Long-term Debt

Long-term debt is as follows:
 

  

As of
December 31,

2016   

As of
December 31,

2017  
Mortgage payable, due June 2018, annual interest 11.5%  $ 8,909  $ 9,537 
Unamortized deferred financing costs   (333)   (105) 

   
 

   
 

Total  $ 8,576  $ 9,432 
   

 

   

 

In 2014, Tilray Canada, Ltd. entered into two mortgages with a third party maturing in February 2017. In December 2016, Tilray Canada,
Ltd. entered into a new mortgage for an amount of $8,909 ($12,000 CAD) with an annual interest rate of 11.5% maturing in June 2018. At that
time, the outstanding principal and accrued interest on the previous two mortgages were fully repaid.

The current mortgage is secured by a deed of trust on all assets of Tilray Canada, Ltd. and is guaranteed by Privateer Holdings. Under the
terms of the mortgage, Tilray Canada, Ltd. must satisfy certain financial and non-financial covenants. Financial covenants include requirements
to maintain a current ratio of no less than 2 times at any time along with other quarterly revenue and operating expense measures. Tilray
Canada, Ltd. was in compliance with these covenants as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

The carrying value of the mortgage approximates its fair value because the interest rate on the mortgage is equivalent to current market
rates.

The Company incurred deferred financing costs of $353 ($475 CAD), which were recorded as a reduction to the mortgage. Deferred
financing costs are being amortized to interest expense over the repayment terms.

8. Related Party Transactions

The following table outlines the various components of the Privateer Holdings debt facilities which represents the related party balances
outstanding as at December 31, 2017 and 2016:
 

   

As of
December 31,

2016    

As of
December 31,

2017  
Privateer Holdings credit facility   $ 20,016   $ 24,700 
Privateer Holdings construction facility    –    6,395 
Privateer Holdings start-up loans    110    1,731 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 20,126   $ 32,826 
    

 

    

 

Privateer Holdings credit facility

Effective January 1, 2016, Tilray Canada, Ltd. entered into an agreement with Privateer Holdings for a demand revolving credit facility in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $25,000. As at December 31, 2017, the facility bears interest at a floating rate of 2.54%, reset
annually based on the mid-term applicable federal U.S. rate.
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Accrued management fees charged by Privateer Holdings for services performed, including management services, support services,

business development services and research and development services are included in the facility.

Amounts for the provision of management and support services are charged at cost based on the compensation of the respective
employees of Privateer Holdings, which is estimated from the time devoted to the Company. Business development and research and
development services are charged at cost plus a 9% markup. The interest on the management services fee accrues at a floating rate of 2.54%,
reset annually based on the mid-term applicable federal U.S. rate. Total management services charge for the year ended December 31, 2017
was $4,264 (2016 – $1,572) and was included in general and administrative expense. Depending on the nature of the services performed,
these expenses are included within general and administrative expenses, sales and marketing expenses or research and development
expenses.

In 2017, the Company recognized $548 (2016 – $992) in interest expense related to the Privateer Holdings credit facility.

Privateer Holdings construction facility

Effective November 1, 2017, High Park Farms, Ltd. entered into an agreement with Privateer Holdings for a demand revolving construction
facility in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $10,000 to be used for the construction of its facility in Enniskillen, Ontario,
Canada. Beginning January 1, 2018, the facility bears interest at a floating rate of 2.54%, reset annually based on the mid-term applicable
federal U.S. rate.

Effective December 1, 2017, Tilray Canada Ltd. entered into an agreement with Privateer Holdings for a demand construction facility of
$1,000. The proceeds of the facility were to be used to fund capital expenditures for Tilray Canada, Ltd. and its affiliated company, High Park
Farms, Ltd. Beginning

January 1, 2018, the facility bears interest at a floating rate of 2.54%, reset annually based on the mid-term applicable federal U.S. rate.

Privateer Holdings start-up loans

As part of the Company’s strategic initiatives to expand into additional geographic locations, Privateer Holdings provided the Company with
initial working capital funding in the form of non-interest-bearing loans. The advances are repayable upon demand. The outstanding balances
under these loans are:
 

   
At December 31,

2016    
At December 31,

2017  
Tilray Deutschland GmbH   $ –   $ 1,340 
Tilray Portugal Unipessoal, Lda.    –    105 
Other    110    286 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 110   $ 1,731 
    

 

    

 

9. Stock-based Compensation

The Company’s employees participate in the Equity Incentive Plan of Privateer Holdings (the “Plan”). For the year ended December 31,
2017, the total stock-based compensation expense associated with the Plan was $139 (2016 – $94).
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The fair value of each award to employees is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

weighted average assumptions in 2017: expected life of 5.53 years (2016 – 6.05 years), risk-free interest rates of 2.01% (2016 – 1.46%);
expected volatility of 56.32% (2016 – 63.32%) and no dividends during the expected life. Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of
public companies operating in a similar industry to Privateer Holdings. The expected life of the options represents the period of time options are
expected to be outstanding and is estimated considering vesting terms and employees’ historical exercise and post-vesting employment
termination behavior. 25% of the options cliff vest on the first anniversary of the grant date and the remainder vest ratably thereafter over a total
of four years from the date of grant. The vested options expires, if not exercised, 10 years from the date of grant. The risk-free rate is based on
the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Stock option activity under the Plan that is relevant to the Company is as follows:
 

   Options outstanding  

   
Number

of shares    

Weighted-
average

exercise price   

Aggregate
intrinsic

value  
Balance January 1, 2016    310,575   $ 1.73   

Granted    93,800    3.26   
Exercised    (17,872)    0.50   
Forfeited    (79,342)    2.51   
Cancelled    (39,577)    2.61   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance December 31, 2016    267,584    1.99    368 
Granted    115,664    3.36   
Exercised    (581)    3.26   
Forfeited    (9,709)    3.07   
Cancelled    (8,387)    1.15   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance December 31, 2017    364,571   $ 2.41    1,185 
    

 

    

 

    

 

The weighted-average remaining contractual life for options outstanding and options expected to vest as at December 31, 2017 is 7.97
years and 8.67 years, respectively (2016 – 8.35 years and 8.84 years). All outstanding options are expected to vest.

As of December 31, 2017, there were 210,919 options exercisable under the Plan (2016 – 112,951 shares) with a weighted-average
exercise price of $1.88 (2016 – $1.23), aggregate intrinsic value of $796,717 (2016 – $240,895) and a weighted-average remaining contractual
life of 7.46 years (2016 – 7.68 years). The aggregate intrinsic value of the options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 were $1,349 and $51,033. The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2017 on the grant date was $1.79 (2016 – $1.91).
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10. Income Taxes

Loss before income taxes includes the following components:
 

   

Year Ended
December 31,

2016    

Year Ended
December 31,

2017  
Canada   $ (7,883)   $ (7,411) 
Other countries    –    (398) 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ (7,883)   $ (7,809) 
    

 

    

 

The reconciliation of the United States statutory income tax rate of 35% (2016 – 35%) to the effective tax rate is as follows:
 

   

Year Ended
December 31,

2016    

Year Ended
December 31,

2017  
Net loss before income taxes:   $ 7,883   $ 7,809 

    
 

    
 

Expected income tax recovery    (2,797)    (2,733) 
Difference in foreign tax rates    719    675 
Foreign exchange and other    (72)    (480) 
Non-deductible expenses    (40)    61 
Changes in enacted rates    –    (288) 
Utilization of losses no previously recognized    –    (9) 
Change in valuation allowance    2,190    2,774 

    
 

    
 

Income tax expense   $ –   $ – 
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The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax:

 

   

Year Ended
December 31,

2016    

Year Ended
December, 31

2017  
Deferred assets     

Tax loss carryforwards – Canada   $ 5,821   $ 8,297 
Tax loss carryforwards – other foreign    9    148 
Plant, property and equipment    98    183 
Deferred financing costs – 20(1)(e    –    37 
Investment tax credits and related pool balance    57    57 
Other    –    8 

    
 

    
 

Total Deferred tax liabilities    5,985    8,730 
Less valuation allowance    (5,836)    (8,601) 

    
 

    
 

Net deferred tax assets    149    129 
    

 
    

 

Deferred tax liabilities     
Plant, property and equipment    –    – 
Intangible assets    (144)    (129) 
Deferred financing costs – 20(1)(e)    (5)    – 

    
 

    
 

Total deferred tax liabilities    (149)    (129) 
    

 
    

 

Net deferred income taxes   $ –   $ – 
    

 

    

 

The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on the Company generating sufficient taxable income in the years that the temporary
differences become deductible. A valuation allowance has been provided for the portion of the deferred tax assets that the Company
determined is more likely than not to remain unrealized based on estimated future taxable income.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had accumulated tax losses available to offset future years’ federal and provincial taxable income
in Canada of approximately $30,000 (2016 – $23,000). The Canadian non-capital loss carryforwards expire as noted in the table below (in
thousands):
 

December 31,   Amount  
2033   $ 413 
2034    6,972 
2035    8,271 
2036    8,309 
2037    6,763 

    
 

  $30,728 
    

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company has Australian net operating loss carry of $50 (2016 – $0). The loss may be carried forward
indefinitely. The Company has Portuguese net operating loss of $74 (2016 – $0). Portuguese net operating loss carry forwards 5 years and
expire in 2022.

The Company files federal income tax returns in Canada, Germany, and other foreign jurisdictions. The Company has open tax years with
various taxing jurisdictions. These open years contain certain
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matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations, and tax treaties, as they relate to the amount,
timing, or inclusion of revenue and expense.
 

Jurisdiction   Open Years  
Netherlands    2016-2017 
Canada    2013-2017 
Germany    2016-2017 
Australia    2017 
Portugal    2017 

Tilray Canada, Ltd. is currently under examination by the Canada Revenue Agency for the 2014 and 2015 taxation years.

The following table outlines the movements in the valuation allowance:
 

   

Balance at
beginning

of year    

Change due to
expense and

foreign
exchange    Deductions   

Balance at
end of year 

Year ended December 31, 2017   $ 5,836   $ 395   $ 2,370   $ 8,601 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Year ended December 31, 2016   $ 3,647   $ 77   $ 2,112   $ 5,836 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal proceedings

In the normal course of business, the Company may become involved in legal disputes regarding various litigation matters. In the opinion
of management, any potential liabilities resulting from such claims would not have a material effect on the financial statements.

Lease commitments

The Company leases various facilities, under non-cancelable capital and operating leases, which expire at various dates through
September 2020.

Under the terms of the operating lease agreements, the Company is responsible for certain insurance and maintenance expenses. The
Company records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the terms of the underlying leases. Rent expense for 2017 was $175 (2016 – $0).

In 2017, High Park Farms, Ltd. entered into a capital lease to finance its expansion of production operations.
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Aggregate future minimum rental payments under all non-cancelable capital and operating leases are as follows:

 

Years ending December 31,   
Operating

leases    
Capital
leases  

2018   $ 481   $ 772 
2019    841    772 
2020    694    772 
2021    231    772 
2022    –    772 
Thereafter    –    579 

    
 

    
 

  $ 2,247   $4,439 
    

 

    

 

12. Financial instruments

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s accounts receivable. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentration of credit risk consist of cash and accounts receivable.

The Company’s cash is deposited with Canadian credit union and major financial institutions in Australia, Portugal, Germany and the
Netherlands. To date, the Company has not experienced any losses on its cash deposits. Accounts receivable are unsecured and the
Company does not require collateral from its customers.

The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable and provides an allowance for potential credit losses as necessary. As
at December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk related to counterparty performance.

Foreign currency risk
As the Company conducts its business in many areas of the world involving transactions denominated in a variety of currencies, the

Company is exposed to foreign currency risk. A significant portion of the Company’s assets, revenue, and expenses are denominated in the
Canadian dollar. A 10% change in the exchange rates for the Canadian dollar would affect the carrying value of net assets by approximately
$400, with a corresponding impact to accumulated other comprehensive income.

Liquidity risk
The Company’s objective is to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. The Company monitors its cash balances and cash

flows generated from operations to meet its requirements. As at December 31, 2017, the most significant financial liabilities are the Privateer
Holdings debt facilities, long-term debt and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

13. Segment information
Segment reporting is prepared on the same basis that the Company’s chief executive officer, who is the Company’s chief operating

decision maker, manages the business, makes operating decisions
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and assesses performance. Management has determined that the Company operates in one segment: the development and sale of cannabis
products.

Sources of revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
 

   

Year Ended
December, 31,

2016    

Year Ended
December 31,

2017  
Dried Cannabis   $ 11,324   $ 16,260 
Cannabis extracts    1,107    3,965 
Accessories    213    313 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 12,644   $ 20,538 
    

 

    

 

Revenues attributed to a geographic region based on the location of the customer for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were
as follows:
 

   2016    2017  
Canada   $12,644   $19,775 
Other countries    –    763 

    
 

    
 

Total   $12,644   $20,538 
    

 

    

 

Long-lived assets consisting of property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, attributed to geographic regions based on
their physical location as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
 

   2016    2017  
Canada   $19,945   $39,086 
Other countries    –    899 

    
 

    
 

Total   $19,945   $39,985 
    

 

    

 

The Company had no major customers in 2017 or 2016. Major customers are defined as customers that generate greater than 10% of the
Company’s annual revenues.

14. Subsequent events
In February and March 2018, the Company issued 7,794,042 shares of Series A preferred stock at $7.07 ($8.87 CAD) per share in

exchange for cash proceeds of approximately $55,127 ($69,154 CAD) from third-party institutional investors.

In February 2018, the Company entered into a data licensing agreement and a brand licensing agreement with two wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Privateer Holdings.

In February 2018, the Company entered into a corporate services agreement with Privateer Holdings for the provision of certain general
administrative and related corporate services.

Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of March 16, 2018, which is the issuance date of the financial statements.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.
The following table sets forth all costs and expenses, other than underwriting discount, payable by Tilray, Inc. in connection with the sale of

the shares of Class 2 common stock being registered. All amounts shown are estimates except for the Securities and Exchange Commission,
or the SEC, registration fee, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., or FINRA, filing fee and the initial listing fee of the Nasdaq Global
Select Market.
 

   Amount 
SEC registration fee   $         * 
FINRA filing fee            * 
Nasdaq initial listing fee        * 
Legal fees and expenses        * 
Accounting fees and expenses        * 
Printing and engraving expenses        * 
Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses        * 
Miscellaneous expenses        * 

    
 

Total   $     * 
    

 

 
* To be filed by amendment.

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law authorizes a court to award, or a corporation’s board of directors to grant, indemnity

to directors and officers in terms sufficiently broad to permit such indemnification under certain circumstances for liabilities, including
reimbursement for expenses incurred, arising under the Securities Act. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation that will be in
effect upon the closing of this offering provides for indemnification of our directors, officers, employees and other agents to the maximum extent
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, and our amended and restated bylaws that will be in effect upon the closing of this
offering provide for indemnification of our directors, officers, employees and other agents to the maximum extent permitted by the Delaware
General Corporation Law.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and officers, whereby we have agreed to indemnify our directors and
officers to the fullest extent permitted by law, including indemnification against expenses and liabilities incurred in legal proceedings to which
the director or officer was, or is threatened to be made, a party by reason of the fact that such director or officer is or was one of our directors,
officers, employees or agents, provided that such director or officer acted in good faith and in a manner that the director or officer reasonably
believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interest. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving one of our directors or
officers regarding which indemnification is sought, nor is the registrant aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for
indemnification.

We maintain insurance policies that indemnify our directors and officers against various liabilities arising under the Securities Act and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that might be incurred by any director or officer in his or her capacity as such.
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The underwriters are obligated, under certain circumstances, pursuant to the underwriting agreement to be filed as Exhibit 1.1 hereto, to
indemnify us and our officers and directors against liabilities under the Securities Act.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.
The following sets forth information regarding all unregistered securities issued and sold by us since January 1, 2015:

 
(1) In January 2018, we issued an aggregate of 75,000,000 shares of our Class 1 common stock to one accredited investor, Privateer

Holdings, in exchange for the contribution of all of the outstanding equity of Decatur.
 

(2) In February and March 2018, we issued an aggregate of 7,794,042 shares of our Series A preferred stock to 12 accredited investors at a
purchase price of C$8.8727 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of C$69.2 million or approximately $55.1 million.

The offers, sales and issuances of the securities described in paragraphs 1 and 2 above were exempt from registration under Section 4(a)
(2) of the Securities Act (or Regulation D promulgated thereunder) in that the transactions were by an issuer not involving any public offering.

We did not pay or give, directly or indirectly, any commission or other remuneration, including the underwriting discount, in connection with
any of the issuances of securities listed above. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to
acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends
were placed upon the share certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their employment or other
relationship with us or through other access to information provided by the Registrant, to information about it. The sales of these securities
were made without any general solicitation or advertising.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits.

Exhibit Index

 
Exhibit No.  Description of Document

  1.1*   Form of Underwriting Agreement.

  3.1*   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as currently in effect.

  3.2*   Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be effective upon the closing of this offering.

  3.3*   Bylaws, as currently in effect.

  3.4*   Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws to be effective upon the closing of this offering.

  4.1*   Form of Class 2 Common Stock Certificate.

  5.1*   Opinion of Cooley LLP.

10.1*   Investor Rights Agreement by and between Registrant and certain of its stockholders dated February 5, 2018.
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Exhibit No.  Description of Document

10.2*+   Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.3*+
  

Form of Stock Option Agreement, Notice of Exercise and Stock Option Grant Notice under the Amended and Restated
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.4*+   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.5*   Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between the Registrant and its directors and officers.

10.6*+   Employment Terms by and between the Registrant and Brendan Kennedy dated         , 2018.

10.7*   Credit Facility Agreement between Lafitte Ventures, Ltd. and Privateer Holdings, Inc., dated January 1, 2016.

10.8*
  

Clarification of Credit Facility Agreement between Lafitte Ventures, Ltd. and Privateer Holdings, Inc., dated March 5,
2018.

10.9*   Construction Facility Agreement between Privateer Holdings, Inc. and Bouchard Ventures, Ltd., dated November 1, 2017.

10.10*   Corporate Services Terms and Conditions between the Registrant and Privateer Holdings, Inc., dated February 5, 2018.

10.11*
  

Trademark License Terms & Conditions between the Docklight LLC and High Park Cannabis Corp., dated February 13,
2018.

21.1*   Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1*   Consent of Deloitte LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

23.2*   Consent of Cooley LLP (reference is made to Exhibit 5.1).

24.1*   Power of Attorney (reference is made to the signature page hereto).
 
* To be filed by amendment.
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
† Confidential treatment has been requested for certain provisions omitted from this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 406 promulgated under the

Securities Act. The omitted information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.
No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the financial

statements or the notes thereto.

Item 17. Undertakings.
The Registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting agreement certificates in such

denominations and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling
persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the
Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In
the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person of
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the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in
connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling
precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in
the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:
 

 

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as
part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant
to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it
was declared effective.

 

 
(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of

prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Seattle, State of Washington, on the                day of                    , 2018.
 

TILRAY, INC.

 
 

Brendan Kennedy
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Brendan Kennedy as his
or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the full power of substitution, for him in his name, place or stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Registration Statement (including post-effective amendments), and to sign any registration
statement for the same offering covered by this Registration Statement that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) promulgated
under the Securities Act of 1933, and all post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to
all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title   Date

 
Brendan Kennedy   

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)   

 
Mark Castaneda   

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   

   Chairman of the Board of Directors   

   Director   

   Director   

   Director   
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